

Thompson, Rhiannon (2013) *Genetic and functional investigation of FXYD6 and MAP2K7 as risk factors in schizophrenia.* PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/4157/

Copyright and moral rights for this thesis are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This thesis cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the Author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the Author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Glasgow Theses Service http://theses.gla.ac.uk/ theses@gla.ac.uk

Genetic and functional investigation of FXYD6 and MAP2K7 as risk factors in schizophrenia

Thesis submitted by: Rhiannon Thompson BSc (Hons)

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Neuroscience and Psychology College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences University of Glasgow September 2012

Abstract

Schizophrenia is a debilitating psychiatric disorder with a prevalence of around 1% worldwide. It is an extraordinarily complex syndrome, which encompasses multiple psychological domains leading to the impairment of a range of symptoms. These symptoms are categorised as positive symptoms, negative symptoms and cognitive deficits. The profile of cognitive deficits is broad and severe, and is likely to be present in most, if not all patients. Despite cognitive enhancement being recognised as an important treatment target in schizophrenia, the discovery of an effective treatment has been met with difficulty.

The degree of psychosis is subject to numerous genetic and environmental factors. Family, twin and adoption studies show schizophrenia is unequivocally a genetic disorder, however the genetics behind schizophrenia are indisputably complex as it is not characterised by a single causative gene. A number of candidate genes have been implicated in schizophrenia. Recent genetic association studies have found an association for two genes, *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7*, as risk factors in the susceptibility to schizophrenia. However the roles of these genes in the underlying mechanisms of the symptoms of schizophrenia are unknown. To address this I utilise two mouse models, one containing homozygous disruption of *Fxyd6* (*Fxyd6*^{-/-}) and one heterozygous for *Map2k7* (*Map2k7*^{+/-}). I employ a range of molecular and behavioural tests to investigate the roles FXYD6 and MAP2K7 in schizophrenia- like phenotypes in these mice.

FXYD proteins are a family of seven single-span transmembrane proteins, all thought to be regulators of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump in a tissue-specific fashion. Up until now, FXYD6 function and its role in the risk to schizophrenia remain unclear. To address this I firstly investigated the association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a Northern European population using a genetic association study. However from this study I was unable to confirm an allelic or haplotypic association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia. Furthermore there was also no evidence for a role of epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* in the risk of schizophrenia.

A putative functional link for FXYD6 in schizophrenia was explored further using $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice. The *in situ* hybridisation technique was utilised to reveal the expression of Fxyd6 in the mouse brain. Fxyd6 is interestingly expressed in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus, two brain regions associated with schizophrenia and learning and memory. In addition, I have shown for the first time that disruption of *Fxyd6* results in a significant deficit in $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase activity in the forebrain, confirming that FXYD6 is a modulator of mouse brain $Na^{+} K^{+} ATPase$ activity. Anxiety- like behaviours and hyperlocomotion were explored *Fxvd6^{-/-}* mice. However activity in plus maze and open field tests, and response to amphetamine or ketamine was not altered in comparison to wildtype mice. Nonetheless subtle deficits observed in prepulse inhibition suggest potential deficits in neurotransmission in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice may be present. Interestingly, Fxyd6^{-/-} mice displayed deficits in working memory at delays of 5 seconds, indicating cognitive deficits. The molecular characterisation and insight into the phenotype of $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice are encouraging to investigate the role of FXYD6 in underlying mechanisms of schizophrenia-like symptoms further.

MAP2K7 belongs to the family of Map Kinases which have key roles in the regulation of a diverse range of cellular processes such as gene expression, apoptosis and synaptic plasticity. The brain expression of *Map2k7* was previously unknown, however this study utilised the *in situ* hybridisation technique to show expression in regions associated with schizophrenia, including the PFC and the hippocampus.

For the reason that the homozygous disruption of Map2k7 is embryonically lethal, mice heterozygous for the disruption Map2k7 were used to explore the role of MAP2k7 in the susceptibility to schizophrenia. RTqPCR confirmed a modest but significant reduction of Map2k7 in these mice. The heterozygous deletion of Map2k7 results in alteration of glutamate receptor *Grin1* expression, a receptor reported to have altered expression in schizophrenia. Furthermore, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice display cognitive deficits, as observed by increased perseverative responding in the working memory task. Despite not exhibiting deficits in PPI, social behaviours or neurochemical deficits in GABAergic markers, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice revealed altered sensitivity to amphetamine, suggesting alterations in dopaminergic circuitry. In conclusion, this study provides an insight in to the functional roles of FXYD6 and MAP2K7. Although the roles of *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* as risk factors in schizophrenia still requires further elucidation, these results provide evidence of a putative role for both genes in some areas of the underlying neuronal activity associated with schizophrenia-associated symptoms. Furthermore, results from this study suggest both strains of mice are potential rodent models of cognitive impairments.

Table of contents

Chapter 1	. Introduction	1
1.1 Ge	neral Introduction	2
1.2 Ba	ckground	2
1.3 Cli	nical Diagnosis	3
1.3.1	Positive Symptoms	3
1.3.2	Negative Symptoms	3
1.3.3	Cognitive Dysfunction	4
1.4 Tre	eatment	4
1.5 Ne	uropathology of Schizophrenia	5
1.6 Ne	urochemical hypotheses of schizophrenia	6
1.6.1	Dopamine (DA) hypothesis of schizophrenia:	6
1.6.2	GABAergic hypothesis of schizophrenia	9
1.6.3	Serotoninergic hypothesis of schizophrenia	10
1.7 Ris	k factors for Schizophrenia	10
1.8 Ge	netic risk factors	12
1.9 Inv	estigating the genetic basis of schizophrenia	14
1.9.1	Types of variants	14
1.9.2	Linkage disequilibrium (LD)	15
1.9.3	Linkage studies	15
1.9.4	Genetic association studies	16
1.9.5	Genome-wide association studies (GWAS)	17
1.9.6	Candidate gene association studies	17
1.9.7	Candidate gene criteria	17
1.10 An	imal Models of Schizophrenia	18
1.10.1	Pharmacological Models	18
1.10.2	Developmental Models	20
1.10.3	Genetic Models of schizophrenia	21
1.10.4	Behavioural tests	23
1.11 Na	⁺ K ⁺ ATPase pump	24
1.11.1	Structure and isoforms of Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase	26
1.11.2	Modulation of the $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase pump	27
1.11.3	Association between Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase activity and psychiatric	
disorde	rs	28
1.12 FX	YD Family	28
1.12.1	Structure	30
1.12.2	FXYD modulation of Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase	30
1.12.3	FXYD6 and schizophrenia	33
1.13 Mit	cogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades	35
1.13.1	Mammalian MAPK cascades	35
1.13.2	Different classes of mammalian Map kinases	38
1.13.3	MAPKs and schizophrenia	39
1.14 Hy	potheses and Aim	40
Chapter 2	. Materials and Methods	42
2.1 Ma	terials	43
2.2 Ge	netic association study	44
2.2.1	Power Calculation	44
2.2.2	UCL schizophrenia case control samples	44
2.2.3	West of Scotland samples	45
	-	

2.2.4	SNP selection	45
2.2.5	Genotyping quality control	48
2.2.6	Genotyping	48
2.2.7	Haploview	51
2.2.8	Quality Control	51
2.2.9	Case/control association test	51
2.2.10	Linkage Disequilibrium blocks	51
2.2.11	Epistatic interactions with MAP2K7	52
2.3 Moi	use lines	53
2.3.1	Fxyd6 Founder Mice	53
2.3.2	Map2k7 Founder Mice	53
2.3.3	Backcrosses	53
2.4 Ger	notyping	55
2.4.1	DNA extraction	55
2.4.2	Quantification of DNA	55
2.4.3	Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	55
2.5 Na⁺	K ⁺ ATPase activity in <i>Fxyd6</i> mice	60
2.5.1	Preparation of crude plasma membrane	60
2.5.2	Protein quantification	60
2.5.3	$Na^{+} K^{+} ATP$ as a ctivity assay	61
2.6 Cor	firmation of protein expression by western blotting	61
2.6.1	Samples	61
2.6.2	Sample preparation	62
2.6.3	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (-PAGE)	62
2.6.4	Transfer of protein to nitrocellulose	62
2.6.5	Protein detection	62
2.6.6	Protein Visualisation	63
2.7 Ger	ne transcript expression RTq-PCR	64
2.7.1	Total RNA isolation	64
2.7.2	First Strand CDNA Synthesis	64
2.8 Qua	antitative real time reverse transcriptase PCR (RTq-PCR)	64
2.8.1	Primers	64
2.8.2	RTqPCR	65
2.8.3	Gene expression quantification	65
2.9 In s	<i>itu</i> Hybridisation	66
2.9.1	Labelling Oligonucleotide probes	66
2.9.2	Slide preparation and fixation	66
2.9.3	Hybridisation	67
2.9.4	Hybridisation- washing	67
2.9.5	Film Development and analysis	67
2.10 Phe	enotyping	68
2.10.1	Primary phenotype screen	68
2.10.2	Rotorod	71
2.10.3	Plus Maze	71
2.10.4	Open field (OF)	71
2.10.5	Prepulse inhibition	72
2.10.6	Working memory in delayed non-match to sample	74
2.10.7	Sociability	76
2.10.8	Sucrose Preference	77
2.11 Sta	tistical Analysis	77

3.1 Int	roduction
3.2 Hy	pothesis and aim
3.3 Re	sults
3.3.1	Data Quality
3.3.2	Allele Frequencies
3.3.3	Genetic Association
3.3.4	Linkage disequilibrium associate and haplotype association
3.3.5	FXYD6 and MAP2K7 epistasis
3.4 Dis	scussion
3.4.1	SNP criteria and data quality
3.4.2	Allelic and haplotypic association
3.4.3	FXYD6 and MAP2K/ epistasis
3.4.4	Conclusion
Chanter	Malagular characterization of FYVD(
Chapter 4	A MOLECULAR CHARACTERISATION OF FXYD6
4.1 Int	.roduction
4.Z Alf	n
4.3 Ke	Sulls
4.3.1	Expression of Fxydo in the mouse brain
4.3.Z	radius for Exade discussion
	Frude null expression increases Puelb but not Man2k7 and Grin
4.3.3 PNA ov	pression
	Frude null expression does not impact on GLUR2 NR2A and GA
4.3.4 65/67 i	protein expression
435	Impact of <i>Exvd6</i> null expression on Na ⁺ K^+ Δ TPase activity in the
forebra	in and hippocampus
4 4 Dis	scussion
4.4.1	<i>Fxvd6</i> mRNA brain expression
4.4.2	<i>Fxvd6</i> DNA and protein is significantly reduced in mice homozy
for Fxy	d6 disruption
	Fxyd6 null expression increases Pvalb but not Map2k7 and Grin
4.4.3	pression
4.4.3 RNA ex	FXYD6 disruption does not impact on GLUR2, NR2A and GAD 65
4.4.3 RNA ex 4.4.4	ovprossion
4.4.3 RNA ex 4.4.4 protein	expression
4.4.3 RNA ex 4.4.4 protein 4.4.5	FXYD6 modulates Na ^{$+$} K ^{$+$} ATPase pump activity in the forebrain
4.4.3 RNA ex 4.4.4 protein 4.4.5 4.5 Co	FXYD6 modulates Na ^{$+$} K ^{$+$} ATPase pump activity in the forebrain nclusion

 5.2 Hypothesis and aim	
 5.3 Results 5.3.1 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice have a normal primary phenotype 5.3.2 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not differ from Fxyd6^{+/+} in plus maze performance 5.3.3 Fxyd6^{-/-} mouse performance in open field with pharmacological challenges 	. 123
 5.3.1 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice have a normal primary phenotype 5.3.2 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not differ from Fxyd6^{+/+} in plus maze performance in open field with pharmacological challenges	. 124
 5.3.2 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not differ from Fxyd6^{+/+} in plus maze performa 124 5.3.3 Fxyd6^{-/-} mouse performance in open field with pharmacological challenges 	. 124
5.3.3 <i>Fxyd6^{-/-}</i> mouse performance in open field with pharmacological challenges	nce
$E_{2,4}$ Freed ⁽⁷⁾ accurate startle	. 127
5.3.4 FXYUD acoustic startle	132

5.3.5	Fxvd6 ^{-/-} sensorimotor gating
5.3.6	<i>Exvd6^{-/-}</i> mouse sociability and social novelty
537	$Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mouse sucrose preference 134
538	$Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mouse performance in a delayed non-match to sample task
5.5.0	137
5.4 Disc	cussion
5.4.1	Primary phenotype screen 140
5.4.2	Anxiety-related behaviours in <i>Fxyd6^{-/-}</i> mice
5.4.3	Sensorimotor gating in <i>Fxyd6^{-/-}</i> mice
5.4.4	Social interaction and social novelty in <i>Fxyd6^{-/-}</i> mice
5.4.5	Sucrose preference
5.4.6	Working memory
5.4.7	Conclusion
Chanter 6	Molecular and phenotypic characterisation of $Man^{2}k^{7}$
and not on	tial as a mouse model of schizenbronia, like deficits 147
and poten	that as a mouse model of schizophrenia -like deficits. 147
6.1 Intr	oduction
6.2 Aim	and hypothesis 149
6.3 Res	ults 151
6.3.1	Expression of <i>Map2k7</i> in the mouse brain
6.3.2	Evidence for a trend towards reduced Map2k7 RNA expression in
Map2k7	⁷ mice

6.3.2	Evidence for a trend towards reduced Map2k7 RNA expression in	
Map2k7	^{*/} mice	151
6.3.3	Map2k7 ^{+/-} mice have increased Grin1 RNA expression	152
6.3.4	Map2k7 reduced expression does not impact on GLUR2, NR2A an	d
GAD 65.	/67 protein expression	152
6.3.5	Map2k7 ^{+/-} primary phenotype screen	158
6.3.6	<i>Map2k7^{+/-}</i> mice do not differ from <i>Map2k7^{+/+}</i> in plus maze	
perform	nance	158
6.3.7	Map2k7 ^{+/-} mouse performance in open field with amphetamine	
challen	ge	161
6.3.8	Map2k7 ^{+/-} acoustic startle	164
6.3.9	Map2k7 ^{+/-} mouse sensorimotor gating	164
6.3.10	<i>Map2k7</i> ^{+/-} mouse sociability and social novelty	166
6.3.11	Map2k7 ^{+/-} mouse sucrose preference	166
6.3.12	$Map2k7^{+/-}$ mouse performance in delayed non-match to sample.	170
6.4 Dis	cussion	172
6.4.1	Map2k7 is expressed in brain regions associated with schizophrei	nia
	172	
6.4.2	Mice heterozygous for Map2k7 disruption exhibit a trend toward	s
reduced	d <i>Map2k7</i> mRNA	172
6.4.3	A trend towards Map2k7 reduced expression increases Grin1 but	
not Pva	Ilb and Fxyd6 RNA expression	173
6.4.4	The modest reduction of Map2k7 does not impact on GLUR2, NR	2A,
GAD 65	/67, FXYD6 and Na ^{$+$} K ^{$+$} ATPase protein expression	174
6.4.5	Primary phenotype screen	175
6.4.6	Anxiety-related behaviours in <i>Map2k7</i> ^{+/-} mice	175
6.4.7	Sensorimotor gating in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice	177
6.4.8	Social interaction and social novelty in <i>Map2k7</i> ^{+/-} mice	178
6.4.9	Anhedonia	178
6.4.10	Working memory	179
6.5 Cor	nclusion	180

Chapter 7. Discussion		
7.1	FXYD6 as a risk factor in schizophrenia	182
7.2	MAP2K7 as a risk factor in schizophrenia	
7.3	Future work	185
7.4	Conclusions	186
Chapt	ter 8. Reference List	

List of tables

Table 1.1 Summary of FXYD family. Table 1.2 The FXYD family.	.29
tissue- specific ways	. 32
Table 2.1 Routinely used chemicals and their source. Table 2.2 Recipes for routinely used buffers.	.43
Table 2.3 FXYD6 SNP assay information.	.47
Table 2.4 SNP genotypes	.49
Table 2.5 PCR conditions used for SNP genotyping	.49
Table 2.6 PCR master mix components and concentrations optimised for use w primers designed to genotype <i>Fxvd6</i> and <i>Map2k7</i> mice	/ith . 59
Table 2.7 PCR reaction conditions optimised for primers targeted to Fxyd6 and	b
Map2k7	. 59
Table 2.8 Sequences of forward and reverse primers used to target and amplif regions of <i>Fxyd6</i> and <i>Map2k7</i> . Table 2.0 The primer partition of the second the second term of terms of t	y .59
Table 2.9 The primary antibodies and their working dilutions used for western	()
Diotting	.03
western blotting	63
Table 2 11 Gene expression assays were purchased from Applied Biosystems	.05 65
Table 2.12 Primary phenotype screen testing parameters.	.70
Table 3.1 Summary of SNP assays	.83
Table 3.2 Summary of genetic frequency in the sample set	.87
Table 3.3 Summary of control and case genetic frequency in the sample set	.87
Table 3.4 Allelic association analyses in the sample set.	.88
Table 3.5 Haplotypic analyses in the sample set.	.90
Table 3.6 Epistatic interaction p values.	.91
Table.5.1 Summary of primary phenotype screen on Fxyd6 Mice	125
Table 5.2 Fxyd6 ^{-/-} mice do not display abnormal anxiety-related behaviours in	
the elevated plus maze	126
Table 6.1 Summary of primary phenotype screen on Map2k7 mice	159
Table 6.2 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not display abnormal anxiety-related behaviours i	in
the elevated plus maze	160

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 The Na ^{$+$} K ^{$+$} ATPase pump	.25
Figure 1.2 Proposed mechanism of the interaction between FXYD6 and $Na^{+}K^{+}$	
ATPase pump	.34
Figure 1.3 Schematic diagram representing MAPK cascade	.37
Figure 2.1 Tagging SNP positions on a) FXYD6 locus and b) FXYD6 linkage	
disequilibrium plot	46
Figure 2.2 Example of end point read cluster plot and genotype calling	50
Figure 2.2 Example of the point read claster plot and genotype calling	54
Figure 2.4 Swide Constraining DCD primer locations	. J4 57
	. 37
Figure 2.5 Map2k/ Genotyping PCR primer locations	. 58
Figure 2.6 Schematic diagram illustrating plus maze zones and corresponding	
arms	.73
Figure 2.7 Schematic diagram illustrating open field zones in order to analyse	
anxiety levels and locomotor behaviours	.73
Figure 3.1 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs3087563.	. 84
Figure 3.2 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs3168238.	. 84
Figure 3.3 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs3885041	85
Figure 3.4 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs1815774	85
Figure 3.5 Poprosontative allelic discrimination plot for rs/038//5	20. 86
Figure 3.6 Poprosontative allelic discrimination plot for rs407768	00. ۵۵
Figure 2.7 Linkage disequilibrium (LD) in the sample set	.00
Figure 3.7 Linkage disequilibrium (LD) in the sample set	. 09
	400
Figure 4.1 Autoradiographic film showing <i>Fxyd6</i> distribution	102
Figure 4.2 Fxyd6 cDNA relative expression in Fxyd6" mice	105
Figure 4.3 Fxyd6 ⁷⁷ mice display disrupted Fxyd6 RNA and protein expression. 1	107
Figure 4.4 Pvalb RNA relative expression is significantly increased in Fxyd6 ^{-/-}	
mice 1	109
Figure 4.5 Western blotting analysis reveals <i>Fxyd6</i> disruption in <i>Fxyd6</i> ^{-/-} mice	
does not impact on the expression of Glur2, NR2A and GAD 65/67 1	110
Figure 4.6 Confirmation of $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ expression in the plasma membrane	
and impact of <i>Exvd6</i> disruption on Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase pump activity and protein 1	114
Figure 4.7 Representative autoradiographic film and expression levels of $Na^+ K^-$	+
ATDasp	115
	115
Figure 5.1 Exud6 ^{-/-} mice do not exhibit altered locemeter activity responses to	
amphetaming in comparison to Evud6 () mice in the open field test	120
amphetamme in comparison to $rxydo+/+$ mice in the open neta test	129
Figure 5.2 Fxyd6 mice do not snow altered sensitivity to ampnetamine in the	2
open field test	130
Figure 5.3 Fxyd6 do not reveal sensitivity to ketamine in the open field test 1	131
Figure 5.4 <i>Fxyd6</i> ⁷ mice do not display hearing loss but do have prepulse	
inhibition deficits, compared to <i>Fxyd6</i> ^{+/+} mice	133
Figure 5.5 <i>Fxyd6</i> ^{-/-} mice do not have sociability deficits however do not show	
social novelty1	135
Figure 5.6 Fxyd6 ^{-/-} mice also do not show deficits in a model to detect	
anhedonia	136
Figure 5.7 <i>Fxvd6^{-/-}</i> mice have deficits in working memory.	139

Figure 6.1 Autoradiogram images showing Map2k7 mRNA distribution in corona	al
mouse brain sections, as detected by in situ hybridisation	153
Figure 6.2 Map2k7 expression in Map2k7 ^{+/+} and Map2k7 ^{+/-} mouse brain	155
Figure 6.3 Map2k7 ^{+/-} mice have increased GRIN1 mRNA expression	156
Figure 6.4 Western blotting analysis reveals <i>Map2k7</i> heterozygous disruption	
does not impact on the protein expression of GluR2, NR2A, FXYD6, ATP1a1 an	d
GAD 65/67	157
Figure 6.5 Map2k7 ^{+/-} mice do not have altered locomotor activity however	
display decreased thigmotaxis in comparison to Map2k7 ^{+/+} mice	162
Figure 6.6 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice reveal altered sensitivity to amphetamine	163
Figure 6.7 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not display hearing loss or sensorimotor gating	
deficits in comparison to <i>Map2k7</i> ^{+/+} mice	165
Figure 6.8 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not have deficits in sociability or suffer from	
anhedonia	168
Figure 6.9 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not suffer from anhedonia	169
Figure 6.10 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice exhibit an overall deficit in working memory and	
increased perseverative errors in delayed non-match to sample test	171

Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank my supervisors Professor Brian Morris, Professor Judith Pratt and Dr. Catherine Winchester for their invaluable supervision and scientific feedback offered to me throughout my PhD. My time as a PhD student would have been a lot harder without the constant support and encouragement I received during the highs and lows! Thank you! I would also like to thank the BBSRC for the financial support that made this research possible.

A massive thank you goes to all the staff and students in PsyRING, not only for all the scientific input and stimulating discussions, but for creating a fun and relaxed working environment. In particular I would like to thank Graham ('G Dawg') for making work in the office so much fun and for also becoming a good friend. Mark- no matter how much of a bad day I had, you always had a story to make me laugh! Thank you for teaching me so much- your knowledge has been invaluable.

Without all the help from the staff at the BPU my work would have been a lot harder. I would especially like to thank Kevin for his constant advice and help with techniques, and also for his banter which never failed to keep me amused at weekends!

I would like to thank all the students from the West Medical and Davidson Buildings, and the INP for making my time as a PhD student unforgettable. In particular a huge thank you goes to Jenny, Faye and Sam, for their constant advice and friendship- I have so many incredible memories! My achievements would not have been possible without my close friends, especially Annike.

Lastly thank you to my family who have provided me with constant support, encouragement and love- no matter what time I phoned them! In particular my Mum and Dad for always pushing me to reach my goals, no matter how impossible they sometimes seem. Also I would like to thank Kathleen for creating such an easy 'writing up' environment and for being so enthusiastic about my science! The biggest thank you goes to Kev- no matter how tough times got, he always knew how to make it easier. He has spent hours happily listening to the ins and outs of my PhD and never complained when my 'quick' experiments lasted for half a day! Thank you.

Publications

Some of the work contained in this thesis has been published in part:

Winchester CL, Ohzeki H, Vouyiouklis DA, **Thompson R**, Penninger JM, Yamagami K, Norrie JD, Hunter R, Pratt JA, Morris BJ (2012) Converging evidence that sequence variations in the novel candidate gene MAP2K7 (MKK7) are functionally associated with schizophrenia. Human Molecular Genetics 21: 4910-4921

Declaration of originality

I declare that the work presented in this thesis is entirely my own work, unless reference is made to the contribution of others, and has not been submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Signature.....

Rhiannon Thompson

List of abbreviations

5HT	Serotonin
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASST	Attentional set shifting
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
bp	Base pairs
Ca+	Calcium
CAT	Computer axial tomography
CDCA	Common disease, common alleles
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CHIF	Corticosteroid-induced factor
CNS	Central nervous system
CNV	Copy number variant
COMT	Catechol-O-methyl transferase
Ct	Cycle threshold
DA	Dopamine
dB	Decibel
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DISC1	Disrupted in schizophrenia 1
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DSM IV	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders IV
DTMBP1	dystrobrevin-binding protein 1 (dysbindin)
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FPM	Elevated plus maze
EPS	Extrapyramidal side effects
Frk	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
GABA	Gamma-Aminobutyric acid
GAD	Glutamic acid decarboxylase
GAT1	GABA transporter 1
ØDNA	Genomic Deoxyribonucleic acid
GM	Genetically modified
GWAS	Genome wide association study
HRC1	Human Random Control DNA Panel 1
HRP	Horse radish peroxidase
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases 10th revision
in	Intraperitoneal
INK	C. Jun amino-terminal kinase
K ⁺	Potassium
Kb	Kilobase
kDa	Kilo Dalton
ID	l inkage disequilibrium
L SD	Lysergic acid diethylamide
MAF	Minor allele frequency
MAP2K	Mitogen activated protein kinase kinase
MAP3K	Mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
Mb	Megabase
MDMA	Methylenedioxymethamphetamine
mGluR	Metabotropic glutamate receptor
	metaboli opie Statamate i eceptor

Magnetic resonance imaging
Messenger RNA
Sodium
Sodium potassium adenosine triphosphatase
N-methyl-D-aspartic acid
No template control
Phencyclidine
Paraformaldehyde
Protein kinase A
Protein kinase C
Phospolemman
Prepulse inhibition
Parvalbumin
Ribonucleic acid
Quantitative real time reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
Standard error of mean
Stress activated protein kinase
Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Single nucleotide polymorphism
Simple sequence tandem repeats
Δ-9-tetrahydrocannabinol
The University College London

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 General Introduction

Schizophrenia is an extraordinarily complex syndrome, which encompasses multiple psychological domains leading to the impairment of a range of positive symptoms, negative symptoms and cognitive deficits. The schizophrenic phenotype is subject to numerous genetic and environmental factors however the genetics behind schizophrenia are indisputably complex as it is not characterised by a single causative gene. Recently, genetic association studies have found an association for two genes, *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7*, as risk factors in the susceptibility to schizophrenia. However the roles of these genes in the underlying mechanisms of the symptoms of schizophrenia are unknown.

We set out to investigate the roles of these genes in schizophrenia by firstly investigating the association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a Northern European population using a genetic association study. Epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* were also explored within these samples. The functional roles of FXYD6 and MAP2K7 in cognitive and schizophrenia- related molecular pathways and behaviours were further investigated using two separate mouse models; one homozygous for disrupted *Fxyd6* (*Fxyd6*^{-/-}) and one heterozygous for *Map2k7* (*Map2k7*^{+/-}).

1.2 Background

Schizophrenia is a debilitating psychiatric disorder with a prevalence of around 1% worldwide (Andreasen., 2000). It is an extraordinarily complex syndrome, which encompasses multiple psychological domains leading to the impairment of a range of cognitive and emotional functions, such as social interaction and the ability to form close relationships, executive function, imaginative thought, cognition and the expression of emotions (American Psychiatric Association., 2000). The course and outcome of schizophrenia present great variability from patient to patient however symptoms generally begin in late adolescence or early adulthood and usually progress throughout life, with males being at a slightly higher risk compared to females (risk ratio 1.3:1) (Aleman et al., 2003;McGrath et al., 2004). A huge economic burden is associated with

schizophrenia; this was estimated to be £6.7 billion in 2004/05, covering costs for treatment and care, lost productivity from employment, costs to the criminal justice system and benefit payments (Mangalore and Knapp., 2007).

1.3 Clinical Diagnosis

Schizophrenia has been described in the DSM-IV as a "disturbance that lasts for at least 6 months and includes at least 1 month of active phase-symptoms" (American Psychiatric Association., 2000). Due to the vast heterogeneity of schizophrenia, several criterions have been introduced to distinguish between the symptomology of this disorder, allowing standardised clinical diagnosis; criterions are based on both type and duration of symptoms and include the concurrent presence of 2 symptoms from the following list: Delusions, hallucinations, disorganised speech, grossly disorganised or catatonic behaviour and negative symptoms (American Psychiatric Association., 2000). The types of symptoms are as follows:

1.3.1 Positive Symptoms

Positive symptoms are additional to normal experiences and are usually absent in the general population. Positive symptoms can be classified under two dimensions: the "psychotic dimension" which includes hallucinations, the most prevalent being auditory ('hearing voices') and visual, however, frequent occurrences of tactile, gustatory and olfactory delusions are also known to occur and also the "disorganisation dimension" which includes disorganised speech and grossly disorganised or catatonic behaviour (American Psychiatric Association., 2000).

1.3.2Negative Symptoms

Negative symptoms include those that could be seen as a diminution of normal functioning and are largely responsible for the morbidity associated with schizophrenia. Affective flattening (reduced emotional expression), alogia (reduced ability in fluency of thought and speech) and avolition (reduced motivation in goal-directed behaviour) are listed as negative symptoms of schizophrenia. However anhedonia (reduced ability to experience pleasure) and social withdrawal are associated with negative symptoms. These symptoms are

generally the first to arise in schizophrenic patients, followed by cognitive deficits and positive symptoms.

1.3.3 Cognitive Dysfunction

The profile of cognitive deficits is broad and severe, and is likely to be present in most, if not all patients. Marked cognitive deficits can be detected in first episode schizophrenia and include attention deficits, impairments in normal use of language and impairments in memory (Mohamed et al., 1999;Gold et al., 1999;Addington and Addington., 2002). The most prominent cognitive deficits occur in the domains of memory, attention, working memory, executive function, speed of processing, and social cognition (Nuechterlein et al., 2004;Fioravanti et al., 2005). Despite cognitive enhancement being recognised as an important treatment target in schizophrenia, the discovery of an effective treatment has met with difficulty.

1.4 Treatment

There are two main classifications of medication associated with the treatment of schizophrenia; the first generation typical antipsychotics (chlorpromazine, loxapine, haloperidol), and the newer atypical antipsychotics (clozapine, olanzapine, sertindole, asenapine). Administration of early typical antipsychotics at clinically effective doses were found to elicit severe side effects such as seizures, agranulocytosis, and long term administration induced extrapyramidal symptoms (EPS) akin to parkinsonian-like behaviour. The mechanism of action of typical antipsychotics was subsequently found to be inhibition of the DA D_2 receptor (Burt et al., 1976;Creese et al., 1976), inducing undesirable EPS symptoms as the result of attenuated DA transmission in the nigrostriatal pathway (Bunney et al., 1973;Clement-Cormier et al., 1974).

Soon after, atypical antipsychotics were developed and favoured. Positive, negative and some cognitive symptoms were found to respond following treatment with atypical antipsychotics, compared to the treatment of only positive symptoms with typical antipsychotics. Atypical antipsychotics often have a strong affinity for 5-HT receptors as well as the DA D_1 and D_2 receptors

(Leysen et al., 1994; Meller et al., 1985), resulting in low EPS at clinically effective doses (Leucht et al., 1999).

1.5 Neuropathology of Schizophrenia

Though the neuropathology of schizophrenia is somewhat elusive, there is considerable evidence suggesting it is fundamentally a disorder of subtle aberrations of brain development and plasticity. Despite some remaining inconsistencies, which may be a result of factors such as poor controls in early studies, differences in diagnostic criteria and changes caused by long term use of antipsychotics, technologies such as computer axial tomography (CAT) scans and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans have revealed morphological and structural abnormalities in brains of patients with schizophrenia (Sigmundsson et al., 2001;Shenton et al., 1992). Key findings include enlarged lateral and third ventricles, decreased brain size, decreased cortical volume (temporal lobes) and decreased hippocampal volume (Daniel et al., 1991;Degreef et al., 1992;Lawrie and Abukmeil., 1998;Vita et al., 2006;Lawrie et al., 1999;Jeste and Lohr., 1989).

One of the initial studies associating structural abnormalities with schizophrenia was carried out by (Johnstone *et al.*, 1976), who observed a dilation of ventricles in chronic schizophrenics through the implementation of CAT scans. A number of studies have since followed and a comprehensive review estimates an average increase of 40% in ventricular size from MRI studies with a loss of around 3% brain tissue (Lawrie and Abukmeil., 1998) however a correlation has not been found between ventricular size and brain loss (Harrison., 1999).

Early evidence of gliosis (Stevens., 1982), a marker of neural scarring and inflammation, suggested schizophrenia was a neurodegenerative disorder, however subsequent studies failed to support this (Falkai *et al.*, 1999;Roberts *et al.*, 1986). A range of studies further dissociate schizophrenia from a neurodegenerative disorder; the failure to find discrete lesions such as amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles has now led to the prevailing idea of schizophrenia being a neurodevelopmental disorder (Arnold *et al.*, 1998;Falkai *et al.*, 1999;Casanova *et al.*, 1993).

It has been suggested structural abnormalities may be a result from medication. However first-episode patients show ventricular enlargement and cortical volume reduction, and brain pathology in young adults at high risk of developing schizophrenia shows ventricular enlargement and smaller medial temporal lobes (Lawrie *et al.*, 1999;Shihabuddin *et al.*, 1998;Cannon *et al.*, 1993;Szeszko *et al.*, 2003). Following the start of symptoms, abnormalities correlate with disease progression (Ho *et al.*, 2003;Giedd *et al.*, 1999). MRI studies of monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia reveal the affected twin has larger ventricles, smaller cortical size and smaller hippocampal size (McNeil et al., 2000;Thomas et al., 1996;Goldman et al., 2008;Thomann et al., 2009), suggesting ventricle size is not only associated with schizophrenia phenotype, but is also subject to factors other than genetics, such as environmental factors (refer to section 1.7).

1.6 Neurochemical hypotheses of schizophrenia

Prominent aberrations of the neurotransmission systems in brain circuitry have been associated with the aetiology behind schizophrenia. In particular, dopaminergic, glutamatergic and serotoninergic systems have been postulated to contribute to the neurobiology of this disorder.

1.6.1 Dopamine (DA) hypothesis of schizophrenia:

The DA hypothesis is the preeminent hypothesis of schizophrenia; proposing that the dysfunction of the DA system underlies the behavioural and cognitive abnormalities that are associated with this disorder (Howes and Kapur., 2009). Dopaminergic receptors can be categorised into two main subtypes; the D₁-like receptor family (D₁ and D₅ receptors) and the D₂-like receptor family (D₂, D₃, and D₄ receptors). The DA hypothesis originated from correlations between the clinical potency and affinity of antipsychotics for the DA D₂ receptor (Seeman and Lee., 1975;Creese et al., 1976). Studies also found hyperfunction of D₂ receptors (Abi-Dargham et al., 2000) and increased D₂ receptor densities in mesolimbic regions of schizophrenia brains and *post mortem* schizophrenia brains (Abi-Dargham et al., 2000;Seeman., 1987;Cross et al., 1981;Laruelle., 1998). Positive symptoms of schizophrenia can be successfully controlled with D₂ antagonists, however, these typical antipsychotics prove less effective in the treatment of negative and cognitive symptoms (Meltzer and McGurk., 1999;Harvey et al., 2005). This suggests D_2 receptors have a role in the underlying mechanisms of positive but not negative or cognitive symptoms.

 D_1 receptors are the most abundant DA receptors in the neocortex (Meador-Woodruff et al., 1996;Lidow et al., 1991;Hurd et al., 2001), a brain region associated with cognition. It has been hypothesised that abnormalities in the activity of these receptors may be responsible for cognitive deficits associated with schizophrenia. Decreased densities of D_1 receptors have been observed in brains from non-medicated schizophrenia patients (Okubo et al., 1997;Hess et al., 1987). D_1 and D_2 receptors have been shown to have impaired molecular interaction in schizophrenia (Seeman et al., 1989), the reduction in D_1 activity may therefore contribute to hyperfunction of D_2 receptors. Together the abnormal activity of D_1 and D_2 receptors may be responsible for a wide range of schizophrenia symptoms. Thus the DA hypothesis was reformed to encompass both the hyperfunction of D_1 receptors with the onset of negative and cognitive symptoms (Howes and Kapur., 2009).

Supporting the DA hypothesis, it is well known that administration of the DAtransmission enhancer, amphetamine, induces schizophrenic-like behaviour in both healthy volunteers and animals (Breier et al., 1997;Angrist and Gershon., 1970;Bell., 1965;Gambill and Kornetsky., 1976) and many of these behaviours can be reversed via the administration of anti-psychotics clozapine and haloperidol (Arnt., 1995;Warburton et al., 1994). Often genetic animal models of psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia, will be tested with amphetamine in order to investigate impairments to the Dopaminergic circuitry.

Glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia:

The glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia arose primarily from the observation that abuse of 'angel dust' (phencyclidine (PCP)) led to a psychosis similar to that observed in schizophrenia (Allen and Young., 1978). When PCP or ketamine, both NMDA receptor antagonists, are given to healthy subjects, positive symptoms, negative symptoms and cognitive deficits are induced (Adler et al., 1999;Lahti et al., 2001;Bakker and Amini., 1961), whereas administration of PCP to schizophrenia patients exacerbates the symptoms (Lahti et al., 2001;Allen and Young., 1978). The ability of these compounds to transiently reproduce key features of schizophrenia led to the assumption that glutamatergic dysfunction has an underlying role in the onset of some of the symptoms associated with schizophrenia.

Glutamate receptors can be categorised into either ionotropic ligand-gated ion channels or metabotropic G-protein coupled glutamate receptors (mGluRs). The ionotropic glutamate receptors include N-methyl-D-aspartic acid (NMDA), alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA), and kainite receptors, named due to their selective responses to the respective agonists (reviewed by Traynelis *et al.*, 2010).

NMDA receptors are responsible for the mediation of the vast majority of excitatory neurotransmission in the brain, hypofunction of these receptors form the basis of the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia. Three subunits, termed NR1 (GRIN1), NR2 (GRIN2) and NR3 (GRIN3) make up the NMDA receptor, and these subunits and splice variants have been identified and associated with schizophrenia. For example, decreased expression of NMDA subunit splice variant NR2A has been observed in the PFC of schizophrenia brains (Bitanihirwe et al., 2009). In further support of the glutamate hypothesis, clinical studies have found an association between the NR1 subunit and schizophrenia (Georgi *et al.*, 2007;Galehdari., 2009;Qin *et al.*, 2005). This link is further supported by the behavioural characterisation of a mouse model expressing 5% of normal levels of those associated with schizophrenia symptoms, such as elevated motor activity and stereotypy and deficiencies in social and sexual interactions, furthermore, these behaviours are reversed with haloperidol or clozapine (Mohn et al., 1999).

Despite studies focussing mainly on the role of NMDA receptors in schizophrenia, AMPA receptors have also been implicated in the aetiology of schizophrenia. The AMPA receptor subunits are derived from a family of four genes termed gluR1gluR4. Analysis of *post mortem* brains of schizophrenic patients revealed decreased expression of a range of AMPA receptors Glur1 and Glur2 in the medial temporal lobe and prefrontal cortex (PFC) (Eastwood et al., 1995;Beneyto et al., 2007;Mirnics et al., 2000), whilst mouse models haplosufficient for AMPA receptor subunits display behaviours similar to those associated with schizophrenia, some of which are be reversed following antipsychotic administration (Chourbaji et al., 2008; Gray et al., 2009; Wiedholz et al., 2006)

Due to their role in the mediation of molecular correlates of neuroplasticity, such as long-term potentiation, via the modulation of the release and reuptake of synaptic glutamate, it is not surprising that mGluRs have also been implicated in schizophrenia. mGluRs are seven transmembrane domain, G-protein coupled receptors that can be categorised into group I, group and group III subtypes. Group I are responsible for increasing presynaptic glutamate release and consists of mGlur1 and mGlur5, and group II, which is responsible for the inhibition of presynaptic glutamate release, consists of mGlur2 and mGlur3 and group III consist of mGlur4, mGlur6, mGlur7, mGlur8 (reviewed by Traynelis et al., 2010). mGluRs show strong expression in the prefrontal cortex and striatum, two regions associated with schizophrenia. Interestingly, altered immunoreactivity for receptors belonging to both mGluR group I and II have been observed in schizophrenia brains (Gupta et al., 2004; Volk et al., 2010) whilst animal studies and genetic association studies further support a role of mGluRs in schizophrenia (Bolanna et al., 2007; Devon et al., 2001; Moghaddam et al., 1998; Profaci et al., 2011).

1.6.2GABAergic hypothesis of schizophrenia

The role of NMDA receptors in schizophrenia has also led to the implication of GABAergic dysfunction. Excitatory input derived from NMDA receptors acts as a mediator of the inhibitory activity of parvalbumin GABA (γ -amino-butyric acid) interneurons (Kinney et al., 2006). Studies have shown pharmacologically-induced impairments in NMDA receptor activity results in a dose-dependent decrease in the density of neurons immunoreactive for parvalbumin (Kinney et al., 2006;Abekawa et al., 2007). The impact of NMDA dysfunction on parvalbumin neurons is further observed in mice homozygous for the disrupted expression of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit in parvalbumin-positive interneurons, these mice exhibit abnormal gamma oscillations and deficits in working memory and associative learning (Korotkova et al., 2010;Carlen et al., 2011). These studies, in addition to evidence of reduced expression of messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) for *PVALB* in schizophrenia brains (Beasley et al., 2002;Lewis et al., 1999), supports the use of parvalbumin as a marker of

potential molecular aberrations associated with schizophrenia pathophysiology. For this reason, *Pvalb* expression is explored in the molecular characterisation of two potential mouse models of schizophrenia (*Fxyd6* and *Map2k7*) later in these thesis (refer to Chapter 4 & Chapter 6).

Further evidence of GABAergic dysfunction in schizophrenia comes from decreased expression of mRNA for glutamic acid decarboxylase (*GAD*), the enzyme responsible for the conversion of glutamate to GABA (Beasley et al., 2002;Lewis et al., 1999). Furthermore, a decrease in the expression of the GABA transporter 1 (*GAT1*), is also observed in *post mortem* schizophrenia brain (Woo et al., 1998), which may be reflective of decreased GABA transmission due to altered GAD expression.

1.6.3 Serotoninergic hypothesis of schizophrenia

The serotoninergic hypothesis of schizophrenia proposes that hyperfunction of serotonin (5HT) receptors has a role in the symptoms of schizophrenia (Breier., 1995). The induction of psychosis-like symptoms following administration of the potent 5HT agonist D-lysergic acid diethylamide (LSD) (Woolley and Shaw., 1954) lead to the initial suggestion of a role of 5HT in the pathology of schizophrenia. Despite recent positron emission tomography studies failing to find alterations in 5-HT receptor expressions (Trichard et al., 1998;Lewis et al., 1999), evidence of a serotoninergic dysfunction in schizophrenia comes from reports that 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{2A} receptor expressions are increased by up to 80% in the PFC (Lopez-Figueroa et al., 2004; Burnet et al., 1996; Sumiyoshi et al., 1996; Hashimoto et al., 1991) and atypical antipsychotics such as clozapine, olanzapine, and risperidone, have a stronger affinity for the 5-HT_{2a} receptor in comparison to DA D₂ antagonists (Leysen et al., 1994). It has been suggested these antipsychotics may elicit their effects through a DA-5HT interaction and accounts for the reduction in EPS observed in atypical antipsychotics (Meltzer., 1989;Meltzer., 1992;Leysen et al., 1994).

1.7 Risk factors for Schizophrenia

Family, twin and adoption studies show schizophrenia is unequivocally a genetic disorder, with studies estimating around 80% chance of heritability (Riley and

Kendler., 2006;Cardno and Gottesman., 2000;Gottesman et al., 1987). Despite running in families, schizophrenia is also sporadic. In the general population, the risk of developing schizophrenia is 1%, increasing to 2% if a first cousin or sibling has schizophrenia (Gottesman et al., 1987). This risk rises further to 15% in dizygotic twins and reaches 50% in monozygotic twins (Gottesman et al., 1987). Despite a high degree of genetic risk, genetic factors alone do not determine risk to schizophrenia; otherwise a 100% concordance rate would be observed between monozygotic twins. Instead schizophrenia is a multifaceted disorder subject to complex interactions of numerous risk factors.

Factors early on in life, such as intrauterine complications, viral infections during early childhood and/or parental loss all appear to be factors in the development of schizophrenia (Hultman et al., 1999;Dalman et al., 2001;Rantakallio et al., 1997). Environmental factors such as winter births or urban living are also thought to attribute to the risk (Mortensen et al., 1999). The recreational use of illicit substances such as cannabis has also been given much attention.

Studies have shown adolescence abuse of cannabis can result in an increased psychiatric diagnosis later in life incidence of (Arseneault et al., 2002; Andreasson et al., 1987; Arendt et al., 2005). Despite this, the association between cannabis and the development of schizophrenia remains controversial. It has been suggested that cannabis use hastens the development of schizophrenia in individuals predisposed to the disorder, or worsens the course and outcome of the disorder, rather than being a causal factor (Degenhardt et al., 2003). Furthermore, some studies have shown the association between cannabis and schizophrenia can also be influenced by a genetic interaction dependent on the allelic composition of the catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene, however this association has not been observed in all studies (Caspi et al., 2005; Henquet et al., 2009). COMT catabolism is the primary mechanism for catecholamine signal deactivation, such as with DA transmission, and COMT and has been genetically associated with schizophrenia by a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) located in exon 4 at codon 158. This results in a shift of methionine (Met) to valine (Val), resulting in increased enzymatic activity, and therefore decreased DA transmission (Chen et al., 2004; Lotta et al., 1995). Carriers of the *COMT Val*¹⁵⁸/*Met* alleles had shown an increased risk of developing schizophrenia symptoms following cannabis use, unlike carriers homozygous for *met158* alleles (Caspi et al., 2005;Henquet et al., 2009); suggesting a modulating effect of *COMT* on the risk of developing schizophrenia. These studies show that not only is the risk of developing schizophrenia influenced by genetic and environmental risk factors, but it is also potentially susceptible to genetic and environmental interactions.

1.8 Genetic risk factors

The high heritability rate of schizophrenia has led to a search for genes that confer risk. However, the genetic architecture and mode of inheritance of schizophrenia is indisputably complex as it is not characterised by a single causative gene. Risk genes are likely to vary from case to case and models predict individual genes only confer a small risk which is mediated further by genetic and environmental interactions (refer to section 1.7).

It has been thought that in the general population, schizophrenia arose from the accumulation of modest effects from inherited common polymorphisms (the common disease, common alleles model (CDCA model) (Chakravarti., 1999;Gottesman and Shields., 1982). Genome wide association studies (GWAS) and candidate gene association studies have provided some evidence suggesting a role of common variants in the genetic architecture of schizophrenia in unrelated schizophrenia patients, (McClellan et al., 2007;Owen., 2010). Despite these variants being limited in number, these studies along with the increasingly high prevalence rate of schizophrenia and the lack of Mendelian inheritance associated with schizophrenia and linkage studies, has lead to the polygenic CDCA model receiving wide acceptance. However, this model does not explain why mutations are often specific to families, or why schizophrenia, an illness associated with reduced fertility, has not had reduced frequency over a long period of time (McGrath et al., 1999;Nimgaonkar et al., 1997). It is now being argued schizophrenia is likely to derive from rare but highly penetrant highly penetrant mutations (McClellan et al., 2007; Mitchell and Porteous., 2011).

Several features of schizophrenia support the view that it is a 'common disease caused by multiple rare alleles'. For example, mutations are often specific to a

subset of families or an individual. This may explain why only a small fraction of genetic risk factors have been identified and consistently replicated in association and linkage studies (McGrath et al., 1999;Nimgaonkar et al., 1997). These studies assume unaffected individuals sharing the same SNP-defined haplotypes will share common risk variants and present a common phenotype, however rare but highly penetrant mutations causing schizophrenia may vary within the same haplotype block resulting in a lack, or reduced association which could be worsened with high sample numbers (reviewed by McClellan et al., 2007;Mitchell and Porteous., 2011).

The genetic variants are also subject to effects from other genetic and environmental factors (refer to section 1.7). Many processes such as gene regulation, signal transduction and biochemical networks are influenced and regulated by the interaction of multiple genes (Moore., 2003). The modification of a gene's output by the actions of another gene (known as epistatic interactions) results in differences in phenotype and has implications in disease phenotype (Cloninger., 1997;Moore., 2003). Epistatic interactions in combination with influencing risk factors make the identification of putative susceptibility genes in schizophrenia complex and very few methods have been developed to model epistasis.

Epigenetic mechanisms, which regulate chromatin structure and gene expression including deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) methylation and histone modification, without changing the genetic code, have been suggested to be responsible for some of the genetic anomalies associated with schizophrenia (Matrisciano et al., 2012). A recent study conducted in monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia revealed numerous loci demonstrating differences in disease-associated DNA methylation (Dempster et al., 2011) suggesting environmental factors may exert their effects by influencing epigenetic mechanisms. Further support for a role of DNA methylation in modifying schizophrenia risk comes from studies that have observed increased expression of methylation enzymes in GABAergic neurons in the PFC of schizophrenia brains (Veldic et al., 2007;Ruzicka et al., 2007;Matrisciano et al., 2012).

1.9 Investigating the genetic basis of schizophrenia

1.9.1 Types of variants

Different types of DNA variants are associated with the risk of schizophrenia. CNVs are the submicroscopic deletion or duplication of segments of DNA, ranging from kilobases (kb) to megabases (Mb) (Redon et al., 2006;Sebat et al., 2004). Genes present in this segment will therefore have a lower or higher copy number than the standard two copies per genome, and may be present in one, three or more copies. CNVs associated with schizophrenia are not just used as markers but are risk variants. Despite the majority of CNVs not contributing towards an altered phenotype, genome-wide SNP arrays have shown aberrations in CNVs are a risk factor in schizophrenia (Nuechterlein et al., 2004;Fioravanti et al., 2005;Stefansson et al., 2008).

Microsatellites are di-, tri- or tetra- tandem repeats in short sequences of DNA e.g. GTGTGT. They are often referred to as simple sequence tandem repeats (SSTRs) and tend to occur in non-coding DNA. Microsatellites have been useful in associating genes as risk factors of schizophrenia, such as Neuroregulin 1 (Stefansson et al., 2003;Stefansson et al., 2002;Li et al., 2006;Allen et al., 2008).

SNPs are DNA sequence variations occurring when a single nucleotide base is altered at a specific locus between members of the same species. This alteration is usually a substitution of one nucleotide with another, deletions or insertions may occur. In a polymorphic locus, the frequency of the least commonly occurring allele (DNA variant) is termed the minor allele frequency (MAF), and must occur in at least 1% of the population to be classified a SNP. If a suspected DNA variant occurs more frequently in cases than healthy controls, this constitutes evidence of genetic association. SNPs can occur throughout the gene, with the majority occurring within non-coding introns; these SNPs are generally phenotypically silent (silent mutation) however some mutations can result in splice site mutation and lead to errors in intron splicing, protein formation and also the binding of transcription factors. Silent mutations; however mutations in the gene (exons) are termed synonymous mutations; however mutations in exons are often non-synonymous and can result in the alteration of a codon leading to a different amino acid and subsequent protein (missense mutation).

SNPs are thought to occur as often as once every 600 bp (Lander et al., 2001), implying there could be as many as 10 to 30 million potential SNPs. A combination of SNPs with high linkage disequilibrium (LD) are inherited together and is regarded as a haplotype block (Gabriel et al., 2002). Many haplotype blocks can be transmitted through generations with little or no recombination, making it possible to track a mutation (Gabriel et al., 2002).

1.9.2Linkage disequilibrium (LD)

LD also known as gamete phase equilibrium or allelic association, reflects the non-random association of two or more alleles at different loci on the same chromosome (Cardon and Bell., 2001). Identification of a candidate region using LD is dependent on the association between the causal mutation and the marker allele (Cardon and Bell., 2001;Carlson et al., 2004;Li and Li., 2008).

1.9.3 Linkage studies

Linkage studies assess genetic loci in familial- based samples; providing the ability to investigate a trait with different alleles in different families (Cordell and Clayton., 2005). Linkage studies are effective for the detection of small but powerful causative polymorphisms and thereby support the concept that schizophrenia is a common disease with rare but highly penetrant alleles. Many loci have been associated with schizophrenia following linkage studies, however very few of those fulfilled criteria for statistical significance and subsequent studies often failed to repeat positive findings (Jurewicz et al., 2001). Linkage studies found an association between Disrupted-in-Schizophrenia-1 (DISC1) and cognitive disruption and psychosis in a Scottish pedigree (Millar et al., 2001), however, mixed results were found in several independent studies in multiple populations (Millar et al., 2001; Ekelund et al., 2004; Sachs et al., 2005), providing further evidence that schizophrenia is a disorder of rare but highly penetrant alleles. Due to the lack of recombination, linkage studies are a great way of analysing the interaction of environmental and lifestyle factors with genetic risk factors in the induction of a disease, however, they hold less power

than a genetic association study (Cordell and Clayton., 2005). Unlike linkage studies, genetic association studies aim to assess correlations between a genetic polymorphism and a disease phenotype across the whole population.

1.9.4Genetic association studies

Genetic association studies aim to investigate links between DNA variance and the general population, and include genome wide association studies (GWAS) and candidate gene association studies.

Association between a phenotype and a haplotype of SNPs can be determined by identifying and genotyping a SNP which is representative of the whole set of polymorphisms belonging to the haplotype. These SNPs are called 'Tag SNPs'. Haplotype analysis exposed significant associations between dystrobrevin-binding protein 1 (dysbindin or *DTNBP1*) and schizophrenia, but despite further evidence such as reduced *DTNBP1* mRNA expression in frontal brain areas of schizophrenia patients, implicating *DTNBP1* in schizophrenia a single susceptibility marker is yet to be found (Straub et al., 2002). Associations can also exist between markers which do not share the same chromosome, this is called epistatic interaction.

An association study requires the genotyping of many SNPs located throughout the gene to ensure the indirect association is captured. As associations are generally not directly linked to the disease, they can hold low power and can present difficulty in analysis (Cordell and Clayton., 2005). Population stratification can also be a problem in association studies. Common markers for a certain phenotype may be more common in certain populations despite there being no true causal relationship. If present it can be responsible for concealed associations or the generation of false-positive results. Control subjects need to be carefully matched to the cases by ethnicity to avoid population stratification. It may be required to select samples from mixed populations or match geographical location and ethnicity of cases and controls (Cardon and Bell., 2001;Carlson et al., 2004;Cordell and Clayton., 2005) and in complex disorders, such as schizophrenia, the accuracy of diagnostic criteria is important if diagnosis is performed by different medical practitioners.

1.9.5 Genome-wide association studies (GWAS)

GWAS are pivotal in the discovery of genetic components implicated in the susceptibility of disease. With the ability to scan hundreds of thousands of SNPs per sample, GWAS prove to be an efficient process for associating common DNA variations in the population with a phenotype. Since the introduction of GWAS in genetic studies for a range of disorders, over 1 million causative SNPs have now been discovered (szgene.org). A further advantage of GWAS is that no assumption is required about the location or function of a causal SNP prior to the study, providing unbiased results. However, GWAS is an expensive process to run, hindering the quantity of studies performed, also the SNPs have to be present on the chip for them to be genotyped in samples, so the sampling of genetic variation may not be complete. Furthermore, despite the large sample numbers, only a few risk loci have reached statistical significance (reviewed by Mitchell and Porteous., 2011).

1.9.6 Candidate gene association studies

Genetic association studies aim to identify polymorphisms within genes that vary between individuals with different disease states such as schizophrenia cases and healthy controls. Similar to GWAS, candidate gene association studies involve the genotyping of SNPs that are generally not causative but are located in a region inherited with a causative SNP.

1.9.7Candidate gene criteria

Biological evidence is required to identify good candidate genes for genetic association studies. For example, confirmation of the gene's role in pathways associated with the disease, positional information or positive association from a previous association study is often required to consider the gene for a study (Hattersley and McCarthy., 2005). A number of candidate genes have been implicated in schizophrenia, a comprehensive database of these genes can be accessed at SZgene (http://www.szgene.org/). Though many putative susceptibility genes, such as *COMT*, *DISC1* and *Dysbindin*, have been implicated in schizophrenia, biological evidence of their role and association is still required to implicate a gene as a definitive risk factor of schizophrenia.
One of the most extensive and readily available sources of such evidence is provided by rodent models. Almost all mouse genes have orthologs in humans and further genetic manipulation provides an effective model to elucidate the roles and functions of putative candidate genes identified in association studies.

1.10 Animal Models of Schizophrenia

Animal models provide a unique way of analysing and understanding genetic, molecular and environmental influences implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. *In vitro* manipulation of cell biology can elucidate information surrounding the biochemical and molecular interactions involved in schizophrenia, yet it does not take into consideration the complex networks, interactions and potential regulatory and compensatory mechanisms which only an animal model can provide. However, schizophrenia is evidently a divergent multifactoral disorder with a wide range of symptoms and therefore difficulty arises in reaching a coherent animal model.

The generation of an animal model which fully encompasses all symptoms of schizophrenia has been met with failure and as a result, animal models are focussed on one subset of features of schizophrenia. These models will possess a convergence of a variety of domains; behavioural, neurochemical and genetics and allow investigation into the impact of environmental factors and pharmacological interventions. Behavioural tests alone cannot be used to validate an animal model, as phenotypes such as deficits in sensorimotor gating or impaired learning cannot be said to be solely indicative of schizophrenia as they are often present in other psychiatric disorders (Perry et al., 2007;Perry et al., 2001;Bennetto et al., 1996). Therefore it is important animal models are tested for analogy to symptoms of schizophrenia through a variety of molecular, biochemical and behavioural measures. Animal models of schizophrenia have been generated through a number of methods.

1.10.1 Pharmacological Models

Alterations in neurotransmitters and neuropeptides are a major factor in schizophrenia, and attempts to replicate this in an animal model have been made using pharmacological intervention. The use of pharmacological agents to create animal models generally aim to explore the neurotransmission hypotheses of schizophrenia. NMDA receptor antagonists provide a model to explore the glutamatergic hypofunction hypothesis of schizophrenia (reviewed by Morris et al., 2005). In healthy human volunteers, administration of non-competitive NMDA receptor antagonists phencyclidine (PCP, also known as angel dust) or its analogue ketamine induces positive, negative and cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia, whereas administration to schizophrenia patients exacerbates symptoms (Lahti et al., 2001;Malhotra et al., 1997). Animal models of symptoms derived from glutamate dysfunction can be achieved via the administration of PCP or ketamine, and generally result in a phenotype reminiscent of the negative and cognitive symptoms associated with schizophrenia, such as impairments in cognitive flexibility and sensorimotor gating (Egerton et al., 2008;Sams-Dodd., 1996). Administration of ketamine and PCP in rats also reduces glucose utilisation in the PFC (hypofrontality) and network connectivity, providing evidence for a model of not only the symptoms of schizophrenia but also to investigate the underlying mechanisms and neural circuitry of schizophrenia (Cochran et al., 2003; Dawson et al., 2010; Dawson et al., 2011). The effectiveness with which ketamine and PCP models schizophrenia in rodents differs dependent of treatment regime, dose and testing end point. Administration of high doses of PCP results in neurotoxic effects; therefore low doses are generally administered to ensure any effects are reflective of schizophrenic pathology (Egerton et al., 2008).

Another highly documented animal model of schizophrenia is based on the DA hypothesis (refer to 1.6.1); this is replicated in animal models via the administration of amphetamine and amphetamine-like compounds such as 3,4-methylenedioxymethamphetamine (MDMA). Amphetamine and its analogs increase synaptic DA levels through a number of different mechanisms. These compounds act on transporters located in the plasma membrane, including the DA transporter (DAT), serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, 5HT) and norepinephrine transporter. Interaction with the DAT inhibits the reuptake of DA from the synapse into the nerve terminal. Amphetamine also can also induce the release of DA from synaptic vesicles back into the synaptic cleft, further increasing DA levels (reviewed by: (Fleckenstein et al., 2007;McMillen., 1983). Excess DA levels result in increased activation of DA D_1 and D2 receptors, and administration of

amphetamine and its analogs consistently results in behaviour stereotypic of schizophrenia, such as hyperlocomotion and deficits in sensorimotor gating in rodents (Sharp et al., 1987;Tenn et al., 2003;Mansbach et al., 1988;Pijnenburg et al., 1975). Administration of amphetamine and MDMA act as psychostimulants in healthy volunteers and exacerbate psychotic symptoms in schizophrenic patients, even at doses which are sub-psychotic in healthy volunteers, these symptoms are reversed by the administration of antipsychotics (Angrist et al., 1985;Angrist et al., 1980;Angrist and Gershon., 1970;Harris and Batki., 2000)

In addition to animal models based on the glutamate and DA hypotheses of schizophrenia, models also exist based on the 5HT hypothesis (refer to 0). LSD induces sensory distortions, such as hallucinations and euphoria. Despite the mechanisms of action being unclear, LSD is structurally similar to 5HT and has been suggested to exert its actions through the 5HT receptor (5-HT_{2A}) (Titeler et al., 1988;Marek and Aghajanian, 1996). Following administration of LSD to rats, sensorimotor deficits are induced, (Geyer and Braff., 1987;Braff and Geyer., 1990;Farid et al., 2000) however using LSD to model symptoms of schizophrenia in rodents has been met with controversy due to lack of evidence for prominent aberrations in the serotoninergic system in schizophrenia.

1.10.2 Developmental Models

The induction of a lesion via a toxin or an environmental insult at an early stage of development provides valuable animal models of the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia.

Lesion models are useful in evaluating and modelling the long term pathological changes associated with schizophrenia, which pharmacological models may not represent. Lesion models, usually created by the introduction of a toxin during early development, may not reflect the aetiology of schizophrenia. However they provide a model encapsulating the neurodevelopmental and circuitry disruption associated with schizophrenia (Lipska., 2004). A robust lesion model involves neonatal exocitoxic lesions of the rat ventral hippocampus, which results in deficits in spatial alternation learning, recognition memory, locomotor

activity, social interaction and sensitivity to amphetamine (Lipska., 2004;Lipska et al., 1995;Kruger et al., 2012;Wilkinson et al., 1993;Lipska et al., 1995).

The introduction of environmental insults at an early stage of development provides a non-invasive animal model of schizophrenia-related behaviours. Rats are highly social animals, and studies have shown that in social isolation models, where pups are removed from their home cages into an isolated cage following weaning, results in altered neural development and behavioural changes reminiscent to those associated with schizophrenia, such as sensitivity to amphetamine and deficits in sensorimotor gating (Geyer et al., 1993, Wilkinson et al., 1994). However, it must be noted that these effects are strain-specific and can be observed in hooded Listar rats but not Wistar rats (Geyer et al., 1993;Hall et al., 1997; Wilkinson et al., 1994).

The loss of a parent during childhood has been associated with the increased risk of depression and psychosis (Kendler et al., 2002; Morgan et al., 2007). The disruption of usual mother-infant interactions (maternal deprivation model), where a pup is removed from it's mother often for a short period of time (either a single 24 hours episode or brief period of 3-6 hours) results in changes in brain neurobiology such as sensitivity to dopaminergic drugs (Ellenbroek and Cools., 1995; Hall et al., 1999) and behavioural changes associated with psychosis, including deficits in sensorimotor gating and latent inhibition (Geyer and Braff., 1987). For these reasons, animal models of maternal deprivation are often used to investigate the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia.

1.10.3 Genetic Models of schizophrenia

Despite genetic association studies linking numerous genes to the pathology of schizophrenia, biological evidence is still required to explore and confirm the involvement of a candidate gene. Genetic animal models allow characterisation of genes of biological importance that are often implicated in disease-susceptibility and provide several advantages over lesion and pharmacological models, such as exploring gene x environment and gene x drug interactions.

The mouse genome can be altered by several different methods, such as random integration of transgenes or homologous recombination to change the

endogenous gene. Using the 'cre/ loxp system' allows tissue specific knockout or mutation of a gene in response to an external stimulus, and can therefore be induced at a specific time (Nagy., 2000). This is a particularly useful method to investigate the knockout of genes required for embryo development. Genes of interest can also be 'knocked in' and 'knocked out' via the insertion of DNA constructs, such as a 'gene trap vectors', which are accepted into the desired locus through homologous recombination (Evans and Kaufman., 1981). The insertion of a gene trap vector disrupts the gene of interest and will generally result in an inactivated (null) allele. Gene targeting and insertion of DNA constructs are predominately carried out in 129 mice, which are a proven germline competent embryonic stem cell strain, and have an impressive record of success in generation of knockouts (Melton., 1994; Simpson et al., 1997). Embryonic stem cells containing the inserted/recombined DNA locus are injected into mouse blastocysts and transferred into a pseudopregnant surrogate mother, however due to the poor phenotype of 129 mice, litters are often backcrossed onto a mouse strain expressing a more desired behavioural phenotype. The resultant phenotype of a mouse containing a targeted gene disruption is not only derived from the disruption created from the insert, but also from the cumulative effects and interactions elicited from background genes. It is therefore important that experimental mice are fully backcrossed onto one strain to eliminate variations in phenotype resulting from a mixed genetic background.

The background strains must be carefully considered due to variations in areas such as locomotor activity, anxiety and sensorimotor gating (Bouwknecht and Paylor., 2002;Contet et al., 2001;Paulus et al., 1999;Rodgers et al., 2002). For example, 129 mice have a poor phenotype which may make subtle changes difficult to detect, whereas C57BL/6 strain of mouse portray high levels of open field (OF) locomotion and low levels of anxiety-related behaviours. Therefore subtle changes in a mouse model of anxiety would be easier to detect in a C57BL/6 strain, rather than a 129 strain. For this reason C57BL/6 are commonly used for backcrossing (Bouwknecht and Paylor., 2002;Contet et al., 2001;Paulus et al., 1999;Rodgers et al., 2002). In order to characterise a novel genetically modified (GM) mouse, a range of molecular, biochemical and behavioural tests are required.

1.10.4 Behavioural tests

Phenotypes of GM mice derive from the effects of the disrupted gene or overexpressed transgene in pathways and can therefore be influenced by a number of factors such as age, hormones and the background strain, in addition to familiarity to the testing apparatus, level of illumination in testing rooms, odours, housing conditions and motivation (in food restricted animals). The function of a gene cannot be elucidated from a single behavioural test, and in general a battery of tests encompassing a wide range of behaviours are utilised.

The elevated plus maze (EPM) and OF apparatus are designed to test locomotor activity and anxiety levels in the mouse. These paradigms are investigated by exploiting the mouse's innate conflict between their natural tendency to explore and the need to be cautious when exposed to a new environment (Denenberg, 1969). The OF behavioural test is widely used to test the efficacy of anxiolytic treatment or antipsychotics on hyperlocomotor activity.

Deficits in sensorimotor gating often derive from an impaired response to sensory information in the CNS, resulting in the inability to filter important information from 'noise'. It is a complex process involving multiple interactions with multiple neurotransmitters including DA, 5HT and glutamate (Ojima et al., 2004;Quednow et al., 2004;Egerton et al., 2008) and is also thought to involve the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus (Swerdlow et al., 1995; Japha and Koch., 1999). Deficits are a core symptom of schizophrenia and can be investigated in rodent models through prepulse inhibition (PPI) of the startle response. PPI assesses the ability of the nervous system to adapt to a strong sensory stimulus, following a weaker signal. If the startle response is not attenuated in response to a preceding weaker signal, it is likely deficits in sensorimotor manifest (Braff et al., 2001;Powell et al., 2009).

Much attention has been focussed on the cognitive deficits in schizophrenia and a number of paradigms have been designed to assess different forms of cognition and memory in rodents. For example, spatial learning and memory can be tested using the Morris water maze; visual cues are used to help a rat or mouse learn and navigate a route to a hidden platform in a water arena (Morris et al., 2005). Executive function and cognitive flexibility can also be assessed through a rodent version of the Wisconsin Card Sorting Task. The rodent attentional set shifting task (ASST) requires rodents to solve a series of discriminations containing an intra-dimensional to an extra-dimensional shift (Birrell and Brown. 2000). Tasks such as the 'n-back task' or 'delayed non-match to sample' have been designed to assess working memory, which requires synchrony between the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus (Sigurdsson *et al.*, 2010;Yoon *et al.*, 2008). During these tasks, rodents manipulate short term memory in order to reach a goal or reward, and involve delayed alteration in either a T maze or 8-arm radial maze.

1.11 Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump

The sodium potassium adenosine triphospatase (Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase) pump Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump is an integral membrane-bound enzyme present in the plasma membrane of all mammalian cells. It belongs to a family of P-type ATPases that includes the gastric H^+ K^+ ATPase and the Ca²⁺ ATPase (Lutsenko and Kaplan., 1995). The Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump is essential for the normal functioning of all excitable tissues by establishing and maintaining resting membrane potential following depolarisation, it is therefore imperative in neuronal functioning (Moseley et al., 2003). The pump maintains low internal sodium (Na⁺) and high internal potassium (K^{+}) cellular concentrations through the active transport of 3 Na^{\dagger} ions out of the cell in exchange for 2 K^{\dagger} ions moving in (Figure 1.1), and is of paramount importance for establishing and maintaining resting membrane potential and cellular volume (Blanco and Mercer., 1998). This process requires free energy released from the hydrolysis of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to adenosine diphosphate (ADP); the release of inorganic phosphate from this reaction is often used as a marker of pump activity (Sarkar, 2002; Esmann, 1988). The activity of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump consumes approximately 30% of total energy in the body, whilst high expression in the brain consumes about 40-50% of brain ATP (Erecinska et al., 2004).



Figure 1.1 The Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump creates an electrochemical gradient across cell membranes by maintaining low internal Na⁺ and high internal K⁺ cellular concentrations. This is an active process involving the following steps:

1. In conformation E1, the pump has a high affinity for sodium. Three sodium ions bind to the pump from the cytoplasmic side of the phospholipid bilayer membrane, which has a low sodium (Na^+) concentration and a high potassium (K^+) concentration.

2. ATP phosphorylates the enzyme (represented by the P attached to the cytoplasmic side of the pump). This results in a change in pump conformation from E1 to E2, reducing the pumps affinity for sodium. The three sodium ion are released.

3. Two potassium ions enter and bind to the pump in the E2 conformation.

4. The pump becomes dephosphorylated, returning to conformation E1 and in the process transporting and releasing the potassium ions into the cell. The pump is ready to start again.

1.11.1 Structure and isoforms of $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$

The Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump is a heterodimer comprising of two essential subunits; the catalytic α subunit which is responsible for ATP hydrolysation and Na⁺ and K⁺ transportation, and the regulatory β subunit required for protein folding and modulation of substrate affinity (Blanco and Mercer., 1998). Very little is known about the specific roles of the α/β heterodimers.

The α subunit is a multi-spanning membrane protein, with a molecular mass of about 112 kilo Dalton (kDa), and contains binding sites for ATP and the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump-specific inhibitor, ouabain (Jorgensen et al., 2003; Pedemonte and Kaplan, 1990). Four α isoforms exist (α 1, α 2, α 3, α 4) and three are abundant in the brain (α 1, α 2, α 3) (Blanco and Mercer., 1998;Urayama et al., 1989;Lingrel et al., 2007;Orlowski and Lingrel., 1988). All four isoforms have a high degree of amino acid identity, however studies have shown isoforms differ in the kinetic properties and affinities for sodium, with $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ showing the most similarity (Jewell and Lingrel., 1991;Segall et al., 2001). The α isoforms are responsible for the tissue specific mechanisms of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump (Lingrel et al., 2007). The $\alpha 1$ subunit is present in neurons and glia and is thought to be essential for neurodevelopment as mice lacking $\alpha 1$ die at embryonic stage (Moseley et al., 2007; Lingrel et al., 2003). The α 2 isoform is found mainly in skeletal muscle, heart and brain, and may be involved in the regulation of the $Na^+/calcium$ (Ca^+) exchanger, whilst α 3 is found in neurons of the brain and central nervous system (CNS), and plays a role in neurotransmission (Moseley et al., 2007; James et al., 1999;Lingrel et al., 2003;McGrail et al., 1991).

The glycosylated B-subunit is 40-60 kDa in size and only crosses the membrane once. It is responsible for the normal activity of the membrane by maturation of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump and the transportation to the plasma membrane and (Lingrel et al., 2007;Noguchi et al., 1990;Geering et al., 1985). Moreover, the B-subunit modulates the pump's affinity for sodium and potassium (Eakle et al., 1994;Jaisser et al., 1992). Without the B subunit, the α subunit is unable to adopt the conformation of the mature proteins and is quickly degraded (Geering et al., 1985). Three isoforms of the B subunit exist and they are all glycosylated

(B1, B2, B3) (Orlowski and Lingrel., 1988;Martin-Vasallo et al., 1989). The B1 isoform is ubiquitous (in almost all tissues), whilst B2 is expressed in skeletal muscle and nervous tissues and B3 in the testis, retina, liver and lung (Lingrel., 1992).

A third, non-obligatory, small protein of around 6.5 kDa has also been identified. The γ subunit is thought to not be essential for Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase normal functioning however does have a regulatory role through the modulation of the α/β complexes (Mercer et al., 1993;Beguin et al., 1997;Therien et al., 1997). The γ subunit belongs to a family of small membrane proteins, the FXYD family (proline-phenylalanine-X-tyrosine-aspartate (PFXYD) refer to 1.12) (Sweadner and Rael., 2000;Crambert and Geering., 2003;Garty et al., 2002).

1.11.2 Modulation of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump

The exact mechanisms involved in the regulation and facilitation of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump remain largely unknown, however it is thought to be prominently maintained via the control of phosphorylation, after which a conformational transition occurs ($E_1 \rightarrow E_2$). The main rate-limiting step of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase comes from the modulation of the conformational change of the phosphorylated enzyme from $E_1 \rightarrow E_2$, and the conformational transition of the unphosphorylated enzyme from $E_2 \rightarrow E_1$ (Lupfert et al., 2001; Jorgensen and Andersen., 1988) (Figure 1.1). The γ subunit and other members of the FXYD family are not essential for the functioning of the $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase pump; however have a role in the modulation of its activity (Beguin et al., 2001;Bibert et al., 2008;Crambert et al., 2005; Delprat et al., 2007). With the exception of the γ subunit (FXYD2), FXYD proteins do not form an integral part of the $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase pump, and therefore interaction and modulation must take place at the molecular level. It is thought the pump is regulated via the interaction of FXYD protein and the α/β heterodimer; however the specific interactions remain elusive. Beguin et al., (1997) have shown the γ subunit modulates the K⁺ activation of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump by associating with α/β heterodimers.

1.11.3 Association between Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity and psychiatric disorders

Reduced Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity has been observed in various disorders affecting the brain (Ischemia, epilepsy, depression and bipolar disorder) (Looney and El-Mallakh., 1997;Mintorovitch et al., 1994;Renkawek et al., 1992). Ouabaininduced inhibition of the pump in rats has been shown to result in increased spontaneous locomotor activity and reduced spatial learning in the rat which may model some aspects of symptoms associated schizophrenia and similar disorders (El-Mallakh et al., 2003;Riegel et al., 2009;Zhan et al., 2004). However, despite studies suggesting that Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity modulates neurotransmission of DA, GABA, norepinephrine and glutamate (Levi et al., 1976;Rose et al., 2009;Westerink et al., 1989), little is known about the exact functioning of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase in these disorders and further investigations are required to elucidate information about the role of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase in psychiatric disorders.

1.12 FXYD Family

FXYD proteins are a family of single-span transmembrane proteins. So far, a total of 7 FXYD proteins have been identified at the mammalian level, all of which contribute to a variety of apparently unrelated physiological processes (summarised in Table 1.1). They are, however, all known to interact with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump in a tissue-specific fashion, altering the kinetics of the pump to meet specific tissue requirements (Crambert and Geering., 2003;Geering., 2006;Li et al., 2004;Cornelius and Mahmmoud., 2003;Geering et al., 2003;Therien et al., 1997). The most highly characterised FXYD protein is the γ subunit of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump (FXYD2) (Bibert et al., 2008;Crambert et al., 2002;Lifshitz et al., 2006). FXYD2 is expressed in the kidney and is thought to regulate electrolyte homeostasis (Crambert and Geering., 2003;Goldschmidt et al., 2004;Shustin et al., 1998). Protein expression and physiological roles of the FXYD family are summarised in Table 1.1.

Protein	Gene	Protein expression	Physiological role	References
Phospholemman (PLM)	FXYD1	Heart, brain, kidney	Substrate for proteinase A and C , suspected role in heart contractility	Sweadner and Rael, 2000;Crambert et al., 2002;Moshitzky et al., 2012;Chen et al., 1997
The γ subunit of the Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase pump	FXYD2	Kidney	Regulatory role in α/β complex activity and electrolyte homeostasis	Beguin et al., 2001;Bibert et al., 2008; Crambert et al., 2005;Delprat et al., 2007
Mat-8	FXYD3	Stomach, colon, cancer cells	Role in tumorogenesis	Bibert et al., 2009;Arimochi et al., 2007; Kayed et al., 2006
CHIF	FXYD4	Kidney, colon	regulatory role in electrolyte homeostasis through mediating sodium absorption	Shustin et al., 1998;Goldschmidt et al., 2004
RIC, dysadherin	FXYD5	Kidney, intestine, heart, lung, spleen	Regulates E-cadherin, promotes metastasis	Lubarski et al., 2005;Ino et al., 2002
Phosphohippolin	FXYD6	CNS, brain, inner ear	Endolymph homestasis, role in brain currently unknown	Delprat et al., 2007a;Delprat et al., 2007b; Kadowaki et al., 2004
	FXYD7	Brain, cerebellum	Suscepted role in neuronal excitability	Beguin et al., 2002;Crambert et al., 2003

Table 1.1 Summary of *FXYD* family. FXYD proteins all modulate the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump in a tissue-specific manner.

1.12.1 Structure

The FXYD family consists of small hydrophobic proteins. Each protein has an extracellular NH₂ terminus and contains a marked homology in a 35 amino acid sequence located in the transmembrane domain, this sequence is made up of 3 exons and contains 7 invariant amino acids located within, and surrounding, the membrane span (Sweadner and Rael., 2000). With the exception of the 35 amino acid stretch, the structure of FXYD proteins has not been well conserved, around 11 % of the amino acids of phospholemman (PLM) and (corticosteroid-induced factor) CHIF vary between the rat and mouse sequence (Garty and Karlish., 2006). The short sequence proline-phenylalanine-X-tyrosine-aspartate (PFXYD) gives rise to the motif and is invariant among the proteins. It has been suggested that it is likely these residues are involved in a function common to FXYD proteins, such as interaction with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump (Beguin et al., 2001). FXYD proteins are modulatory proteins of the $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase pump, with the exception of PLM activity which has been shown to be modulated by protein kinase (PK) A (PKA)- and PK C (PKC)- dependent phosphorylation (Mahmmoud et al., 2000; Fuller et al., 2004).

1.12.2 FXYD modulation of $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$

Association between FXYD proteins and the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase was first noted in 1978 when a short polypeptide (later to be identified as the γ subunit) was characterised and shown to be directly associated with the renal Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase (Forbush et al., 1978;Collins and Leszyk., 1987). Further studies confirmed coimmunoprecipitation and co-purification of the γ subunit with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase (Mercer et al., 1993;Arystarkhova et al., 2002). Studies investigating the functional relationship between the γ subunit and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase have shown the pump is modulated by a change in confirmation of the enzyme from E₂ to E₁, increasing the affinity for ATP and increasing K⁺ antagonism of cytoplasmic Na⁺ activation (Beguin et al., 1997;Pu et al., 2002;Therien et al., 1999).

More recently, the functional relationship between the FXYD proteins and the $Na^{+} K^{+}$ ATPase pump has shown to be a non-essential association between FXYD

and the α/β complex (Cornelius and Mahmmoud., 2003;Crambert and Geering., 2003;Therien et al., 1997;Crambert et al., 2005;Geering et al., 2003). FXYD proteins associate with the α/β complex, inducing changes in K⁺ and Na⁺ apparent affinity. The modulation of pump kinetics differs depending on the FXYD protein and the α/β complex with which it associates. This suggests FXYD proteins modulate the kinetics of the pump specific to each tissue requirement (Table 1.2, Crambert and Geering., 2003;Geering., 2006;Li et al., 2004;Cornelius and Mahmmoud., 2003;Geering et al., 2003;Therien et al., 1997).

Protein	Gene	Role in Na ^{$+$} K ^{$+$} ATPase pump kinetics	References
Phospholemman (PLM)	FXYD1	Increases Na ⁺ binding affinity by 30- 50%,	Crambert et al., 2002;Cirri et al., 2011
	FXYD2	Reduces apparent Na * affinity, increases K * affinity during hyperpolarisation, however	Cirri et al., 2011;Li et al., 2004;
The γ subunit of the		decreases K+ affinity in high levels of Na * , it also increases ATP affinity	Pu et al., 2002
$Na^{+} K^{+} ATPase pump$			
	FXYD3	Decreases apparent affinity for both Na * and K *	Crambert et al., 2005
Mat-8			
	FXYD4	Induces a two- to threefold increase in apparent affinity for Na ⁺ but does not affect affinity	Garty et al., 2002
		for K ⁺	
CHIF	FXYD5	Increases the apparent affinity for Na $^+$ 2-fold, and decreased the apparent affinity for K $^+$ by 60%	Miller and Davis, 2008
	FXYD6	Association of FXYD6 with Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase $\alpha 1/\beta 1$ slightly decreases the apparent K ⁺ affinity and	Delprat et al., 2007
RIC, dysadherin		significantly decreases the apparent Na * affinity. Association with the $lpha 1/eta 2$ heterodimer	
		increases their apparent K^{\star} and Na * affinity.	
Phosphohippolin	FXYD7	Association with Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase increases K ⁺ affinity of $\alpha 1/\beta 1$ and $\alpha 2/\beta 1$, but not of $\alpha 3/\beta 1$ heterodimers	Beguin et al., 2002

Table 1.2 The *FXYD* family each modulate the kinetics of the $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$ in tissue- specific ways

1.12.3 FXYD6 and schizophrenia

A number of SNPs within the *FXYD6* gene have been shown to be associated with schizophrenia in a Caucasian population, implicated this as a risk factor for schizophrenia (Choudhury *et al.*, 2006;Choudhury *et al.*, 2007). Despite the inability to confirm this association in Japanese and Chinese populations, several forms of evidence suggest a role for *FXYD6* in the susceptibility to schizophrenia. *FXYD6* is located on chromosome 11q23.3, a chromosomal region which has been previously linked with both schizophrenia and bipolar disorder (Grandy *et al.*, 1989;Egeland *et al.*, 1987). Furthermore, *in situ* hybridization and western blotting have both reveal the expression of FXYD6 in regions of the brain associated with schizophrenia, in particular the PFC and hippocampus (Kadowaki *et al.*, 2004). The PFC and hippocampus both have several roles in memory and cognition; they also share pathways to regulate working memory. It is therefore possible that impairments in *FXYD6* may result in symptoms similar to schizophrenia, such as deficits in working memory.

As of yet, FXYD6 has not been fully characterized, however, it has been revealed to co-localise, and associate, with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump in the inner ear, suggesting it has a role in the modulation of the pump (Delprat et al., 2007). This demonstrates a theorized mechanism of action by which FXYD6 and the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump interact, based on the interaction of other FXYD members with this pump (Figure 1.2) (Geering., 2006). It is possible that aberrations in *FXYD6* may induce impairments in Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity. Impairments in Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity have been previously associated with psychiatric disorders (El-Mallakh and Wyatt., 1995;Kurup and Kurup., 2003;Looney and El-Mallakh., 1997) and it would therefore be interesting to investigate further a role of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase in schizophrenia. A mouse model expressing homozygous disruption of *Fxyd6* has been created, however it has yet to be characterised and assessed for biochemical, molecular and phenotypic similarities to schizophrenia.





Despite FXYD6 showing co-localisation and association with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump in the inner ear, the functional relationship between FXYD6 and the pump is currently unclear. It has been suggested the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump is modulated by a non-essential association between FXYD proteins and the α/β complex, inducing changes in K⁺ and Na⁺ apparent affinity (Cornelius and Mahmmoud, 2003;Crambert and Geering, 2003;Therien et al., 1997;Crambert et al., 2005;Geering et al., 2003). \leftarrow Represents the potential association between FXYD6 and the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump.

1.13 Mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascades

MAPKs are serine/threonine specific protein kinases that respond to extracellular stimuli. They form part of the MAPK cascade; an evolutionarily conserved signal transduction cascade, responsible for the mediation of adaption and survival of eukaryotic cells' in response to physical and chemical stress triggers (Johnson and Lapadat., 2002;Robinson and Cobb., 1997). Despite the majority of information on MAPK cascades deriving from yeast studies, more information is now becoming elucidated on the role of mammalian MAPKs. An important role of the MAPK cascades in the regulation of a diverse range of cellular processes such as gene expression, growth factors and hormones and cell survival/ apoptosis is apparent.

MAPK cascades typically consist of a three kinase model that is activated through the sequential phosphorylation of MAPK by MAPK-kinases (MAP2Ks) (also known as MAPK/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-kinases (MEKs), which are phosphorylated and activated by MAPKK-kinases (MAP3Ks) (Figure 1.3) (English et al., 1999). A number of distinct, but not mutually exclusive, mechanisms ensures specific MAPK activation in response to diverse cellular processes and extracellular stimuli (reviewed by (Johnson and Lapadat., 2002;Cobb and Goldsmith., 1995).

1.13.1 Mammalian MAPK cascades

In the MAPK cascades (reviewed by (Cobb., 1999), MAPKs are activated by MAP2Ks through common mechanisms at two regulatory phosphorylation sites located in the activation lip. This motif contains the sequence 'threonine-X-tyrosine', both residues require phosphorylation, but can be phosphorylated independently of one another, and result in a conformation change. Once activated, MAPKs need to find their targets. Although it is necessary to limit the phosphorylation of irrelevant substrates, it is also important that each MAPK recognises a number of substrates to allow the regulation of many processes. Mechanisms ensuring specific MAPK cascade activations include scaffold proteins responsible for the organisation of specific cascades to specific activators, the regulation of physical interactions between members of a given cascade and the

indirect regulation of both ligands and inhibitors for cell-surface receptors that feed into MAPK cascades (Pierce et al., 2001;Su and Karin., 1996).



Figure 1.3 schematic diagram representing MAPK cascade. MAPK= mitogen activated protein kinase, MAP2K= mitogen activated protein kinase kinase, MAP3K= mitogen activated protein kinase kinase kinase.

The MAPK cascades are typically initiated by the activation of MAP3Ks in response to diverse cellular processes and extracellular stimuli. MAP3Ks sequentially phosphorylate and activate MAP2Ks through common mechanisms at two regulatory phosphorylation sites. MAP2Ks proceed to phosphorylate and activate MAPKs in a similar manner. Once activated, MAPKs recognise a number of substrates to allow the regulation of many processes such as gene expression, cytokine production and apoptosis.

1.13.2 Different classes of mammalian Map kinases

In mammalians, 4 distinct MAPK modules have been characterised (reviewed by (Johnson and Lapadat., 2002)). The four major MAPK members are: extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs 1 and 2), C Jun amino- terminal Kinase (JNK1, 2, 3), also known as stress activated protein kinases (SAPK), p38 (α , β , γ , δ) and the most recent to be identified, ERK5.

ERKs

The ERK signalling pathway was the first Mammalian MAPK pathway to be identified and is preferentially activated by growth- related signals. ERK1 and ERK2 are both activated by MKK1 (MEK1) and MKK2 (MEK2) through the concomitant phosphorylation of tyrosine and threonine residues, and subsequently undergo a conformational change. The activation of MKK1 and MKK2 is required for ERK activation, this occurs following phosphorylation by protein kinase Raf, which has in turn been activated by GTP-bound Ras.

ERKs act to regulate cell proliferation and cell differentiation. Interestingly, it was found ERKs are involved in signalling pathways of mature neurons that no longer require differentiation (Sava et al., 2011). Further studies revealed ERKs are involved in long-lasting neuronal plasticity, including long-term potentiation and memory consolidation, controlled by excitatory glutamatergic signalling through AMPA and NMDA receptors (Winder et al., 1999;English and Sweatt., 1997;Xia et al., 1996). These processes are crucial in the underlying mechanisms of complex behaviours in the brain such as learning and memory and a role of ERK in memory retention and fear conditioning has been confirmed in animal studies.

JNKs

JNK (also known as SAPKs) are important in controlling programmed cell death or apoptosis in response to stress stimuli such as cytokines, ultraviolet irradiation, heat shock, and osmotic shock. The JNK protein kinases are encoded by three genes; JNK1 (also known as MAPK8), JNK2 (MAPK9) and JNK3 (MAPK10) and like the other map kinases, JNKs are also activated through the phosphorylation of tyrosine and threonine by inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin by MAP2Ks. Similar to ERKS, studies have revealed JNKs have a role in the mediation of cortical and hippocampal synaptic plasticity (Yang et al., 2011).

P38 MAP kinase

P38 MAP kinases have four isoforms and play an important role in the production of cytokines such as IL-1, tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNFa) following activation. Because the p38 MAPKs are key regulators of inflammatory cytokine expression, they appear to be involved in human diseases such as asthma and autoimmunity (Irusen *et al.*, 2002;Wilms *et al.*, 2003).

MAP2K and MAP3K

Unlike MAPKs which are specifically recognised by their corresponding MAP2Ks, each of the MAP2Ks can be phosphorylated and activated by several different MAP3Ks. These MAP3Ks recognise different MAP2Ks, enabling diversity in the activation of MAPK pathways upstream of MAP2K. JNK2 is activated by either of the two dual specificity kinases, MAP2K4 and MAP2K7. MAP3Ks (c-Raf, MEKK4, MLK3) are more complex and require multiple steps for activation. They are allosterically controlled enzymes residing in an inactive state. Small ligands such as (ras) partially activate MAP3Ks, resulting in the formation of dimers, which act to phosphorylate and activate one another (Cheng *et al.*, 2005).

1.13.3 MAPKs and schizophrenia

Due to the pivotal role of MAPK in the integration, amplification and regulation of signal transduction and synaptic plasticity, it is not surprising that alterations in the expression and/or function of various intermediates MAP kinase cascades are involved in the neuropathophysiological events occurring in the brain in schizophrenia. Because of the role in glutamatergic signalling, many studies have focussed on the role of ERK in schizophrenia. However, recently, our lab found evidence of a putative role of the JNK2-*MAP2K7* pathway in schizophrenia as a risk factor in schizophrenia. An expression study revealed *MAP2K7* mRNA levels are reduced in the PFC of *post mortem* schizophrenia brains. The role of *MAP2K7* as a risk factor in schizophrenia was strengthened further by a positive genetic association in a UK population (Winchester et al., 2012). The MAP2K7 protein is an upstream activator of JNK2 which mediates signal transduction and regulates many cellular processes such as cell growth and proliferation, transcription and apoptosis (Tournier *et al.*, 2001;Holland *et al.*, 1997;Mayer *et al.*, 2005). JNK2 has also been shown to have decreased expression and phosphorylation in the anterior cingulate cortex (Funk et al., 2011). However, further biological and functional evidence of a role for *MAP2K7* in schizophrenia is required.

1.14 Hypotheses and Aim

The genetic interactions underlying the pathophysiology of schizophrenia still remain ambiguous. Many genes have been implicated as risk factors in this disorder however these genes still require biological evidence in order to confirm an association. Recent genetic association studies have implicated both *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* as risk factors in the susceptibility to schizophrenia; these associations have been strengthened further by the expression of FXYD6 in schizophrenia-related brain regions, such as the PFC and the involvement of MAP2K7 in signalling cascades used in cognitive processes. We sought to investigate the functional roles of FXYD6 and MAP2K7 and explore whether these genes are risk factors in the susceptibility to schizophrenia.

This study initially aims to investigate whether *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* individually propose a risk to schizophrenia susceptibility in a north European population. Epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* are also investigated in order to explore genetic interactions between these two genes in the risk to schizophrenia.

The role of *FXYD6* in psychiatric disorders is further explored by using mice homozygous for disrupted *Fxyd6*. FXYD proteins are known modulators of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity and disruption of FXYD6 is hypothesised to result in altered activity of brain Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. A molecular characterisation of these mice aims to confirm whether FXYD6 plays a modulatory role in brain Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity, and explores the role of FXYD6 in the neurochemical pathways associated with schizophrenia.

The expression of FXYD6 in the PFC and the hippocampus suggests this protein may be involved in the underlying mechanisms of cognition, such as working memory. Therefore the disruption of this gene could result in cognitive impairments in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice. In order to investigate the role of FXYD6 in cognitive impairments, as well as behaviours associated with psychiatric disorders, such as sensorimotor gating, this study aims to explore a number of phenotypes in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice in order to provide further insight into the functional role of FXYD6 in areas such as locomotor activity, cognition, anhedonia and in DA and glutamatergic circuitry.

Similarly to *FXYD6*, the functional role of *MAP2K7* is explored using mice haploinsufficient for *Map2k7* (*Map2k7*^{+/-} mice). Due to the recent association of *MAP2K7* with schizophrenia and the role in MAPK cascades and glutamate signalling and synaptic plasticity, it is hypothesised the disruption of *Map2k7* in mice will result in impairments to neurochemical circuitry associated with schizophrenia and psychiatric disorders, as well as impaired cognition. This aim is explored via the molecular and phenotypic characterisation of *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice.

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Routinely used chemicals and buffers are listed in Table 2.1 and Table 2.2 respectively. Sources for chemicals not listed in these tables are detailed in the relevant methods section.

Chemical	Formula	Source		
Tris Base	$C_4H_{11}NO_3$			
Potassium chloride	KCl			
Potassium phospate	KH ₂ PO ₄	BDH, UK		
Sodium chloride	NaCl			
Sodium hydrogen phosphate	Na ₂ HPO ₄			
Sucrose	Sucrose $C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}$			
Adenosine 5'-triphosphate disodium	$C_{10}H_{14}N_5Na_2O_{13}P_3$			
Ethanol	C_2H_6O			
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	$C_{10}H_{16}N_2O_8$			
Imidazile.hcl	$C_3H_4N_2 \cdot HCl$			
L-histidine	$C_6H_9N_3O_2$			
Magnesium Chloride	MgCl ₂	Sigma Aldrich		
Methanol	CH₄O	UK		
Ouabain octahydrate	C ₂₉ H ₄₄ O ₁₂ · 8H ₂ O			
Saponin	$C_{27}H_{42}O_3$			
Sodium citrate	$Na_3C_6H_5O_7$			
Sodium phosphate dihydrate	$NaH_2PO_4.2H_2O$			
Tween®20	C ₅₈ H ₁₁₄ O ₂₆			
All oligo primers				

Table 2.1 Routinely used chemicals and their source.

Buffer	Recipe/ source
10x phosphate buffered saline	1.3M NaCl, 30mM NaH ₂ PO ₄ .2H ₂ O, 70mM Na2HPO4, pH 7.4. Diluted to 1x using dH_2O
20x Saline sodium citrate (SSC) buffer	3 M NaCl, 0.3 M Na ₃ C ₆ H ₅ O ₇
10x TBS (forumla)	200 mM Tris base, 1.37 M NaCl, pH 7.6. Diluted to 1x using dH_20

Table 2.2 Recipes for routinely used buffers

2.2 Genetic association study

The genomic DNA (gDNA) sample set used for the genetic association study consists of The University College London (UCL) Schizophrenia Case Control samples (Pimm et al., 2005) and West of Scotland DNA samples.

2.2.1 Power Calculation

Power of sample size was calculated using G*Power 3.1.2, the study had a power level of 0.95.

2.2.2UCL schizophrenia case control samples

The UCL schizophrenia case control gDNA samples were obtained from Professor Hugh Gurling (Pimm et al., 2005) and are comprised of 300 unrelated, gender mixed gender healthy controls (age- information unavailable) and 293 mixed gender schizophrenia participants (mean age 44, age range 19-91, mean age of onset 23) from Greater London (Pimm et al., 2005). Samples were included if both parents were of English, Irish, Scottish or Welsh descent and had at least 3 grandparents of British Ancestry. Samples did not contain pedigrees. All schizophrenia participants have an International Classification of Diseases version 10 (ICD10) diagnosis of F20 Schizophrenia (World Health Organization., 1992) and Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia- Lifetime version (SADS-L) (Spitzer and Endicott., 1978) interview was completed for all case and control participants. Research subjects with short-term drug-induced psychoses, learning disabilities, head injuries, and other symptomatic psychoses were excluded from the present study. The UCL schizophrenia Case Control samples have been shown not to have significant population stratification by ancestry (Pimm et al., 2005). The UCL samples were collected with full ethical consent, and the approval of the local ethical committee.

2.2.3 West of Scotland samples

The West of Scotland cohort was recruited mainly from in or around Glasgow. It consists of 198 healthy, unrelated mixed gender healthy controls (mean age 32) recruited from local higher education facilities and matched as a group for age and sex and DNA from 211 schizophrenia participants (mean age 44 (range 18-78)) with an ICD10 F20 diagnosis, ascertained by a consultant psychiatrist and verified by researchers using structured interview and case note review; meeting ICD10 criteria for schizophrenia spectrum disorders. gDNA was isolated from blood by Demetrius Vouyouiklis and Catherine Winchester (PsyRING) using the DNAce Spin Blood Kit (BIOLINE., London, UK). These samples have been shown not to have significant population stratification. A multicentre Research Ethics Committee (MREC) approval letter (reference 03/0/093) was obtained for the West of Scotland samples. All participants gave informed consent.

2.2.4 SNP selection

Six tagging SNPs representing polymorphic loci in *FXYD6* were selected using publicly available genetic recombination data from Utah residents with ancestry from northern and western Europe (CEU) ((The International HapMap Consortium., 2003) and SNPbrowser[™] Software v4.0, ABI Life Technologies). The criteria for inclusion in the study were: 1:MAF was not lower than 4-10%, 2: SNPs were in an area of high LD and 3: SNP genotyping assays were commercially available. SNP loci and LD plot for *FXYD6* can be observed in Figure 2.1 and SNP allele information in Table 2.3. TaqMan[®] SNP genotyping assays for each selected tagSNP were purchased from ABI Life Technologies.



Figure 2.1 Tagging SNP positions on a) FXYD6 locus and b) FXYD6 linkage disequilibrium plot

a) Six tag SNPs were selected for their ability to represent the polymorphic loci across the *FXYD6* gene. They are located within introns and exons

b) *FXYD6* linkage disequilibrium plot (The International HapMap Consortium, 2003). Red squares indicate high linkage disequilibrium between two loci (LOD \geq 2, D'=1), followed by pink (LOD \geq 2, D'<1), blue < 2, D'=1) and white <1, D'<1. Large areas of red squares indicate haplotype blocks of loci likely to be inherited together. SNPs were chosen by their ability to represent different haplotypes.

						Allele x	Allele y	
SNP ID	Assay ID	Location	Alleles	Ancestral allele	MAF	(SNP_VIC)	(SNP_FAM)	Polymorphism
rs30087563	2120467_10	Chr.11: 117707937	C:T	Т	0.465	С	Т	Transition Substitution
rs3168238	32368298_10	Chr.11:117709645	G:T	Т	0.047	G	Т	Transversion substitution
rs3885041	27877757_10	Chr.11: 117722742	C:T	С	0.221	С	Т	Transition Substitution
rs1815774	11910811_10	Chr.11: 117731439	G:C	С	0.393	С	G	Transversion substitution
rs4938445	3236508_10	Chr.11:117745003	A:G	G	0.336	А	G	Transition substitution
rs497768	1048679_10	Chr.11:117750740	C:G	С	0.241	С	G	Transversion substitution

Table 2.3 FXYD6 SNP assay information.

All SNP assays chosen for genotyping had a Minor Allele Frequency (MAF) higher than 4%.

2.2.5 Genotyping quality control

To confirm that the selected tagSNPs were polymorphic in European populations, the Human Random Control DNA panel 1 (HRC1) (Sigma- Aldrich) was genotyped using *FXYD6* TaqMan[®] SNP genotyping assays. Genotyping data quality was assessed using sample replicates across 96 well plates and not template control (NTC) samples were used to detect contamination. Failed and ambiguous samples were repeated.

2.2.6Genotyping

Genotyping was done blind to sample diagnosis. Genotyping of the HRC1 gDNA sample set was carried out in 96 well plates using TaqMan[®] SNP Genotyping Assay 5' nuclease technology (ABI Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, a genotyping reaction mix (1x TaqMan[®] Genotyping master mix part no. 4371355, 1x SNP genotyping assay, dH₂O in a final volume of 15µl) was added to 5ng gDNA from each sample in a 96 well plate. Fluorescent amplicons were generated using standard thermal cycling conditions (Table 2.5 PCR conditions used for SNP genotyping.) using an ABI Prism Sequence Detection 7000 hardware and ABI Prism Sequence Detection 7000 software. Ambiguous samples were repeated. An end point read of the fluorescent signals generated a fluorescent cluster plot (Figure 2.2).

le SNP FAM allele
Т
Т
A
G
G
G

Table 2.4 SNP genotypes

PCR Cycle			
Stage	Temperature	Time	Cycles
1	50°C	2 minutes	1
2	95°C	10 minutes	1
3	95°C	15 seconds	40
4	60°C	10 minutes	1

Table 2.5 PCR conditions used for SNP genotyping.



Figure 2.2 Example of end point read cluster plot and genotype calling.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM^M (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \square = no template controls, \bullet = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (alleles A/A), \diamond = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM^M (alleles G/G), \triangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM^M (alleles G/A).

2.2.7Haploview

All genotyping data were uploaded to Haploview v4.2 (<u>www.broad.mit.edu/mpg/haploview</u>) in Linkage Format as a .txt file. All data and statistical analyses were performed using Haploview v4.2.

2.2.8Quality Control

Data quality was assessed using 'check markers' in Haploview. Genotyping call rate was assessed; this was taken as the percentage of samples which were successfully genotyped by each SNP genotyping assay and was used to give indication of quality of genotyping and power of the study. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) *p*-value (p<0.001) was determined for controls and cases for each SNP genotyping assay. This provided an indication of any deviation from genetic equilibrium and is used to primarily detect errors in genotyping. The output file also provides the following information for each SNP genotyping assay: expected heterozygote genotype numbers, observed heterozygote genotype numbers, MAF and alleles detected.

2.2.9Case/control association test

Case/ control association tests were performed on allele frequencies for all SNP genotyping data. The output file provided information on the dominant allele, the allele frequency for case and controls, the Chi Square value and the *p* value.

2.2.10 Linkage Disequilibrium blocks

Linkage disequilibrium was investigated in all data; blocks sharing high levels of linkage disequilibrium were defined using Haploview's 'solid spine of LD' method using D' values greater than 0.8. Haplotype blocks were analysed for association. Output data provided information on frequency of haplotype associations, case/control ratios, chi square value and the derived p value. MAF and LD data from this study were compared to published CEU HapMap Data.

2.2.11 Epistatic interactions with Map2k7

Epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* (*MAP2K7* human data generated from C. Winchester) were investigated using SNPStats using a codominant model (<u>www.bioinfo.iconologia.net</u>). Data were formatted under the following headings: ID, sex (1 male, 2 female), status (Ca (control), Co (case)), SNP ID (alleles) and analysis of interaction of covariates was used to indicate epistasis.

2.3 Mouse lines.

2.3.1Fxyd6 Founder Mice

F1 heterozygote founder mice ($Fxyd6^{+/-}$) were obtained from (Lexicon Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, 2007). The *Fxyd6* knockout mice were generated via a gene trap mutation disrupting the *Fxyd6* gene upstream of the first coding exon (Figure 2.3a). The F1 heterozygote founder mice had a mixed genetic background of *C57BL/6J* and *129SvEvBr* strain.

2.3.2Map2k7 Founder Mice

Founder *Map2k7* mice were a gift from Professor. J. Penninger (Institute of Molecular Biology of the Austrian Academy of Science, Vienna, Austria). The *Map2k7* knockout mouse was generated by replacement of a portion of exon 9 with a PGK-Neo cassette (Figure 2.3b). Homozygous disruption of *Map2k7* (*Map2k7*^{-/-}) results in embryonic lethality, thus only wildtype (*Map2k7*^{+/+}) and heterozygous (*Map2k7*^{+/-}) mice for *Map2k7* were used in the following studies. The founder Map2k7 Mouse background comprised of at least 87.5% *C57BL/6J* (the rest is *129SvEvBrd* (129) strain).

2.3.3 Backcrosses

All *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* mice used in procedures were backcrossed onto C57b6/j_rcchsd strain to eliminate variability which may arise from a mixed genetic background. Mice used in chapter 4 were backcrossed for 3 generations, whilst mice used in chapter 5 were backcrossed for 4 generations, and mice used in chapter 6 were backcrossed for at least 5 generations. Mice used for generating backcrosses were aged 6-8 weeks, pair housed in a temperature and humidity regulated room with a 12-h dark/light cycle. Animals were given access to food and water *ad libitum*.




Figure 2.3 Schematic diagram representing disruption of

а

a) *Fxyd6* gene in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice showing the insertion of a trapping cassette up stream of the first coding exon. Adapted from (Lexicon Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, 2007)

b) Disruption of Map2k7 in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice showing the insertion of a PGK neo cassette into exon 9. Not drawn to scale. UTR= untranslated region. LTR= long terminal repeat.

2.4 Genotyping

2.4.1 DNA extraction

Ear clips were taken from all *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* mice at 3 weeks of age. Genomic DNA was extracted by digesting ear clips in lysis buffer (0.8x cell lysis solution (Promega, Cat no A7933), 0.1M EDTA, 140 μ g Proteinase K (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) at a total volume of 200 μ l) overnight at 50°C with agitation at 1000 rpm for a duration of 10 seconds once every minute. The following day Proteinase K was deactivated by heating samples to 99°C for 15 minutes. 2x volume of 100% ethanol was added to all samples prior to centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 5 minutes. Supernatant was discarded and 1 ml of 70% ethanol (w/v) was added to all samples prior to centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 5 seconds. Remaining supernatant was discarded and DNA pellet samples were air-dried for 30 minutes. DNA was re-suspended in 100 μ l dH₂0 by incubation at 50°C for 20 minutes with agitation at 1000 rpm for 10 seconds per minute. DNA samples were stored at -20°C until use.

2.4.2 Quantification of DNA

The concentration DNA determined using a spectrophotometer (Gene Quant, RNA/DNA Calculator, Amersham Pharmcia Biotech) set to measure absorbance at wavelength 260 nm and path length 5 mm. Measuring the wavelength at 260 nm gives a direct indication of nucleic acid quantity. The following calculation was used to derive the exact concentration of DNA in each sample:

OD260 x dsDNA co-efficient x path length correction = concentration of total DNA (μ g/ μ L)

2.4.3 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

PCR was used to amplify regions of mouse genomic DNA extracted from *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* mice in order to determine their genotype using KOD Hotstart DNA polymerase (Merck Millipore, UK). Reaction components used in PCR reaction are outlined in Table 2.6 and conditions in Table 2.7. PCR primers specific for *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* were designed using OligoPerfectTM Designer (Invitrogen, UK). Proposed forward and reverse primers were 'blasted' using Nucleotide Blast

(NCBI) to ensure primers were specific to gene of interest. The wildtype forward primer for *Fxyd6* targets the region upstream of the trapping cassette insert (intron 1) and the reverse immediately following the insertion site (intron 1) (Figure 2.4). To identify mice with disrupted copies of *Fxyd6*, a forward primer was designed to recognise the trapping cassette. *Map2k7* wildtype mice were distinguished from *Map2k7* heterozygote mice by primers designed to target regions either side of the trapping cassette insertion site (exon 9). A primer was designed to anneal to the trapping cassette in order to identify heterozygote mice (Figure 2.4). Primer sequences are displayed in Table 2.8 and example genotype results can be observed in Figure 2.4b and Figure 2.5b.



В

а





a) *Fxyd6*. Wildtype primers (F1, R2) are adjacent to cassette insert site (upstream of the first coding exon), the presence of the cassette will inhibit the annealing of the wildtype primers. F2 primer has been designed to target the insert, identifying heterozygous and knockout mice.

b) Representative PCR gel used to identify genotypes. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice $^{(+/+)}$ have a single band at 366 bp, $Fxyd6^{+/-}$ mice $^{(+/-)}$ have two bands at 288 bp and 366 bp, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice $^{(-/-)}$ have a single band at 288 bp. 1 kb= 1 kb pair ladder.





Figure 2.5 Map2k7 Genotyping PCR primer locations

a) Map2k7. Wildtype mice are identified by primers F1 and R1, located in introns flanking exon 9, the site of trapping cassette insertion. The disruption of Map2k7 by the insertion of the trapping cassette is identified by primers F2 and R2, located along and immediately after the trapping cassette.

b) Representative PCR gel used to identify genotypes. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice (+/+) have a single band at 360 bp, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice (+/-) have two bands at 261 bp and 360 bp, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice are embryonically lethal. 1 kb= 1 kb pair ladder.

Component	Final Concentration
KOD Hot Start DNA Polymerase buffer (Merck Millipore, UK)	1X
MgSO ₄	1.5 mM
dNTPs	0.2 mM (each)
PCR Grade Water	
Primers	0.3 uM each
gDNA	0.1 ug
KOD Hot Start DNA Polymerase	1 µl
DMSO	2%

Table 2.6 PCR master mix components and concentrations optimised for use with primers designed to genotype Fxyd6 and *Map2k7* mice.

Step	Conditions
1. Polymerase Activation	95 °C for 2 min
2. Denature	95 °C for 20 s
3. Annealing	
Fxyd6	58 °C for 10 s
Map2k7	66 °C for 10 s
4. Extension	70 °C for 10 s
Repeat steps 2-4	30 Cycles

_

Table 2.7 PCR reaction conditions optimised for primers targeted to Fxyd6 and Map2k7.

Gene	Primer	Sequence 5' \rightarrow 3'
Fxyd6	Wildtype forward	TACCTCACACCTCAGTTCCAAGTGG
	Cassette forward	AATGGCGTTACTTAAGCTAGCTTGC
	Reverse	GGGTGGGAGTTCTCGCCTATCACAG
Map2k7	Wildtype Forward	GCTCTGTGACTTTGGCATCA
	Wildtype Reverse	GCCCCAACTAACCAGTGAGA
	Cassette Forward	GGATGTGGAATGTGTGCGAG
	Cassette Reverse	TCCCCAGTAGCATGAGGACAC

Table 2.8 Sequences of forward and reverse primers used to target and amplify regions of *Fxyd6* (refer *to* Figure 2.4a)Figure 2.4 *Fxyd6* Genotyping PCR primer locations and *Map2k7* (refer to Figure 2.4b).

2.5 Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in Fxyd6 mice

2.5.1 Preparation of crude plasma membrane

Mice (male, 12 weeks old) were killed by cervical dislocation, the brains removed rapidly on ice and the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus dissected and immediately frozen on dry ice. Brain regions were stored at -80°C until use and stored overnight at - 20°C prior to testing. Each frozen brain region was homogenised using a plastic Dounce in 300 µl ice cold 0.32 M sucrose solution buffer and further homogenised by being passed through a 26g needle 10 times. Homogenates were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C (Sigma 2K15 rotor Nr. 12148) and supernatants were extracted into a new eppendorf. Crude membranes from supernatants were obtained via differential plasma centrifugation using sucrose gradients, briefly supernatants were centrifuged at 1000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C (Sigma 2K15 rotor Nr. 12148). The resultant supernatants were layered over a sucrose gradient of 300 µl 0.32 M ice-cold sucrose and 700 µl 1.2 M ice-cold sucrose in Thinwall Polyallomer tubes (Beckman Coulter) and centrifuged at 34,000 x g for 50 minutes at 4°C in a TLS55 Beckman rotor. The fraction collected between 0.32 M and 1.2 M sucrose was diluted 1:3 with ice-cold bi-distilled water, then layered over 500 µl ice cold 0.8 M sucrose and centrifuged at 34,000 x g for 30 minutes. The pellet was re-suspended in 300 µl ice cold 5 mM imidazole- HCl buffer (pH 7.4), an aliquot was taken for protein quantification, and the rest stored over night at -20°C.

2.5.2Protein quantification

Protein concentration of plasma membrane fractions were determined by an adapted version of the method of Bradford (Bradford, 1976). Briefly, a standard curve of bovine serum albumin (BSA, Sigma-Aldrich, UK) ranging from 0 μ g/ml to 250 μ g/ml was prepared in respective homogenisation buffer. Samples, depending on size of tissue region, were either used neat or diluted in homogenisation buffer to ensure protein concentration is within the range of the standard curve. 10 μ l of each sample or BSA standard was pipetted, in triplicate, into a flat-bottomed 96 well plate and 200 μ l of 1:4 protein assay dye reagent

concentrate (BIO-RAD, Bio-Rad laboratories, UK) (diluted with ddH_20) was added to each well and incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes to allow colour development. Absorbance was read at OD 630nm using Revelation software on a DYNEX MRX plate reader. A linear regression of optical density vs. protein concentration was calculated from the known standard concentrations and the concentration of each sample was calculated from the standard curve.

2.5.3Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity assay

The day following the preparation of crude plasma membrane, $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase activity was tested in samples by a method adapted from (Sarkar., 2002).

20 µg/ml protein suspended in imidazole.HCl buffer (pH 7.4) was added 1:1 to 2x ATPase buffer (60 mM imidazole-HCl, 280 mM NaCl, 60 mM histidine, 20 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4) and 1:1 to ouabain-ATPase buffer (60 mM imidazole-HCl, 50 mM KCl, 20 mM ouabain, 280 mM NaCl, 60 mM L-histidine, 20 mM MgCl₂, pH 7.4) (total volumes 100 µl). Samples were incubated in the dark, on ice for 60 minutes. 20 mM Na.ATP was made up in the respective buffer and 100 µl was added to all samples to give a final concentration of 10 mM. Samples were incubated for 5 minutes at 37°C with agitation at 1000 rpm for a duration of 10 seconds per minute. Reactions were stopped via the addition of 400 µl BioMol Green (Enzo Life Sciences, Inc, Exeter UK) and the optical density was read 25 minutes later at 630 nm wavelength on Dynex Technologies MRX plate reader. Background was deducted using tissue-free control samples. Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase - specific activity was calculated by deducting the signal from samples incubated in ouabain- ATPase buffer from samples incubated in ATPase buffer.

2.6 Confirmation of protein expression by western blotting

2.6.1 Samples

Samples used for western blotting were either prepared as crude plasma membranes (section 2.5.1) or brain regions were dissected on ice and homogenised with a plastic Dounce in 300- 500 μ l ice cold 0.32 M sucrose solution buffer. The homogenates were further homogenised by being passed through a 26g needle 10 times.

2.6.2 Sample preparation

32.5 μ g of crude plasma membrane or 16 μ g of protein homogenate (determined from the protein concentration (see section 2.5.2)) was added to 4x NuPAGE[®] LDS sample buffer (Invitrogen, UK) and 10x NuPAGE[®] reducing agent (Invitrogen, UK), and denatured at 70°C for 10 minutes.

2.6.3 SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (-PAGE)

Proteins were separated by molecular weight using SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis in the XCell *SureLock* Mini-Cell system (Invitrogen, UK). 10 μ l of pre-stained Novex[®] Sharp Protein Standard ladder (Invitrogen, UK) was added to the first well of a 10% NuPAGE[®] Novex[®] Bis-Tris gel (Invitrogen, UK). 20 μ l of prepared samples were added to the subsequent wells. The gel was run in 1x NuPAGE[®] MOPs SDS running buffer (Invitrogen, UK) at 200 V for 45 minutes, or until the dye had run to the bottom of the gel, with a Gibco BRL PS304 Electrophoresis power supply (Gibco BRL Life Technologies).

2.6.4 Transfer of protein to nitrocellulose

Following the running of samples, proteins were transferred onto an InvitrolonTM Polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membrane (0.45 µm pore size, Invitrogen, UK). Membranes were submerged in 100% methanol (>1 minute) prior to being soaked in 1x NuPAGE[®] transfer buffer. All filter papers and sponges were soaked in 1x NuPAGE[®] transfer buffer. The gel was carefully removed from the gel plates and the transfer cassette was assembled in the following order: cassette back, sponges x3, filter paper, gel, PVDF membrane, filter paper, sponges x4, cassette front and inserted into the MiniCell System. The system was filled with 1x NuPAGE[®] transfer buffer and proteins were transferred at 30V for 2 hours using a Gibco BRL PS304 Electrophoresis power supply (Gibco BRL Life Technologies).

2.6.5 Protein detection

Following protein transfer, membranes were rinsed twice in ddH_20 and blocked with 3% (w/v) milk powder (Marvel) in TBS/Tween (0.05% (w/v) for 2 hours at

room temperature with gentle agitation. Membranes were further incubated overnight in the relevant blocking buffer and primary antibody (Table 2.9).

After overnight incubation, the membranes were washed in TBS/Tween (0.05% (w/v)) followed by 2hr incubation with the appropriate secondary antibody in 1% milk powder in TBS/Tween (0.05%) at room temperature (see Table 2.10).

Antibody	Species	Working dilution	Supplier
α-Fxyd6	Rabbit	1:1000	Gift from B. Delprat
α-Actin-HRP	Rabbit	1:2000	Santa Cruz
α-Actin-HRP	Goat	1:5000	Santa Cruz
α -Na ⁺ K ⁺ ATPase α 1 s	Mouse	1:1000	Abcam
α-Map2k7	Rabbit	1:1000	Calbiochem
α-GluR2	Rabbit	1:1000	Sigma
α-GAD	Rabbit	1:500	Sigma

Table 2.9 The primary antibodies and their working dilutions used for western blotting

Antibody	Working dilution	Supplier
α- Mouse HRP	1:5000-1:10,000	Santa Cruz
α - Mouse HRP	1:5000-1:10,000	Santa Cruz

Table 2.10 The secondary antibodies and their working dilutions used for western blotting

2.6.6Protein Visualisation

Enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) used for protein visualisation was dependent on primary antibody. FXYD6 required homemade ECL (1:1 solution A (33% (w/v) DMSO, 2.5 mM luminol (Fluka analytica, UK), 0.9M coumaric acid (Sigma- Aldrich, UK), 0.1M Tris) solution B (0.02% (v/v) H_2O_2 in 0.1M Tris)) applied for 1 minute. All other antibodies required Millipore Immoblin (Fischer Scientific, UK), applied for 5 minutes and exposed to X-ray film for 15 seconds- 20 minutes and developed using an automatic developer (HyperProcessor, Amersham)

The film images were scanned to obtain a digital image and the amount of protein in samples was estimated using image analysis (Image J).

2.7 Gene transcript expression RTq-PCR

2.7.1 Total RNA isolation

PFC samples were homogenised in Buffer RLT with (% (v/v) B-mercaptoethanol) using Hybaid Ribolyser tubes (Lysing Matrix D, Qbiogene., UK) and total RNA was isolated using silica-based membrane spin columns in RNEasy mini Kit (Qiagen., UK), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Total RNA was eluted using DNase/RNase free water (Ambion., UK) and contaminating DNA removed by treatment with DNasel (Invitrogen., UK) according to manufacturers protocol. The quality of total RNA was analysed using the Nano chip Bioanalyser 2100 (Agilent Technologies., UK) and quantified using Nanodrop^M 1000 (Thermo Scientific., UK). Samples were stored at -80°C until use.

2.7.2First Strand CDNA Synthesis

First strand cDNA was synthesised from 1 μ g of total RNA using SuperScript[®] VILOTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Life Technologies., UK) according to the manufacturers protocol. In order to detect contamination, samples with no template and no enzyme were included. Samples were stored at -20°C until use.

2.8 Quantitative real time reverse transcriptase PCR (RTq-PCR)

2.8.1 Primers

Gene expression assays were purchased from Applied Biosystems (refer to Table 2.11). B2M, ribosomal 18s and GAPDH were used to create a geometric mean to normalise C_T values generated from genes of interest (Fxyd6_m1, Fxyd6_g1, Map2k7 10/11, Map2k7 1a/1b, PVALB, Grin1).

Gene expression assay	Gene	Amplification region	Status	Source
B2M	B2M		Housekeeping gene	Applied Biosystems
18s	18s		Housekeeping gene	Applied Biosystems
GAPDH	GAPDH		Housekeeping gene	Applied Biosystems
Fxyd6_m1	Fxyd6	E xons 1 & 2	Gene of interest	Applied Biosystems
Fxyd6_g1	Fxyd6	Exons 3 & 4	Gene of interest	Applied Biosystems
Map2k7 10/11	Map2k7	Exons 10 & 11	Gene of interest	Applied Biosystems
Map2k7 1a/1b	Map2k7	Exons 1a & 1b	Gene of interest	Applied Biosystems
PVALB	PVALB		Gene of interest	Applied Biosystems
Grin1	Grin1		Gene of interest	Applied Biosystems

Table 2.11 Gene expression assays were purchased from Applied Biosystems. B2M, ribosomal 18s (18s) and GAPDH were used to create a geometric mean to normalise C_T values generated from genes of interest.

2.8.2RTqPCR

500 ng of RNA equivalent 1st strand cDNA and mastermix (1x TaqMan[®]Gene Expression Master Mix (Applied Biosystems), 1x Gene Expression Assay (Applied Biosystems) and nuclease-free H₂O to a final volume of 25 µl) was aliquoted, in triplicates, into a 96 well MicroAmp[™] optical reaction plate (Applied Biosystems) and sealed with MicroAmp[™] optical adhesion film (Applied Biosystems). To detect contamination, cDNA samples of known genotype were used as controls controls (section 2.7.2) and no template controls were included. PCR thermal cycling conditions were ran for 50°C for 2 minutes, 90°C for 10 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds and 60°C for 10 minutes on the ABI SDS7000.

2.8.3Gene expression quantification

 C_T values (cycle threshold) were exported for each well. The C_T value is defined as the number of cycles required for the fluorescent signal to exceed reach an arbitrary set fluorescent threshold in the linear phase of the amplification level, this level is set as a threshold of 0.3. As C_T levels are inversely proportional to the amount of target nucleic acid in the sample, values can be used to quantify gene expression using LinRegPCR. No template controls were checked for nonamplification. Triplicates were checked for outliers using the Grubbs test (GraphPad, <u>http://graphpad.com/quickcalcs/Grubbs1.cfm</u>) and sample averages were calculated. REST V2.0.13 (Qiagen., 2009) was used to calculate relative expression of each gene of interest, values were normalised by using a geometric mean from the three reference genes using amplification efficiencies obtained from LinReg. 2000 iterations were used and a hypothesis test was performed with 10,000 random reallocations of samples and controls between the groups, significance was set at p<0.05.

2.9 In situ Hybridisation

2.9.1 Labelling Oligonucleotide probes

A 7 µl mastermix containing 5ng oligonucleotide, 1x TdT buffer, 3.6 µl α^{33} P-dATP and 1.5 µl TdT enzyme was incubated at 32 °C for 60 minutes (Amersham Biosciences, UK). 50 µl DEPC-treated water was added to the mastermix and labelled nucleotide probes were separated from excess radioactivity using Biospin 6 Tris Columns (Biorad, 732- 6227, UK), according to manufacturer's instructions. The radioactivity counts of probes were calculated using a liquid scintillation analyser (2200CA, Tricarb-Packard). Probes with a radioactivity count between 100-500 x 10^3 dpm/ µl in a total volume of 50 µl were considered successfully labelled.

2.9.2 Slide preparation and fixation

Brains were removed from -80°C and left to equilibrate to -20°C for at least 1 hour prior to sectioning. 20 μ m coronal sections containing the prefrontal cortex, striatum/ nucleus accumbens, hippocampus, substantia nigra on the cerebellum were collected using a -20°C cryostat (CM1850, Leica). Sections were thaw-mounted onto Poly-L-Lysine coated slides (0.01% w/v) and air-dried for around one %hour prior to fixation in 4% (w/v) paraformaldehyde (in PBS) for 5 minutes. Slides were then transferred into a sterile trough containing 1 x PBS then dehydrated in 70 % (v/v) ethanol followed by 95% (v/v) ethanol for 5 minutes each and stored under 100% ethanol at 4°C until use.

2.9.3 Hybridisation

Sections were removed from ethanol and air-dried for ~30 minutes. Experimental sections were incubated in 'Hot' probe buffer (4 μ l labelled probe, 200 μ l hybridisation buffer (4x SSC, 50% deionised formamide, 10% dextran sulphate, 0.5M sodium phosphate, 0.1M sodium pyrophosphate, 54 mM polyadenylic acid and covered with Parafilm[®] to ensure sections and probes do no dry out. Controls sections were incubated in 'Cold' probe buffer (4 μ l labelled probe, 4.5 μ l unlabelled probe, 200 μ l hybridisation buffer) and covered with Parafilm[®]. All sections were placed in petri- dishes containing SSC (150 mM NaCl, 15 mM Na.Citrate) -soaked tissue to maintain humidity and incubated overnight at 42°C.

2.9.4Hybridisation- washing

Slides were removed from the oven and submerged in 1x SSC at 55°C. Parafilm[®] covers were carefully removed and slides were transferred into a fresh trough of 1x SSC at 55°C for 30 minutes with slight agitation. Slides underwent a dehydration step by immersion in 0.1 x SCC, 70% (v/v) ethanol and 95% (v/v) ethanol for 20 seconds each with slight agitation. Slides were air-dried for ~ one hour and placed under BiomaxTMMR films (Kodak) for 1 to 3 weeks.

2.9.5Film Development and analysis

BiomaxTMMR films (Kodak) were developed using an automatic developer (HyperProcessor, Amersham, Piscataway, NJ, USA). mRNA levels were analysed using Image J software. Non-specific labelling (slides labelled with 'cold probe') was deducted from total labelling (slides labelled with 'hot probe') to quantify mRNA levels.

2.10 Phenotyping

2.10.1 Primary phenotype screen

A primary phenotype screen was carried out on $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice and $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice as a first screen for phenotype abnormalities. This consisted of a modified version of the Smithkline Beecham, MRC Harwell, Imperial College, the Royal London Hospital Phenotype Assessment (SHIRPA) assessment. PPS was carried out as outlined in Table 2.12. Weekly weight measurements were catalogued and a growth curve for each strain was produced. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice n=10 per group, aged 7 weeks. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice n=9 and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice n=7 per group, aged 6 weeks. Data analysed by Student's t-test.

Testing location	Measure	Response score
In arena	Body position	0= Inactive, 1= Active, 2= Excessive Activity
	Spontaneous activity	0= Absent, 1=Intermittent rapid darts, 2= Excessive rapid darts
	Tremor	0= Absent, 1= Present
	Urination	Quantity
	Defecation	Quantity
	Bizarre behaviours	0= Absent, 1= Present
	Convulsions	0= Absent, 1= Present
	Palpebral closure	0= Eyes fully open, 1= Eyes mid closed, 2= Eyes fully closed
	Gait	0= Fluid movement, 1=Lack of fluidity in movement
	Pelvic Elevation	0= Flattened, 1=Normal (3 mm elevated), 2= Elevated
	Coat appearance	0= Tidy and well groomed, 1= Ungroomed
	Piloerection	0= Absent, 1= Present
	Tail Elevation	0=Dragging, 1= Horizontal extension, 2= Elevated/ straub tail
Restrained	Pinna reflex	0= Present, 1= Absent
	Cornea reflex	0= Present, 1= Absent
	Lacrimation	0= Absent, 1= Present
	Evidence of biting	0= Absent, 1= When handled
	Vocalisation	0= Absent, 1= Present
	Trunk curl	0= Absent, 1= Present
Other	Hanging wire n=3	mean latency to fall from wire (three 120s trials)
	Contact righting reflex	0= Present, 1= Absent

Table 2.12 Primary phenotype screen testing parameters.

The battery of tests is designed to reveal any basic phenotype abnormalities in a new mouse line. Phenotyping is carried out either with a free moving mouse in an arena or by restraining the mouse.

2.10.2 Rotorod

The rotorod assesses motor coordination and consisted of a rotating drum set to accelerate gradually. Latencies for mice either to fall from the rod or to passively rotate with the rod were recorded. The speed was initiated at 4 RPM, and incrementally increased until 40 RPM was reached within a 5 minute time period. Testing was repeated three times with a 15 minute resting interval between tests. *Fxyd6*^{+/+} and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=10 per group, aged 7 weeks. *Map2k7*^{+/+} mice n=9 and *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice n=7 per group, aged 6 weeks. Data analysed by Student's t-test.

2.10.3 Plus Maze

Plus maze apparatus consisted of two opposing enclosed, dark arms (30 cm x 6 cm) and two opposing open light arms (30 cm x 6 cm). The mouse was placed in centre of the maze and allowed to freely move for 5 minutes. An overhead infrared detecting camera tracked and analysed activity. Data was analysed using EthoVision Video Tracking System (Noldus Information Technology, Leesburg, VA). Four zones were created in order to analyse behaviour and admittance to open and enclosed arms, these zones are out lined in Figure 2.6. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice n=10 per group, aged 7 weeks. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice n=9 and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice n=7 per group, aged 6 weeks. Duration and frequency analysed by analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's *post hoc* for multiple comparisons. Distance and mean velocity analysed by Student's t-test.

2.10.4 Open field (OF)

The OF apparatus consisted of four identical plastic arenas (dimensions 40 cm x 40 cm) situated on an infra-red light box. Movement within the arenas was tracked by an overhead infra-red detecting camera using Ethovision XT (Noldus) video tracking software. In order to habituate mice to arenas, one mouse was placed in each arena for 30 minutes prior to locomotor assessment and allowed to move freely.

Locomotor activity was assessed immediately following habituation to the arenas. Mice were removed from arenas for around five minutes and during this time received subcutaneous injections of vehicle (0.9% (w/v) saline) or d-amphetamine sulphate (Sigma-Aldrich., UK) (3 mg/ kg/ 5 ml) and immediately placed back in the arena and allowed to move freely for 1 hour. Mice received both treatments over 3 days, with one day washout between drug administrations. Treatment groups were fully counterbalanced. Data were analysed using Ethovision software. An inner (20 cm X 20 cm) and outer zone were created (Figure 2.7) to assess anxiety and exploratory like behaviour. Velocity was measured by distance (cm) moved per second. *Fxyd6*^{+/+} and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=12 per group, aged 8 weeks. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice n=9 and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice n=7 per group, aged 7 weeks. Duration and frequency analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* for multiple comparisons. Distance and mean velocity analysed by Student's t-test.

2.10.5 Prepulse inhibition

Prepulse inhibition (PPI) was assessed following a 7 day washout period after the open field amphetamine challenge. PPI apparatus consisted of four identical sound-attenuated chambers. Immediately prior to PPI testing, mice received intraperitoneal (ip) injections of vehicle (0.9% (w/v) saline) or ketamine (10 mg/kg/ 2 ml and 30 mg/kg/ 2 ml). Mice was subsequently placed in restrainers and secured in the PPI chamber. Mice were exposed to 120 dB noise (pulse), with varying levels of prepulse preceding the pulse. Prepulses are of values 4, 8 and 16 dB above background white noise of 65 dB. Mouse startle response to the pulses were recorded. *Fxyd6*^{+/+} and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=10 per group, aged 9 weeks. *Map2k7*^{+/+} mice n=9 and *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice n=7 per group, aged 8 weeks. Duration and frequency analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* for multiple comparisons.



Figure 2.6 Schematic diagram illustrating plus maze zones and corresponding arms.

Total activity in closed arms was analysed by collating data from both arms to form zone 1, similarly activity from open $2/3^{rd}$ arms (zone 2) and open $1/3^{rd}$ arms (zone 3) were collated to give indication of anxiety levels.





Anxious mice would be expected to spend least time in zone 1, centre of the arena, whilst mice with high levels of anxiety may spend more time in the very outer arena, zone 3.

2.10.6 Working memory in delayed non-match to sample

Animals

Mouse littermates were littermate pair housed with free access to water and received a restricted diet of 3g feed pellet/ mouse/ day. Weights were recorded daily throughout the study to ensure weights did not fall below 85% of expected *ad libitum* feed weight.

Apparatus

An elevated cross- maze (elevated off the ground by 1 metre) was adapted to be used as a T-Maze using 5 cm by 15.5 cm sliding doors, creating three arms 30 cm by 15.5 cm by 5 cm,. The maze was constructed from grey Plexiglas. The arm used as the start alley was varied for each trial to prevent the use of visual cues. During inter- and intra- trial periods, mice were placed into a holding cage located adjacent to the maze.

Habituation to handler and reward

In order to reduce handler-mediated anxiety within the mice, all mice were handled for 5 minutes each for 3 days prior to habituation to the maze. Each day, following handling, mice were introduced to 50% (v/v H₂0) condensed milk by placing a small plastic tray into their home cage containing 8x 70 µl drops. The tray was removed following the consumption of all condensed milk drops.

Habituation to Maze

Around 1 hour following handling on the 3^{rd} day, mice were exposed to the maze in pairs with their cage mate. Mice were placed in the maze for 5 minutes. The two 'goal' arms were both baited with 140 µl of 50% condensed milk. This process was repeated so all mice were exposed to the maze twice on the 3^{rd} day.

Forced alternations

On the 4th day, mice were exposed to 10 forced alternations. Both goal arms were baited with a food reward of 70 μ l 50% condensed milk. One goal arm of the maze (arm A) was blocked off using a sliding door and mice were placed in the starting arm. Mice were required to run down the open goal arm (arm B) and consume the food reward. This is referred to as a forced-choice run. Following the consumption of the reward, or a 2 minute time period, mice were removed from maze and placed in the holding cage adjacent to the maze for 10 seconds. During this time, access to arm B was blocked using the sliding door and access to arm A and its reward was made available. The mouse was placed back on the starting arm and was now required to run down arm A and consume the reward. This is repeated for 10 trials. Mice have a limit of 2 minutes to find the reward for all trials. Forced alternations were continued for 3 days by which point the mice were actively running to the goal arm.

Training

In the training stage, the mouse performed a (pseudorandom) forced-choice run, followed by a 10 seconds intra-trial delay in the holding cage. The mouse was placed back into the starting arm of the maze now with access to both goal arms; however, the arm which contained the reward for the forced choice run was not re-baited and only the previously closed arm remained baited. The aim was for the mouse to remember which arm previously contained a reward and to avoid this arm, and explore the previously closed off arm. A different pattern of randomly chosen forced runs were used each day, with inter-trial delays of 40 seconds. Training phase was repeated until animals reach a criterion of 7 correct trials out of 10 trials in 3 consecutive days.

Testing

Mice were tested the day following the completion of training. This consisted of the mice performing 3 days of 12 pseudorandom forced choice runs, followed by a 5, 15 or 30 second intra-trial delay in the holding cage. Mice were then placed back in the starting arm with access to both arms. The mouse had to correctly identify the unexplored goal arm to be included as a correct trial. The order of the forced choice runs was kept constant for all mice over the three testing days. Trials were separated by an inter-trial delay of 40 seconds. *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice

n= 7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice n=6, $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice=5. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* for multiple comparisons.

2.10.7 Sociability

Sociability was performed on mice one week following the working memory assessment.

Apparatus

Apparatus consisted of a Plexiglas test box separated by sliding doors into 3 chambers. The two outer chambers contained a cylindrical wire cage. A clear Plexiglas lid was placed on top of the test box. All movement within the arenas was tracked Ethovision XT (Noldus).

Habituation

To habituate mice to apparatus, mice individually freely explored the test box and chambers, including the cylindrical wire cages, for 5 minutes, before being placed into a holding cage adjacent to the arena for around 3 minutes.

Sociability

Immediately following habituation, an unfamiliar mouse was placed in one of the cylindrical wire cages and the test mouse was placed back into the centre chamber of the arena and allowed to explore the whole arena, including the cylindrical wire cages, freely for 10 minutes, before being placed into a holding cage adjacent to the arena for around 3 minutes.

Social Novelty

Immediately following from sociability, the 'unfamiliar' mouse was kept in the wire cage and was termed 'familiar mouse'. An novel unfamiliar mouse, termed 'stranger mouse' was placed into the empty wire cage. The test mouse was placed back into the centre chamber of the arena and allowed to explore the whole arena, including the cylindrical wire cages, freely for 10 minutes.

Activity within the arena was analysed using Ethovison XT (Noldus). Time spent and entries into each chamber, and time spent exploring each wire cage were analysed. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice n= 7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice n=6, $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice=5. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* for multiple comparisons.

2.10.8 Sucrose Preference

Anhedonia was investigated in mice by sucrose preference testing. Following sociability testing, mice were singly housed. Water bottles were removed from cages and replaced with 2 bottles containing known volumes of either water or 1% sucrose solution (dissolved in H₂0). Bottles were counterbalanced across the left and right sides of the feeding compartments and positions were alternated daily. For 5 consecutive days both bottles were weighed every 24 hours and preference for sucrose was presented as the percentage of total fluid consumption using the following equation:

Sucrose preference (%) = sucrose solution consumption (mg)/ total fluid intake (mg)

Fxyd6^{+/+} mice n= 7, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=6 , *Map2k7*^{+/+} mice n=5 , *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice=5. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* for multiple comparisons.

2.11 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out in Minitab version 16. Data were assessed for normal distribution using the Anderson Darling normality test, data which did not follow a normal distribution were transformed using Johnson transformation and tested using either Student's t-test or ANOVA with Tukey's post hoc comparison test. Significance set at $p \le 0.05$.

Chapter 3. A genetic association study of the *FXYD6* gene and epistatic interactions in susceptibility to schizophrenia in a British population.

3.1 Introduction

The high heritability rate of schizophrenia (refer to 1.7) has led to a search for genes that confer disease susceptibility. The two prevailing ideas behind most genetic research on schizophrenia are that schizophrenia is a combination of multiple common polymorphisms of modest effect (The 'common disease - common alleles' model, refer to 1.8) (Chakravarti., 1999;Gottesman and Shields., 1982) and more recently, a common disease caused by multiple rare alleles (refer to 1.8, McClellan et al., 2007).

GWAS and candidate gene genetic association studies have provided evidence suggesting a role of common variants in the genetic background of schizophrenia in unrelated schizophrenia patients (refer to 1.9.4 (McClellan et al., 2007;Owen., 2010)). These studies are thought to strengthen the CDCA model of schizophrenia, which implies that schizophrenia is the result of the effects of multiple inherited genetic mutations (McClellan et al., 2007). However, the mode of inheritance is unclear and the genetic architecture of schizophrenia remains complex and poorly understood. Recent studies providing contradicting results to current literature have led to the re-evaluation of the 'common disease - common alleles' model as the primary hypothesis of the genetic architecture of schizophrenia (reviewed by Mitchell and Porteous., 2011). GWAS studies with large sample sizes have only found a few common variants associated with the increased risk of schizophrenia (Jia et al., 2010; Purcell et al., 2009;Stefansson et al., 2009) challenging the CDCA model which would require a larger quantity of common variants to be a valid hypothesis. Furthermore, in depth analysis of these studies revealed variance is not due to polygenic common variants, and instead the risk of schizophrenia is more likely to stem from rare but highly penetrant mutations (Purcell et al., 2009). Several features of schizophrenia support the view that it is a 'common disease caused by multiple rare alleles', such as mutations are often specific to a subset of families, or why schizophrenia, an illness associated with reduced fertility, has not had reduced frequency over a long period of time (McGrath et al., 1999;Nimgaonkar et al., 1997). Furthermore, this model may offer an explanation to why only a small fraction of genetic risk factors have been

identified and consistently replicated in association and linkage studies. These studies assume unaffected individuals sharing the same SNP-defined haplotypes will share common risk variants and present a common phenotype, however rare but highly penetrant mutations causing schizophrenia may vary within the same haplotype block resulting in a lack, or reduced association which could be worsened with high sample numbers (reviewed by McClellan et al., 2007).

Over a thousand genes and polymorphisms have been implicated in schizophrenia as a result of gene discovery strategies, such as GWAS studies, genetic association studies and meta-analysis (Allen et al., 2008). However schizophrenia is subject to environmental and genetic factors, factors such as pre- and postnatal environmental insults and genetic interactions (refer to 1.7), increasing the difficulty of identifying rare but highly penetrant susceptibility genes that often only confer a fractional. Processes such as gene expression can also be mediated by epigenetic mechanisms, which occur without changing the genetic code (refer to 1.8) and would therefore go undetected in genetic association investigations. A gene's output can also be modified by the actions of another gene (known as epistatic interactions) (refer to 1.8), resulting in differences in phenotype between individuals sharing a risk variant (Cloninger., 1997;Moore., 2003).

Reduced association can also stem from the variations in the classification and diagnoses of disorders. The imprecise nature of the schizophrenic phenotype and lack of relevant biological markers lead to variability in the classification of schizophrenia. Rare but highly penetrant alleles may be responsible for a small range of phenotypes associated with schizophrenia; genetic associations can be missed if association studies are performed in a high number sample encompassing a wide variety of symptoms.

Recently a genetic association study has implicated 5 genetic variations from *FXYD6* in the aetiology of schizophrenia in samples from the United Kingdom (Choudhury et al., 2006) with two variants further confirmed in an Aberdeen sample (Choudhury et al., 2007). The association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia has been investigated in different populations with mixed results. Allelic, genotypic or haplotypic associations were not observed in similar studies carried out in a Japanese population (Ito et al., 2008;Iwata et al., 2010) or a

Chinese Han population (Zhang et al., 2010), however (Zhong et al., 2011) found significant associations between a Chinese Han population and schizophrenia suggesting *FXYD6* gene as a risk factor in schizophrenia across populations is subject to other risk factors.

FXYD6 is located on 11g23.3 (chromosome 11, locus 23.3). 11g22-24 has one of the strongest genetic associations with schizophrenia, as revealed by metaanalysis of 20 genome scans in combination with a number of genome studies (Lewis et al., 2003). The FXYD6 protein belongs to the FXYD family, members of which are modulators of the Na^+ K^+ ATPase pump (Garty and Karlish., 2006; Sweadner and Rael., 2000) (refer to 1.11 and 1.12). As of yet, FXYD6 has not been fully characterized, however, it has been revealed to modulate the Na⁺ K^+ ATPase pump in the inner ear (Delprat et al., 2007). Several potential links to schizophrenia have been found, such as strong mRNA and protein expression in the rat brain (Kadowaki et al., 2004, personal correspondance) and in particular the forebrain (Kadowaki et al., 2004, personal correspondance); a region that is responsible for cognitive, sensory and motor function and is highly associated with schizophrenia. In addition FXYD6 protein has been shown to have highest levels of expression in the post natal rat brain during development (Kadowaki et al., 2004), suggesting it may be involved in neurodevelopment. Furthermore, colocalisation with the GABAergic interneuron marker parvalbumin in the inner ear suggests a potential role of FXYD6 in the GABAergic circuitry (Delprat et al., 2007) strengthening the argument for a role of FXYD6 in schizophrenia.

3.2 Hypothesis and aim

FXYD6 has been shown to be associated with schizophrenia in a North European population (Scotland and England); however despite molecular evidence further supporting a link with schizophrenia, difficulty in replicating this genetic association has been encountered.

The aim of this genetic association study was to genotype alleles of six SNPs in *FXYD6* and to look for association of single SNPs and haplotypes to determine if *FXYD6* is a risk factor in schizophrenia in a North European population (the West of Scotland and London samples). Epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia- associated candidate gene, *MAP2K7* (refer to Chapter 6), in the

samples were also investigated in order to explore whether the combined effects of these genes add to the risk of schizophrenia.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Data Quality

Six tagging SNPs were selected to analyse genetic association of *FXYD6* with schizophrenia (refer to 2.2.4) to capture variation across the entire gene. Prior to testing for association with schizophrenia, the data were assessed for quality (refer to 2.2.5) to eliminate the chance of false data. Ambiguous samples were repeated and replication samples that were included throughout the study confirmed the accuracy of the data. NTC within the study did not produce a signal, confirming samples were contamination free. The allele frequency (in all controls and samples) was used to confirm that genotyping was likely to be accurate by being comparable to the expected frequency and with control data sets in databases too and a call rate of over 99% of all samples confirmed lack of missing data (Table 3.1). Representative allelic discrimination plots can be observed in Figure 3.6.

SNP ID	Location	Call rate (%)	SNP VIC allele	SNP FAM allele
rs3087563	Chr.11: 117707937	99.6	С	Т
rs3168238	Chr.11:117709645	99.8	G	Т
rs3885041	Chr.11: 117722742	99.8	G	А
rs1815774	Chr.11: 117731439	99.8	С	G
rs4938445	Chr.11:117745003	99.4	А	G
rs497768	Chr.11:117750740	99.6	С	G

Table 3.1 Summary of SNP assays.

A high percentage of samples were genotyped in all assays (98.5% - 99%). SNPs were determined using reporter dyes SNP VIC and SNP FAM to detect the presence of the major and minor alleles.



Figure 3.1 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs3087563.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM[™] (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \blacksquare = no template controls, \blacklozenge = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (C/C alleles), \diamondsuit = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM[™] (T/T alleles), \blacktriangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM[™] (C/T alleles).



Figure 3.2 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs3168238.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM[™] (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \blacksquare = no template controls, \blacklozenge = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (G/G alleles), \diamondsuit = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM[™] (T/T alleles), \blacktriangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM[™] (G/T alleles).



Figure 3.3 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs3885041.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM[™] (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \blacksquare = no template controls, \blacklozenge = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (G/G alleles), \diamondsuit = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM[™] (A/A alleles), \blacktriangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM[™] (G/A alleles).



Figure 3.4 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs1815774.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM^M (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \square = no template controls, \bullet = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (C/C alleles), \bullet = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM^M (G/G alleles), \blacktriangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM^M (C/G alleles).



Figure 3.5 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs4938445.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM[™] (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \square = no template controls, \blacklozenge = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (A/A alleles), \diamondsuit = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM[™] (G/G alleles), \blacktriangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM[™] (A/G alleles).



Figure 3.6 Representative allelic discrimination plot for rs497768.

Genotype of samples are based on arbitrary intensity values for SNP_VIC[®] (axis x) and SNP_FAM[™] (axis y). Samples where genotype could not be determined are represented by an 'X', \blacksquare = no template controls, \blacklozenge = samples homozygous for SNP_VIC[®] (C/C alleles), \diamondsuit = samples homozygous for SNP_FAM[™] (G/G alleles), \blacktriangle = samples heterozygous for SNP_VIC[®] and SNP_FAM[™] (C/G alleles).

3.3.2 Allele Frequencies

The allele frequencies for all SNPs were in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE) (Table 3.2). However when the data sets were combined, one SNP, rs3885041 did not follow the expected distribution and therefore deviated from HWE (p= 8x10⁻⁴, Table 3.2). This is unlikely to be due to genotyping error due to the stringent quality control measures (refer to 2.2.8 & 3.3.1) and may be representative of disease association in the samples, when these data were separated into cases and controls, the allele frequency was in HWE (p<0.001) (Table 3.3) confirming rs3885041 follows the expected allelic distribution pattern and can therefore be used in this study.

SNP ID	Exp.HET	Obs.HET	Call rate (%)	MAF	Alleles	HWpval
rs3087563	0.498	0.505	99.6	0.465	C:T	0.6524
rs3168238	0.49	0.482	99.8	0.428	G:T	0.9337
rs3885041	0.449	0.4	99.8	0.341	G:A	8.00E-04
rs1815774	0.48	0.438	99.8	0.399	C:G	0.0124
rs4938445	0.096	0.097	99.4	0.051	A:G	0.6263
rs497768	0.365	0.384	99.6	0.241	C:G	0.1365

Table 3.2 Summary of genetic frequency in the sample set combining the West of Scotland and the London controls and cases samples. Rs3885041 is the only SNP assay in which samples are not in HWE ($p=8\times10^{-4}$). Exp.HET= expected heterozygous allele frequencies, Obs.HET= observed heterozygous allele frequencies, MAF= minor allele frequency. HWpval= Hardy-Weinberg p value (Significance set at p<0.001, refer to 2.2.8). Case n=498, controls=504.

	Control samples			Case samples		
SNP ID	Obs.HET	%Genotype	HWpval	Obs.HET	%Genotype	HWpval
rs3087563	0.499	100	0.652	0.505	98.5	0.9515
rs3168238	0.483	100	0.7837	0.482	99.2	0.9594
rs3885041	0.38	100	0.0655	0.4	99.6	5.20E-03
rs1815774	0.416	100	0.2363	0.438	99.5	0.0244
rs4938445	0.087	100	0.5186	0.097	98.8	1
rs497768	0.394	99.8	0.3833	0.384	99	0.2784

Table 3.3 Summary of control and case genetic frequency in the sample set combining the West of Scotland and the London samples. Rs3885041 is now in HWE in both control and case samples (p>0.001). Exp.HET= expected heterozygous allele frequencies, Obs.HET= observed heterozygous allele frequencies, MAF= minor allele frequency. HWpval= Hardy-Weinberg p value. Case n=498, controls=504.

3.3.3 Genetic Association

Association tests were carried out on allele frequencies in control vs. case data in the combined West of Scotland and London data set to give indication of whether the SNPs in *FXYD6* are associated with increased risk to schizophrenia (Table 3.4). Chi square values revealed observed results do not significantly deviate from expected results, whilst p value confirms there is no significant association between the SNPs and schizophrenia cases.

SNP ID	Assoc.allele	Case, control ratio	Chi Sq.	<i>p</i> value
rs3087563	Т	543:467, 521:475	0.425	0.5144
rs3168238	G	587:427, 563:433	0.382	0.5368
rs3885041	G	684:330, 644:352	1.753	0.1854
rs1815774	G	625:389, 584:412	1.89	0.1692
rs4938445	A	959:47, 936:60	1.809	0.1787
rs497768	G	251:761, 232:762	0.587	0.4437

Table 3.4 Allelic association analyses in the combined West of Scotland and London sample set. There is no significant association of SNPs rs30087563, rs3168238, rs3885041, rs1815774, rs4938445 or rs497768 with schizophrenia in the combined West of Scotland and London data set (p>0.05), as observed by no significant difference in case samples frequencies compared to control sample frequencies (as represented by Case, control ratio column) chi Sq > 0.05 Case n=498, controls=504

3.3.4Linkage disequilibrium associate and haplotype association

Data were explored for haplotype blocks of adjacent SNPs (refer to 2.2.10) to investigate association of genetic loci with schizophrenia. Two haplotype blocks of associated SNPs were observed in the data set using the solid spine of LD method implemented in the Haploview software (refer to 2.2.7), however analysis did not reveal any SNP or haplotype associations with schizophrenia. Block 1 indicates linkage disequilibrium between rs3885041 and rs1815774 (region size = 8kb, D'= 91, LOD score>2.0, indicated by red blocks (Figure 3.7) whilst block 2 indicates linkage disequilibrium between rs4938845 and rs497768 (region size = 5 kb, D'=100, LOD score>2.0, indicated by red block, (Figure 3.7), (p>0.05) (Table 3.5).



Figure 3.7 Linkage disequilibrium (LD) was measured using samples combined from the West of Scotland and London sample sets.

Each box provides D' values (1-100) with darker shades of red representing stronger LD and an LOD score of >2. The haplotype blocks were determined by the solid spine of LD method implemented in the Haploview software (refer to 2.2.7). 2 haplotype blocks were determined in this sample set. Block 1 show LD between rs3885041 and rs1815774 (region size = 8kb, D' = 91, LOD score >2.0) and block 2 rs4938845 and rs497768 (region size = 5 kb, D' = 100 LOD score >2.0). Case n=498, controls=504
Haplotype	Case frequency : control frequency	quency P value		
Block1				
GG	611.9, 402.1 : 562.8, 433.2	0.081		
AC	316.9, 697.1 : 330.8, 665.2	0.346		
GC	72.1, 941.9 : 81.2, 914.8	0.38		
AG	13.1,1000.9 : 21.2, 974.8	0.149		
Block 2				
AC	715.1, 298.9 : 703.5, 292.5	0.9588		
AG	251.5, 762.5 : 232.5, 763.5	0.4442		
GC	47.4, 966.6 : 60.0, 936.0	0.177		

Table 3.5 Haplotypic analyses in the combined sample set. Two haplotype blocks were observed in the sample set and are referred to as Block 1 and Block 2. The frequency of allele combinations observed in both block 1 and block 2 did not significantly differ between case samples (case frequency) and control samples (control frequency) in the sample set (p>0.05). Case n=498, controls=504.

3.3.5FXYD6 and MAP2K7 epistasis

Although there was no association of *FXYD* variants with schizophrenia, we investigated whether there was an epistatic relationship between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7*. *MAP2K7* has recently been found to be associated with susceptibility to schizophrenia however this study reveals that interactions between these two genes do not contribute to the risk of schizophrenia (refer to 2.2.11). Analysis of epistatic interactions between *MAP2K7* SNPs rs3679 and rs4804833 and *FXYD6* SNPs rs3087563, rs497768, rs4938445, rs1815774, rs3168238, rs3885041 did not reveal any significant interactions in case compared to control samples in West of Scotland, London and combined data set (Table 3.6).

Model	codominant	codominant	codominant	codominant	codominant	codominant
rs3087563	0.77	0.77	0.92	0.12	0.98	0.82
rs3168238	0.96	0.9	0.25	0.21	0.39	0.3
rs3885041	0.73	0.92	0.19	0.14	0.92	0.51
rs1815774	0.51	0.74	0.16	0.9	0.34	0.8
rs4938445	0.37	0.31	0.46	0.63	0.65	0.45
rs497768	0.87	0.38	0.7	0.53	0.72	0.19

Table 3.6 Epistatic interaction p values. P values representing epistatic interactions between *MAP2K7* SNPs rs3679 and rs4804833 and *FXYD6* SNPs rs3087563, rs497768, rs4938445, rs1815774, rs3168238, rs3885041 suggest epistatic interactions between these two genes do not contribute a risk to schizophrenia. Case n=498, controls=504.

3.4 Discussion

Genetic association studies investigating whether *FXYD6* is a risk factor in the susceptibility to schizophrenia have yielded mixed results, with evidence for an association (Choudhury et al., 2006; Choudhury et al., 2007; Zhong et al., 2011) and against (Ito et al., 2008; Iwata et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2010).

This genetic association study genotyped alleles of six SNPs in *FXYD6* and explored both single SNPs and haplotypes to determine if *FXYD6* is a risk factor in schizophrenia in a North European population (the West of Scotland and London samples). Furthermore, epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7*, a gene recently shown to be genetically associated with schizophrenia (Winchester et al., 2012), were investigated to see if genetic interactions between these two genes contribute to the risk of schizophrenia.

3.4.1 SNP criteria and data quality

SNPs investigated in this study were selected based upon the following criteria: MAF was at least 5-10%, SNPs provided a full coverage of the haplotype diversity in *FXYD6* and SNP genotyping assays were commercially available. This criterion suggests SNPs are polymorphic and span the FXYD6 locus. Five SNPs out of the six selected (rs3168238 p=0.009, odds ratio 1.64; rs1815774 p=0.049, odds ratio 1.21; rs4938445 p=0.010, odds ratio 1.31; rs4938446 p=0.025, odds ratio 1.26 and rs497768 p=0.023, odds ratio 1.24 (Choudhury et al., 2006) were found to have a positive association with Schizophrenia in Choudhury et al's studies (Choudhury et al., 2006; Choudhury et al., 2007). In data samples, no contamination was detected and all SNPs were confirmed polymorphic and allele frequency followed a similar distribution pattern to those published in HapMap (www.hapmap.org). Assay rs3885041 deviated from HWE in London samples. HWE is often used as a primary data quality check in association studies (Wittke-Thompson et al., 2005) and can be investigated through a goodness of fit chisquared (X^2) test, which assesses the difference between the expected and observed allele frequencies. The HWE principle states that in a randomly mating population, genetic frequency remains in a state of equilibrium, assuming no mutations (Hardy, 1908; Weinberg, 1908), and thus allele frequency is conserved from generation to generation. Hardy-Weinberg assumes both alleles are equally selective and so does not take into account evolution. Samples are said to deviate from HWE when they exhibit a HWE p value of <0.001 (Guo and Thompson., 1992;Wigginton et al., 2005). Deviation may indicate an error in genotyping techniques; however it may also be a result of disease-association or poor study design (Balding., 2006;Wittke-Thompson et al., 2005). When control and case samples tested with rs3885041 were separated, both sample sets were in HWE, and so the data were not excluded from the study.

3.4.2Allelic and haplotypic association

Haplotype blocks were determined using Haploview's 'Solid spine of LD method'; a method which searches for a "spine" of strong LD amongst markers within the haplotype block. The first and last markers in the haplotype block are in strong LD with the other markers, however adjacent SNPs within the haplotype block may not be in strong LD with each other. LD, also known as gamete phase equilibrium or allelic association, reflects the relationship between two alleles at different loci on the same chromosome, indicating the likeness of these alleles being inherited together (Cardon and Bell., 2001). LD association is dependent on the association between the causal SNP and the marker SNP (Cardon and Bell., 2001; Carlson et al., 2004; Li and Li., 2008). Levels of LD between two markers in the data sets were represented by D' values. D' gives an indication of high levels of association and inheritance between two loci- D' values range from 0 to 100, with D' = 100 showing complete LD, and 0 no LD (Lander et al., 2001; Wall and Pritchard., 2003). A combination of SNPs at the same locus likely to be inherited together is regarded as a haplotype block (Gabriel et al., 2002). Many haplotype blocks can be transmitted through generations with little or no recombination, making it is possible to track a mutation (Gabriel et al., 2002).

Allelic analysis of the six SNPs did not reveal any significant differences in variant frequencies between case and control data, suggesting these SNPs do not contribute towards the risk of schizophrenia phenotype in this sample set. In the data set 2 haplotype blocks were identified with LOD scores of >2. LOD scores indicate if the SNPs are linked and are likely to be inherited together or whether the association observed is through chance (Lander et al., 2001;Wall and Pritchard., 2003). The frequency of allele combinations forming haplotypes did

not significantly differ in either block between case and control samples, suggesting the inheritance of these sets of loci are not a risk factor in schizophrenia.

The London data sample set from this study was a subset of samples from (Choudhury et al., 2007) study in which rs3087563, rs3168238, rs1815774, rs4938445, rs497768 were significantly associated with schizophrenia. When compared, data reveal a very similar frequency to those observed in Choudhury et al's study, and it is a possibility that despite the study having a high statistical power (power level 0.95, refer to 2.2.1), it is not high enough to produce a significant association (control n=498, case n=504). Alternatively, it is possible that data from the Choudury et al studies (Choudhury et al., 2006;Choudhury et al., 2007), have generated a false- positive association with schizophrenia. False-positive associations in genetic association studies may arise for a number of reasons including population stratification, which can arise when case-control samples are poorly matched for genetic ancestry. Allele frequencies are known to vary amongst different populations, these differences in allele frequencies between cases and controls can be wrongly interpreted as an association of genes with disease.

Population stratification can be tested by the genotyping of unlinked marker loci in both cases and controls (Pritchard & Rosenberg., 1999). However, the power to detect population stratification is often inadequate if only a few dozen markers are tested or if the markers are not informative of ancestry. The samples used in the Choudhury studies have been tested for population stratification, making this an unlikely reason behind the generation of falsepositive results. However, other factors such as the wrong use of statistical analysis model and human error could have generated false- positive results in the Choudhury studies.

Human error either during the testing procedure or bias during analysis can also lead to the production of false results. Efforts can be made in order to detect human errors, such as using genotyping repeat samples to ensure the same results are reached, including no- template controls in experiments, using automated genotype results calling, or having results called by two independent researchers. Re-genotyping using a technology different from that originally employed could also provide reassurance that the results are not due to genotyping error.

Given the concern for false-positive findings in studies implicating genes to a disease state, replication of results in new patient samples is crucial to determining the significance of a reported genetic association. However, lack of replication is not always indicative of false-positive results from previous sample sets, and can derive from a number of reasons, such as low power or low sample numbers, SNPs genotyped, poor study design and incorrect statistical models, variations in diagnosis, and assumptions or over interpretation of the data (Cardon and Bell., 2001). A number of reasons could be used to explain why this study did not replicate the Choudhury study in finding a significant association between FXYD6 and schizophrenia. It could be argued that the addition of the West of Scotland sample set would be associated with new environmental factors (refer to 1.7), differences in epigenetic modification of gene expression (refer to 1.8), as well as the possibility of differences in diagnostic criteria used to assess Schizophrenic patients. In addition, the following hypotheses of schizophrenia offer further explanations as to why positive associations between a disease state and genes can be hard to detect.

The 'common disease- common variants' hypothesis of schizophrenia, which states 'the genetic risk for common diseases will often be due to disease producing alleles found at relatively high frequency' (Pritchard and Cox., 2002;Becker., 2004) suggests it would be expected that genetic association studies with high enough sample numbers will detect causative alleles. If the 'common disease, common variants' model was applied to this study, where it is proposed that schizophrenia is a result of multiple common variants of modest effect, the effect of FXYD6 may contribute to schizophrenia phenotype albeit with too small an effect size to reach significance. However, recent studies are also suggesting schizophrenia is a common disease caused by multiple rare alleles. The 'common disease- rare alleles' hypothesis proposes mutations are highly penetrant and individually rare (Pritchard., 2001;McClellan et al., 2007). These types of mutations may be specific to patients/families, thereby making them difficult to identify, resulting in many mutations going undetected due to low significance. If the 'rare but highly penetrant allele' model is applied to this study, it could be suggested that statistical significance was not reached due to

the large number of non-pedigree samples used. This would introduce a large number of different risk mutations, diluting associations of rare but highly penetrant variants with schizophrenia. Furthermore, genetic analysis of tagging SNPs or haplotypes, rather than analysis of fully sequenced DNA may not provide adequate scrutinisation of risk DNA and rare disease-related variants may go undetected.

Due to the lack of clinical data provided with these samples, it is not possible to confirm this study is age- matched and sex- matched. As a result of this, limitations may occur. Lack of clinical data also limits further analyses of these samples, for example, investigating whether *FXYD6* acts as a sex-specific risk factor, which would be required to evaluate fully whether *FXYD6* is a risk factor for schizophrenia.

3.4.3FXYD6 and MAP2K7 epistasis

A gene's phenotype can be modified by the actions of a separate gene; association between SNPs which do not share the same chromosome can act as a biomarker for schizophrenia and similar disorders. It is possible FXYD6 becomes a risk factor for schizophrenia following epistatic interactions. Recently a genetic association between MAP2K7 and schizophrenia has been discovered (odds ratio ~1.9) (Winchester et al., 2012). MAP2K7 is located on chromosome 19 and the protein has been associated with the activation of JNK2, which has decreased expression in the frontal cortex of patients with schizophrenia (Funk., 2012). There are several different inheritance models which can be used to assess epistatic interactions to account for the number of copies of alleles required to alter the risk for a disease. For example, a polymorphism with two alleles, T and a risk allele C, could be tested as a 'recessive model', where two copies of C would be necessary to cause a risk, or a 'dominant mode' where a single copy of C could cause a risk, or a 'co-dominant model' which is the most generalised model and assumes alleles do not present an additive risk (Solé et al., 2006). A 'co-dominant model' was used in this study. Haplotypic analysis did not reveal an association between selected markers in FXYD6 and MAP2K7. MAP2K7 SNPs rs3679 and rs4804833 and FXYD6 SNPs rs3087563, rs497768, rs4938445, rs1815774, rs3168238, rs3885041 did not reveal any significant interactions

between *MAP2K7* and *FXYD6*, suggesting interaction of these genes is not a risk factor in susceptibility to schizophrenia.

3.4.4Conclusion

In conclusion, this study did not find an allelic or haplotypic association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a north European population. A number of influencing factors, such as environmental factors or genetic interactions may have contributed to the lack of association with schizophrenia, which has previously been observed in a similar genetic study. Epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* are not a risk factor in susceptibility to schizophrenia in a North European population.

Chapter 4. Molecular characterisation of FXYD6

4.1 Introduction

Despite three recent genetic association studies finding an association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a Caucasian population (Choudhury *et al.*, 2006;Choudhury *et al.*, 2007), and a Chinese Han population (Zhong et al., 2011), subsequent genetic association studies have failed to confirm an association in a similar Caucasian population, a Japanese population (Ito et al., 2008;Iwata et al., 2010) and a further Chinese Han population (Zhang et al., 2010). Therefore it remains ambiguous as to whether *FXYD6* is a risk factor in developing schizophrenia and what role it plays.

FXYD6 is known to be expressed in the brain (Kadowaki *et al.*, 2004;Stansberg *et al.*, 2011;Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2001) and several studies suggest a molecular association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia may exist. For example, it has recently been revealed that *Fxyd6* is strongly expressed in the rat forebrain (Ferra., 2006); a region that is responsible for cognitive, sensory and motor function and is highly associated with schizophrenia. In addition, the protein encoded by *Fxyd6* (often referred to as phosphohippolin), has been discovered by means of western blot analysis to have highest levels of expression in the postnatal rat brain during development (Kadowaki et al., 2004); a finding which may correlate with the theory that schizophrenia is a neurodevelopmental disorder.

FXYD6 has been shown to co-localise with the GABAergic interneuron marker parvalbumin in the inner ear (Delprat et al., 2007). Loss of parvalbumin cells has been associated with GABAergic signalling deficits in schizophrenia (Kadowaki *et al.*, 2004;Zhang & Reynolds, 2002;Beasley & Reynolds, 1997;Lewis *et al.*, 2005) and it is thought the inhibitory activity of parvalbumin GABAergic signalling can be mediated by the excitatory input derived from NMDA receptors on parvalbumin interneurons (Kinney et al., 2006). As deficits in glutamate and GABAergic neurotransmitters are leading neurochemical hypotheses of schizophrenia (refer to 1.6), it would therefore be interesting to investigate the role of *Fxyd6* in both GABAergic and glutamatergic circuitry in brain regions associated with memory and cognition. This can be explored using markers of GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons and neurotransmisson such as parvalbumin protein markers and glutamate receptor markers in regions such as the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus.

FXYD6 has also been shown to co-localise with Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α1 subunit in the inner ear and act as a modulator of the inner ear Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump (Delprat *et al.*, 2006;Delprat *et al.*, 2007). It is currently unknown whether FXYD6 also acts as a modulator of brain Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity however if this is the case it may provide a further link with schizophrenia. Not only is brain Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity associated with glutamate transport (Rose *et al.*, 2009;Pellerin & Magistretti., 1997), but it has also been implicated in several psychiatric disorders, with low Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity reported in schizophrenic and bipolar mood disorder patients (Goldstein *et al.*, 2006;Kurup *et al.*, 2001;Petronijevic *et al.*, 2003).

4.2 Aim

This chapter aims to determine if *Fxyd6 acts* as a modulator of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump and to investigate the molecular association between FXYD6 and schizophrenia-associated neurochemical markers. The following aims were explored in this chapter:

- Evaluation of the expression of *Fxyd6* and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase were investigated in the mouse brain using an *in situ* hybridisation technique. Mice homozygous for disrupted *Fxyd6* were utilised to evaluate the impact of lack of *Fxyd6* on and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α1 expression.
- Characterisation of the relationship between FXYD6 and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump was further explored by investigating the impact of the lack of *Fxyd6* on Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity in brain regions associated with schizophrenia.
- The impact of the lack of *Fxyd6* on glutamatergic and GABAergic pathways were investigated to explore whether neurochemical changes associated with schizophrenia are present in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Expression of Fxyd6 in the mouse brain

Hybridisation of a 33P- labelled probe designed to target *Fxyd6* mRNA confirmed the expression of *Fxyd6* in 20 μ m coronal adult mouse brain sections. Non-specific binding was determined using excess of 50x unlabelled probe (refer to 2.9.1) and was deducted from total binding to calculate the specific binding. Qualitative assessment of specific binding revealed *Fxyd6* has higher levels of expression in the following brain regions: secondary motor cortex, agranular insular cortex and prelimbic (PrL) area of the prefrontal cortex, cingulate cortex (Cg), claustrum (Cl), perirhinal cortex (PRh), dentate gyrus and the CA3 region of the hippocampus and cerebellar lobules of the cerebellum (Figure 4.1).

Nonspecific



Figure 4.1 Autoradiographic film showing Fxyd6 distribution in 20 μ m coronal mouse brain sections, as detected by *in situ* hybridisation.

Qualitative assessment revealed *Fxyd6* is expressed in a) the secondary motor cortex (M2) and the agranular insular (AI) cortex in the prefrontal cortex (bregma 2.10 mm) b) cingulate cortex (Cg) and claustrum (Cl) (bregma 1.18 mm) c) perirhinal cortex (PRh) (bregma -1.22 mm) d) posterior hypothalamic area (PH) dentate gyrus in the hippocampus (DG) (bregma - 1.82), e) CA3 region of the hippocampus (bregma -2.92 mm) f) cerebellar lobules of the cerebellum (bregma -6.00). Non-specific binding= 50x excess of unlabelled probe to indicate non-specific binding, total binding= antisense probe only, reference= brain regions according to the Allen Mouse Brain Atlas (Lein et al., 2006). Scale bar = 2mm. Arrows indicate relevant brain region.

4.3.2Fxyd6 total RNA and protein is significantly reduced in mice homozygous for Fxyd6 disruption

To investigate the potential functional link between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia, a novel strain of mouse containing two disrupted copies of Fxyd6 was obtained from Lexicon Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (refer to 2.3.1). Prior to molecular characterisation of these mice, validation of disruption of *Fxyd6* total RNA and protein was required. Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RTq-PCR) (refer to 2.7), in situ hybridisation (refer to 2.9) and western blotting techniques (refer to 2.6) were employed to confirm that homozygous disruption of Fxyd6 in mice results in lack of Fxyd6 total RNA and protein. 500 ng of total RNA was extracted from the frontal cortex and converted to cDNA from 3 adult mice homozygous for functioning Fxyd6 (referred to as Fxyd6^{+/+} mice) and 3 agematched littermate mice homozygous for disrupted Fxyd6 (referred to as Fxyd6 ⁷⁻ mice) were studied. RTq-PCR primers were designed to target *Fxyd6* at two sites in the gene (refer to 2.8.1). Fxyd6 m1 is designed to span the targeting vector insertion point across exon 1 and exon 2, and Fxyd6 g1 is designed to detect splice variants by targeting exon 3 and 4 (Fxyd6 g1). Using a geometric mean from three housekeeping genes (18s ribosomal RNA, B2M and GAPDH) analysis of cycle threshold values (CT values) revealed Fxyd6 m1 expression in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice is significantly reduced by a ratio of 0.001 (standard error of 0.000) - 0.003, p<0.001) and Fxyd6 g1 significantly reduced by a ratio of 0.001 (standard error 0.001- 0.00, p<0.001) in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, a ratio of 1 shows no effect, thus confirming null expression of Fxyd6 RNA following Fxyd6 disruption (Figure 4.2). The *in situ* hybridisation probe used in section 4.3.1 confirmed Fxyd6 homozygous disruption results in null expression of Fxyd6 RNA in the adult brain (Figure 4.3a-d), as observed in the following brain regions; prelimbic cortex, agranular insular cortex, cingulate cortex, claustrum, medial orbital cortex, primary and secondary motor cortex, striatum, nucleus accumbens, CA1, CA2, CA3 and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus and cerebellum. White matter in the cerebellum was used to normalise results (Genotype ($F_{1, 95} = 31.89, p < 0.001$).

To confirm that FXYD6 protein is disrupted in parallel with *Fxyd6* RNA reduction, western blotting analysis was utilised to establish *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice also lack FXYD6 protein (refer to 2.6). An antibody designed to target FXYD6 protein specifically produced a band of the correct size (15 kDa) in *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice. This band was absent in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, indicating null expression of FXYD6 protein (Figure 4.5e).



Figure 4.2 Fxyd6 cDNA relative expression is significantly reduced in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice.

Cycle threshold (CT) values for a) Fxyd6 g1 and b) Fxyd6 m1 are significantly reduced in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice (p< 0.001). Data represent expression ratio ± S.E.M. relative to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice samples. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice n=3, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice n=3



b











Figure 4.3 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice display disrupted Fxyd6 RNA and protein expression.

In situ hybridisation in 20 μ m sections reveals $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice have significantly lower Fxyd6 RNA expression, in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, a) prelimbic cortex (F1,7 = 15.47, p=0.008), b) motor cortex (F1,7 = 16.37, p=0.007), c) perirhinal cortex (F1,7 = 16.96, p<0.006) d) dentate gyrus (F1,7 = 14.54, p<0.009). Data represented as expression ratio of $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice \pm S.E.M

e) Western blotting confirms the disruption of *Fxyd6*, in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, results in the lack of FXYD6 protein expression, in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice. Lack of protein observed in 16 µg protein prefrontal cortex, striatum, hippocampus, cerebellum and brain stem samples. *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice n=3, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=3

4.3.3 Fxyd6 null expression increases Pvalb but not Map2k7 and GRIN1 RNA expression

To investigate if the disruption of *Fxyd6* impacts on the expression of *Pvalb* and also schizophrenia-associated gene *Map2k7* and the NMDA receptor gene *GRIN1*, RTqPCR (using probes designed to target these genes) was performed simultaneously with Fxyd6 m1 and Fxyd6 g1 probes (refer to 4.3.2). Using a geometric mean from three housekeeping genes (*18s ribosomal RNA*, *B2M* and *GAPDH*) analysis of cycle threshold values (C_T values) revealed *Pvalb* expression in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice is significantly increased by a ratio of 2.987 (standard error 1.431 - 5.598, *p*<0.05) in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice (Figure 4.4). Since a ratio of 1 shows no effect, thus revealing an interaction between *Fxyd6* and *Pvalb*.

Analysis of C_T values also revealed *Map2k7* and *Grin1* expression in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice does not significantly deviate from *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice (*Map2k7* expression ratio = 0.901, standard error ranging 0.681- 1.146, *Grin1* expression ratio= 0.541, standard error ranging 0.184 - 1.111) (Figure 4.4).

4.3.4Fxyd6 null expression does not impact on GLUR2, NR2A and GAD 65/67 protein expression

The involvement of *FXYD6* in the glutamatergic and GABAergic hypothesis of schizophrenia was explored further by western blotting technique. Antibodies designed to target glutamatergic receptor subunit proteins; AMPA receptor subunit GLUR1 and the NMDA receptor subunit NR2A together with the GABA synthesising enzyme glutamate decarboxylase 65/ 67, produced bands of the correct size (GluR1 102 kDa, NR2A 170 kDa, GAD 65/67 produced a doublet band at 65 kDa and 67 kDa) in both *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice. Disruption of *Fxyd6* did not have an impact on expression on any of the proteins investigated (Figure 4.5).



Figure 4.4 Pvalb RNA relative expression is significantly increased in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice.

The disruption

n of *Fxyd6* in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice a) does not alter *Grin1* expression or b) *Map2k7* expression however c) significantly increases *Pvalb* expression (***p< 0.001), data represent C_T values as a ratio of *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mouse expression. *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice n=3, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=3



Figure 4.5 Western blotting analysis reveals Fxyd6 disruption in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice does not impact on the expression of

- a) GLUR2 ($F_{(1,8)} = 0.15$), p>0.05.
- b) NR2A (F_(1,8) = 0.15), *p*>0.05.

c) GAD 65/67. ($F_{(1,8)}$ = 3.76), p>0.05. Data represent mean ± S.E.M. Data analysed using Student's t-test. N=4

4.3.5Impact of Fxyd6 null expression on Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in the forebrain and hippocampus

The Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in adult mice homozygous for *Fxyd6* deletion was investigated in 16 µg forebrain and hippocampus plasma membrane using an assay optimised to detect Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity via phosphate release (refer to 2.5). Crude plasma membrane extraction by sucrose fractionation was confirmed using 3 different antibodies by western blot (Figure 4.8a). NR2A antibody produces a band of the correct size of 170 kDa and shows highest expression in the fraction taken as crude plasma membrane fraction, confirming the fraction contains the plasma membrane (Figure 4.8a). H3 antibody is used as an indicator of nuclear fractions, and produces a band of the size at 17 kDa in fractions pellet2 and supernatant (Figure 4.8a). FXYD6 and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 1 subunit antibodies both show highest expression in the crude plasma membrane fraction (Figure 4.8a). In comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity was significantly decreased in the forebrain of the Fxyd6^{-/-} mice ($F_{(1,12)}$ = 7.90, p= 0.017, Figure 4.8b). However, despite a trend towards decreased Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in the hippocampus, the decrease in activity was not found to be significant ($F_{(1,14]}$ = 2.61, p= 0.130 Figure 4.8c). Following the finding that Fxyd6 disruption results in a significant decrease of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity, protein expression of adult mouse Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 1 subunit was subsequently examined in forebrain homogenates. Western blotting results revealed protein expression of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α subunit does not alter with the deletion of *Fxyd6* (F_{(1,9}= 2.61, *p*= 0.130 Figure 4.8d, Figure 4.8e).

The impact of lack of *Fxyd6* on Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase expression was further explored using *in situ* hybridisation technique with a probe designed to target $Na^+ K^+$ *ATPase a1* subunit (refer to 2.9). Quantitative analysis of autoradiogram films revealed $Na^+ K^+$ *ATPase a1* subunit expression is not changed in the following brain regions in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* compared to *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice : prelimbic cortex, medial orbital cortex, primary and secondary motor cortex, striatum, nucleus accumbens, CA1, CA2, CA3 and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus and cerebellum (genotype interaction (F_{1,82} = 0.09, *p*> 0.05, (representative









d





Fxyd6^{+/+} Fxyd6^{-/-}

Figure 4.6 Confirmation of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase expression in the plasma membrane and impact of *Fxyd6* disruption on Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity and protein

a) Expression of NR2A confirms the fraction in which FXYD6 and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase are expressed in is the plasma membrane (PM), marker histone H3 (H3) confirms pellet 2 (P2) and supernatant (SN) contain nuclear components P1= pellet 1 (refer to 2.5.1).

b) Forebrain Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity is significantly decreased following the disruption of *Fxyd6* in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice compared to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice $F_{(1,12)}$ = 7.90, * *p*= 0.017

c) Hippocampal Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice does not significantly deviate from *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice $F_{(1,14)}$ =2.61, p=0.130.

d) Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 1 subunit protein expression is not affected by *Fxyd6* disruption in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, compared to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice. Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M nMol Pi/min/mg protein.

e) Representative western blot images showing Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 1 subunit protein expression is not affected by *Fxyd6* disruption in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice, compared to *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice.. Data analysed using Student's t-test.



Figure 4.7 Representative autoradiographic film and expression levels of $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$. Arrows indicate relevant brain region. Levels do not differ between $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ (n=3) and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice (n=4) in:

- a) The prelimbic cortex ($F_{1,6}$ =0.29, p>0.05)
- b) The CA1 region of the hippocampus ($F_{1,6}$ =0.08, p>0.05)
- c) The CA2 region of the hippocampus ($F_{1,6}$ =0.03, p>0.05)
- d) The dentate gyrus ($F_{1,6}$ =0.03, p>0.05)

4.4 Discussion

4.4.1 Fxyd6 mRNA brain expression

In this present work, I have confirmed Fxyd6 mRNA is expressed in various regions of the mouse brain. Two regions which are of particular interest that show strong Fxyd6 expression are the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus. These two regions have been repeatedly associated with the symptoms of schizophrenia (refer to 4.3.1) and are therefore of significance in mouse models of this disorder. Decreased functioning and metabolism in the prefrontal cortex (hypofrontality) has been associated with schizophrenia symptoms, furthermore, impaired cognitive tasks such as decision making are also attributed to the altered functioning of this region. Impairments in the functioning of the hippocampus have also been associated with deficits in spatial learning, and connectivity networks between the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus are thought to be responsible for many areas of cognition and memory consolidation, in particular working memory (Laroche *et al.*, 2000;Yoon *et al.*, 2008). Although Fxyd6 mRNA is strongly expressed in these regions, qualitative western blot analysis of FXYD6 protein expression would be required to investigate whether there is also a potential functional role of FXYD6 in these regions and associated pathways. If FXYD6 showed expression in these regions, it would suggest Fxyd6^{-/-} mice may exhibit impairments in cognition and related phenotypes.

4.4.2Fxyd6 DNA and protein is significantly reduced in mice homozygous for Fxyd6 disruption

In order to further characterise *Fxyd6* and evaluate the impact of *Fxyd6* in the modulation of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity modulation I utilised a mouse homozygous for the disruption of *Fxyd6* (*Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice) (*Lexicon Pharmaceuticals Incorporated., 2007*). In these mice I also investigated the role of FXYD6 in pathways associated with schizophrenia, such as the GABAergic and glutamatergic pathways. *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice were created via the insertion of a trapping cassette upstream of exon1 in *Fxyd6* (*Lexicon Pharmaceuticals Incorporated., 2007*). To confirm that insertion of the cassette results in the full disruption of *Fxyd6* and FXYD6 protein transcripts, two RTqPCR primers were designed to target *Fxyd6* across exon 1 and 2 and exon 3 and 4. This ensures that

if alternative splicing has occurred following the insertion of the trapping vector upstream of exon1, short transcripts expressing exons 1 and 2 and longer transcripts also expressing exons 3 and 4, will be detected. *Fxyd6* expression levels were quantified using cDNA converted from *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mouse- derived RNA. Results revealed significant disruption of both splice variants of *Fxyd6* in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice. To ensure results are truly representative of physiological RNA expression, a geometric mean of 3 housekeeping genes was used as reference to normalise samples. This method is better than using only one housekeeping gene as it reduces the risk of genotype-related changes in expression of any individual housekeeping gene.

Fxyd6 expression in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice was examined further using *in situ* hybridisation. Dramatically reduced expression of *Fxyd6* was apparent throughout the brain. Despite these results in conjunction with RTqPCR results clearly indicating *Fxyd6* RNA has been reduced in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, and therefore suggesting protein expression will also be disrupted, it is still important to evaluate FXYD6 protein expression in the mice, to exclude residual alternative splicing, or remaining low levels of RNA transcripts. I have shown that FXYD6 protein was also knocked out in the mice using western blotting. These results confirm *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice are suitable to be used as a tool for investigating the molecular properties of FXYD6.

4.4.3Fxyd6 null expression increases Pvalb but not Map2k7 and GRIN1 RNA expression

In situ hybridisation interestingly revealed an up-regulation of *Pvalb* expression in the frontal cortex of *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice. *Pvalb* is a marker of a subtype of GABAergic interneurons and reduced parvalbuminexpressing interneuron density has been previously associated with schizophrenia (Kinney *et al.*, 2006;Abekawa *et al.*, 2007);(Korotkova *et al.*, 2010). It would therefore be interesting to futher investigate whether the expression in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice is due to reduced *Pvalb* expression in neurons, or a reduction in the number of neurons expressing *Pvalb*. Although this is an interesting avenue to explore, further confirmation of altered parvalbumin expression in these mice is required, such as increased sample numbers (n = 3 in this study) and a confirmation of a functional association between FXYD6 and parvalbumin proteins in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice would also be needed.

Reduced expression of *MAP2K7* has recently been reported in post-mortem prefrontal cortex brain samples from schizophrenic patients (Winchester *et al.*, 2012). However change in expression was not observed in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice, suggesting there is no interaction between these two genes. Glutamate dysfunction is also associated with the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and glutamate transport has also been linked to the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump (Nanitsos *et al.*, 2004;Nanitsos *et al.*, 2005), and so the role of FXYD6 in this circuitry was explored by investigating RNA expression of *Grin1*, a NMDA glutamate receptor subunit reported to be involved in memory and learning (Bannerman., 2008), however this was also not affected by *Fxyd6* disruption, which may be due to small n numbers (n=3).

4.4.4FXYD6 disruption does not impact on GLUR2, NR2A and GAD 65/67 protein expression

As previously mentioned (refer to 4.4.3), parvalbumin and GABAergic neurotransmission is reduced in schizophrenia. In addition, the activity of glutamic-acid-decarboxylase (GAD), an enzyme which differentially contributes to GABA synthesis, is also dysregulated (Dracheva *et al.*, 2004;Addington *et al.*, 2004). GAD 65/67 protein expression was investigated in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, using the western blotting technique, to further investigate an interaction between FXYD6 and GABAergic neurotransmission. However *Fxyd6* disruption does not have a significant impact on expression in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice.

Glutamate dysfunction in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice was further explored by investigating NR2A and AMPA subunit expressions. The role NMDA glutamate receptor subunit NR2A (GluN2A) in the PFC in schizophrenia is not well characterised, however decreased expression of NR2A in parvalbumin neurons has been observed in the PFC of schizophrenia brains (Bitanihirwe et al., 2009). The key AMPA subunit, GLUR2 (GluA2), also has altered expression in schizophrenia brains (Eastwood et al., 1995;Eastwood et al., 1997), however both of these receptor subunits do not have altered protein expression in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice compared to *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice,

suggesting the disruption of *Fxyd6* does not impact on these subunits in the glutamatergic system.

4.4.5FXYD6 modulates Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity in the forebrain

To investigate whether FXYD6 plays a modulatory role of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity, plasma membrane was extracted from the frontal cortex and hippocampus of mice using a sucrose fractionation method. The fraction containing plasma membrane was confirmed using antibodies targeting NR2A and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 1 as both are present in the plasma membrane of mammalian cells.

The Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase-specific inhibitor ouabain was used as a means of detecting $Na^{+} K^{+} ATP$ as specific activity in plasma membrane. The results revealed a decrease in activity in the forebrain of Fxyd6^{-/-} mice. This is the first time that FXYD6 has been shown to be a modulator of brain $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase activity. A nonsignificant trend towards decreased Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity was observed in the hippocampus, an increase in n number may be required to reach statistical power. Despite the altered activity of forebrain Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity, Na⁺ K^+ ATPase $\alpha 1$ RNA and protein expression were not affected by Fxyd6 homozygous disruption. The mechanism behind how FXYD6 modulates the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity is unclear however it has been suggested that the FXYD proteins are non-essential modulators of the α/β complex of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump and act to regulate the kinetics of the pump in a tissue-specific manner (refer to 1.12.2). To further investigate the interaction and modulation of the $Na^{+} K^{+} ATPase$ pump, it would be interesting to use immunocytochemistry technique using antibodies targeted to the relevant proteins to investigate the cellular expression of these proteins in relation to each other. Immunoprecipitation would also be a good technique to employ to investigate interactions between these proteins. These methods would allow further insight in to whether the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump and FXYD6 proteins interact by directly associating with one another.

4.5 Conclusion

This chapter has provided an insight in the molecular profile of FXYD6. *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice have been validated as having *Fxyd6* DNA, RNA and protein disruption and utilised as a tool to elucidate information on the molecular functioning of FXYD6.

Fxyd6 was shown to be expressed in a number of regions of the brain including the forebrain and hippocampus, two regions of interest in schizophrenia. Furthermore, although the disruption of *Fxyd6* does not appear to have an impact on glutamatergic receptor expression, *Pvalb* was found to have increased expression in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, this suggests a potential interaction between FXYD6 and GABAergic neuronal activity however this area requires further evidence to confirm an interaction exists.

We have confirmed FXYD6 modulates brain $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$ activity in the frontal cortex, whilst the interaction between FXYD6 and $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$ does not manifest through alteration of protein expression; further experiments could be conducted to elucidate the means of interaction between FXYD6 and $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$.

Due to the expression of *Fxyd6* in the prefrontal cortex, the impairment of *Fxyd6* in *Fxyd6* $^{-/-}$ mice could have the potential to disrupt memory and learning. The phenotype of these mice would therefore be an interesting area to investigate.

Chapter 5. Phenotype of mice containing disrupted Fxyd6 and similarities to cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia.

5.1 Introduction

The molecular characterisation of FXYD6 (refer to Chapter 4) provides novel evidence which further supports a role of *FXYD6* in schizophrenia and similar disorders associated with impaired cognition. *Fxyd6* was shown to be expressed in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus, two brain regions highly implicated in schizophrenia. The targeted disruption of a gene in an animal model provides an excellent tool to research the role of a desired gene in disease pathology, however molecular and behavioural characterisation are both required to validate the model as being representative of a disorder.

The expression pattern of *Fxyd6* in the brain (refer to 4.3.1) indicates it may be involved in cognition and memory. The prefrontal cortex plays a major role in working and executive memory. Dysfunction in associated circuitry are thought to underlie many of the cognitive symptoms of schizophrenia such as deficits in working and executive memory, task switching and decision making (Kim et al., 2009; Heerey et al., 2008). Clinical, neuropsychological and neuroimaging studies have all implicated dysfunction of the prefrontal cortex in the pathology of schizophrenia (Chai et al., 2011; Pomarol-Clotet et al., 2010). The hippocampus is also a key structure implicated in the symptoms of schizophrenia. It is responsible for memory and spatial learning (Gaffan., 1985;Olton and Paras., 1979). Furthermore, connectivity networks between the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus are thought to be responsible for many areas of cognition and memory consolidation, in particular working memory (Laroche et al., 2000; Yoon et al., 2008). The presence of Fxyd6 in these brain regions alone make this an interesting mouse model to investigate as a model of schizophrenia. However the potential interaction of Fxyd6 in GABAergic neuronal activity (refer to 4.4.3), as observed by increased *Pvalb* expression in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice , further suggests *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice may exhibit a phenotype analogous to symptoms observed in schizophrenia.

Currently not much information is known on the role of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in behaviour. Mice homozygous for the genetic disruption of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase subunits $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, or $\alpha 3$ are all embryonically lethal, however heterozygous disruption of each subunit results in altered locomotor activity in response to amphetamine, impaired memory and spatial learning, and increased anxiety (Moseley et al.,

2007). Furthermore, it has been suggested Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase is required for memory consolidation (Wyse et al., 2004;Sato et al., 2004). *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice exhibit decreased Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in the prefrontal cortex (refer to 4.3.5) and may therefore have deficits in memory, locomotor and/or increased anxiety as a result of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase dysfunction.

5.2 Hypothesis and aim

FXYD6 has been shown to be expressed in brain regions associated with working and executive memory, and consolidation of memory; therefore the targeted disruption of *Fxyd6* may result in cognitive deficits, a symptom associated with schizophrenia. The targeted genetic disruption of *Fxyd6* may reveal further association with symptoms of schizophrenia as the disruption Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α subunit has been shown to induce deficits in locomotor activity and increase anxiety-like behaviours. The genetic disruption of *Fxyd6* results in decreased Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity and *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice may therefore show similar phenotypes.

The aim of this chapter is to provide a phenotypic characterisation of mice homozygous for disrupted Fxyd6 ($Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice), in order to elucidate the *in vivo* role of Fxyd6 and determine if $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice represent a rodent model of schizophrenia-related behaviours. The strain's basic phenotype is investigated using a battery of assessments, followed by more challenging behavioural tests designed to investigate specific traits such as anxiety, locomotor activity, sensorimotor gating and cognitive deficits.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice have a normal primary phenotype

In comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice (n= 10) the disruption of Fxyd6 in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice (n=10) did not induce significant abnormalities in basic behaviours tested by the primary phenotype screen (Table.5.1) and motor coordination and balance, as tested by rotarod, both appeared unaffected by the disruption of Fxyd6 (Table 5.1, refer to 2.10.2).

5.3.2Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not differ from Fxyd6^{+/+} in plus maze performance

In order to investigate the impact of lack of *Fxyd6* on anxiety related behaviours, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mouse performance in the elevated plus maze was analysed (refer to 2.10.3). In comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice (n=10), *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice (n=10) did not reveal any significant changes in anxiety related behaviours, as detected by no significant differences in zone duration ($F_{1,79}$ =0.299), *p*>0.05), zone entry frequency ($F_{1,79}$ =0.228, *p*>0.05), distance travelled ($F_{1,19}$ =0.99, *p*>0.05) and mean velocity ($F_{1,19}$ =0.99, *p*>0.05, Table 5.2) n=10 per group.

Location	Phenotype	Genotype		Significance
		Fxyd6 ^{+/+}	Fxyd6 ^{-/-}	
In Arena	Body position	1±0	1±0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Spontaneous activity	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Tremor	0±0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Urination	0.4	0.6	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Defecation	1.2	1	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Bizarre behaviours	0±0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Convulsions	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Palebral Closure	0±0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Piloerection	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Gait	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Pelvic elevation	1±0	1±0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Tail elevation	1±0	1±0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Pinna reflex	0±0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
Restrained	Cornea reflex	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Provoked biting	0 ± 0	0.1 ± 0.1	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Trunk curl	1±0	1±0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Visual placing	1±0	1±0	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Hanging wire 1	55.0±5	56.5 ± 3.5	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Hanging wire 2	60.0 ± 0	51.5 ± 5.7	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Hanging wire 3	60.0 ± 0	54.9 ± 5.1	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Hanging wire average	58.3 ±1.7	54.3 ± 4.4	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Rotarod 1	85.9 ± 15.6	131.2 ± 19.9	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Rotarod 2	130.7 ± 21.6	107.7 ± 14.1	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Rotarod 3	155.6 ± 25.0	144.4 ± 18.2	<i>p</i> >0.05
	Rotarod average	124.1 ± 16.8	127.8 ± 14.9	<i>p</i> >0.05

Table.5.1 Summary of primary phenotype screen performed on mice homozygous for Fxyc
(Fxyd6 ^{+/+}) and mice homozygous for Fxyd6 deletion (Fxyd6 ^{-/-}).

Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not significantly differ from *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice in any parameters tested in the primary phenotype screen. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM, n = 10. Data analysed by Student's t-test.
		
1)111	'at	inn
Dui	aι	ισπ

Frequency

Zone	Fxyd6+/+	Fxyd6-/-	Significance
Centre	101.1 ± 9.4	93.6 ± 6.3	p =0.99, ns
Zone 1	166.7 ± 14.8	163.7 ± 10.9	p =0.99, ns
Zone 2	26.9 ± 7.7	32.2 ± 7.2	p =0.67, ns
Zone 3	4.9 ± 2.7	10.1 ± 4.5	p =0.89 ns

В

А

Zone	Fxyd6+/+	Fxyd6-/-	Significance
Centre	24.8 ± 2.0	25.7 ± 1.8	p =0.99, ns
Zone 1	19.4 ± 1.8	19.3 ± 2.0	p =1.00, ns
Zone 2	7.1 ± 1.8	10.3 ± 1.3	p =0.99, ns
Zone 3	0.8 ± 0.4	2.5 ± 0.9	p =0.84, ns

r	-	
L	-	

Parameter	Fxyd6+/+	Fxyd6-/-	Significance
Distance travelled (cm)	1218.2 ± 57.0	1297.6 ± 45.7	p =0.28, ns
Mean velocity (cm/s)	4.1 ± 0.2	4.3 ± 0.2	p =0.28, ns

Table 5.2 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not display abnormal anxiety-related behaviours in the elevated plus maze, in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice.

Performance in the elevated plus maze did not differ between $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice in the following parameters

a) duration (seconds) (F_{1,79}=0.299, p> 0.05)

b) frequency of entering zones in the EPM ($F_{1, 79}$ =0.228, p> 0.05 and

c) Distance travelled (T=0.99, p > 0.05) and mean velocity (T=0.99, p > 0.05) travelled in all zones. Zone 1= closed arm total, zone 2= $2/3^{rds}$ open arm, zone 3= $1/3^{rd}$ open arm (refer to 2.10.4) Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. N=10 per group. Duration and frequency analysed using ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. Distance and mean velocity analysed by Student's t-test.

5.3.3Fxyd6^{-/-} mouse performance in open field with pharmacological challenges

Anxiety-like behaviours in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice were further evaluated using the open field behavioural test (refer to 2.10.42.10.5). During analysis of data, the open field arena was split into three zones, inner, thigmotaxis and outer (refer to 2.10.4). In addition, normal functioning of the mesolimbic dopamine pathway was investigated by assessing hyperlocomotor activity following administration of amphetamine and similarly assessing ability of NMDA neurotransmission following the administration of ketamine.

Amphetamine challenge

 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice did not differ from $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice in the duration of time spent in individual zones, and did not show altered sensitivity to amphetamine in hyperlocomotor activity, as described below:

Genotype did not significantly affect the duration of time spent in zones ($F_{1,119}$ =0.01, p>0.05) and there was no overall interaction between treatment and genotype ($F_{1,119}$ =0.07, p>0.05) (Figure 5.1a). Administration of 3 mg/kg amphetamine had a significant overall interaction with zone ($F_{2,119}$ = 17.63, p<0.001). Tukey's *post hoc* analysis reveals that amphetamine treated mice spend significantly less time in the centre duration compared to mice administered saline (p<0.001) and more time in the outer zone (p<0.001). Time spent in the thigmotaxis zone does not significantly differ in response to amphetamine (p>0.05). n= 10 per group (Figure 5.1a).

Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not significantly differ from *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice in velocity ($F_{1,479}$ =306, *p*=0.08). Administration of 3 mg/kg amphetamine significantly increases velocity in both genotypes ($F_{1,39}$ =4126, *p*<0.001), however there is no significant interaction between amphetamine and genotype ($F_{1,39}$ =1.59, *p*>0.05, Figure 5.1b).

Total distance travelled during the testing stage is not affected by genotype $(F_{1,39}=0.32, p>0.05)$, however overall amphetamine significantly increases

distance travelled ($F_{1,39}$ =43.68, *p*<0.001) but does not have a significant interaction with genotype ($F_{1,39}$ =0.17, *p*>0.05) Figure 5.2. n= 10 per group.

Ketamine challenge

Fxyd6^{-/-} mice did not differ from *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice in the duration of time spent in individual zones, despite one group revealing a higher baseline velocity (*Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice prior to receiving 10 mg/kg ketamine in comparison to *Fxyd6^{+/+}* mice) no significant differences were observed following ketamine treatment, as described below:

Administration of treatment (saline, 10 mg/kg ketamine or 25 mg/kg ketamine) does not have an overall significant effect on duration in zones in the open field ($F_{2,152}$ = 0.84, *p*>0.05, Figure 5.3a). There was not an overall effect of genotype on duration spent in zones ($F_{1,152}$ =0.14, *p*>0.05) or interaction between drug and genotype ($F_{1,152}$ =0.07, *p*>0.05). Duration spent in zones significantly differed from one another ($F_{2,152}$ =191.20, *p*<0.001) n= 10 per group.

Mean velocity of movement of $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice was analysed during the habituation period and following ketamine administration. During the habituation period, treatment (saline, ketamine 10mg/kg and 25 mg/kg) did not influence velocity ($F_{2.305}$ =0.24, p>0.05), however genotype did have a significant effect ($F_{1,305}$ =10.23, p=0.002). Tukey's post hoc analysis revealed Fxyd6^{-/-} mice in treatment group 10 mg/kg ketamine have a higher basal velocity, prior to receiving treatment, compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice (p=0.02), this is not observed between any of the other groups (p>0.05). During the test stage, treatment does not have a significant effect on velocity over the 60 minute period $(F_{2.566}=0.20, p>0.05)$ however during the 10 minutes succeeding treatment administration (time point 35-45 minutes) treatment has an overall significant impact ($F_{2,140}=26.33$, p<0.001), this effect does not differ between Fxyd6^{-/-} mice *Fxvd6*^{+/+} mice (F_{2.140}=2.27, *p*>0.05) (Figure 5.3b). Tukey's *post hoc* analysis demonstrates 10 mg/kg ketamine and 25 mg/kg both induce an overall significant effect in comparison to saline (10 mg/kg p=0.03, 25 mg/kg p<0.001). $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=10, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=7.







Figure 5.1 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not exhibit altered locomotor activity responses to amphetamine in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice in the open field test.

a) Analysis of duration spent in centre, inner and outer zones of the open field arena reveal $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not significantly differ from $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, suggesting the homozygous disruption of Fxyd6 does not impact on anxiety-related behaviours ($F_{1,119}$ =1.08, p>0.05). Administration of 3mg/kg of amphetamine (amp) overall significantly increases anxiety-related behaviours in $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice, as observed by a decrease in time spent in the centre of the arena in both genotypes ($F_{2,119}$ = 17.63, p<0.001). In comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not show hypersensitivity to amphetamine challenge ($F_{1,59}$ = 0.04, p>0.05). *** p<0.001 overall amphetamine vs. saline affect on duration

b) Mean velocity in $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ are both increased following the administration of amphetamine (amp) after a 30 minute habituation period ($F_{1,479}$ =4126, p<0.001), $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not differ from their $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ littermates in their response to amphetamine ($F_{1,479}$ =306, p>0.05). n=10 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. n=10 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. \downarrow represents time of treatment administration



Figure 5.2 *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice do not show altered sensitivity to amphetamine in the open field test

Analysis of distance travelled during the testing stage of open field did not reveal a significance difference between $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice ($F_{1,39}=0.32$, p>0.05). Administration of 3mg/kg of amphetamine significantly increases the overall distance travelled ($F_{1,39}=43.68$, p<0.001), the effect of amphetamine is not influenced by genotype ($F_{1,39}=0.17$, p>0.05) Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. ***p<0.001.







Figure 5.3 Fxyd6^{-/-} do not reveal sensitivity to ketamine in the open field test.

a) Analysis of duration spent in centre, inner and outer zones of the open field arena reveal $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not significantly differ from $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice ($F_{1,152}=0.14$, p>0.05). Administration of 10 mg/kg and 25 mg/kg ketamine (ket), using a cross-over treatment regime, does not significantly affect anxiety- like behaviours in both $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice, as observed by no change in time spent in the arena zones ($F_{2.152}=0.84$, p>0.05).

b) Velocity of $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice were both significantly increased in response to ketamine over time points 35-45 minutes (F_{2,140}=26.33, p<0.001) however there is not a drug x genotype interaction (F_{2,140}=2.27, p>0.05). Key: * 10 mg/kg ketamine (ket 10) vs. saline p=0.03, # 25 mg/kg ketamine (ket 25) vs. saline p<0.001). $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=10, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=7. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. \downarrow represents time of treatment administration

5.3.4Fxyd6^{-/-} acoustic startle

Prior to conducting PPI, acoustic startle was examined to ensure PPI results were not confounded by alterations in hearing (refer to 2.10.5). Startle responses from mice homozygous for *Fxyd6* null expression did not significantly differ from mice homozygous for *Fxyd6* expression ($F_{1,143}$ =0.08, *p*> 0.05, Figure 6.7) suggesting lack of *Fxyd6* does not affect hearing. n=10 per group.

5.3.5Fxyd6^{-/-} sensorimotor gating

As predicted ketamine induced overall deficits in sensorimotor gating. Deficits in sensorimotor gating in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice are only apparent following administration of 10 mg/kg ketamine, but not saline or 25 mg/kg ketamine, as described below (refer to 2.10.5):

As expected, prepulse levels also had a significant impact on sensorimotor gating ($F_{2,206}$ =45.86, *p*<0.001). Overall PPI results reveal *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice have significantly altered PPI compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice (F_{1,206}=6.15, p=0.01). There is also an overall effect of treatment (saline, 10 mg/kg ketamine, 25 mg/kg ketamine) ($F_{2,206}$ =8.75, p<0.001) and a significant interaction between genotype and treatment ($F_{2,206}$ =4.94, p=0.01). The response to the size of prepulse is not affected by genotype ($F_{2,206}=0.22$, p>0.05), or by treatment ($F_{4,1,12}$, p>0.05). Tukey's post hoc exposes Fxyd6^{-/-} mice only reveal PPI deficits, in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice, following treatment with 10 mg/kg ketamine (p=0.03), but not saline (p>0.05) or 25 mg/kg ketamine (p>0.05). However, post hoc analysis revealed there is no deficits at individual prepulses; at prepulse 4, both genotype ($F_{1.68}$ =2.32, p>0.05) and treatment ($F_{2.68}$ =0.341) do not significantly impact on PPI responses. Similarly, at prepulse 8 both genotype ($F_{1,68}$ =0.78, p>0.05) and treatment (F_{2.68}=2.04) also do alter PPI response. At prepulse 16, treatment significantly inhibits PPI overall ($F_{1,68}$ =6.54, p=0.003) but not genotype does not affect the response ($F_{1,68}$ =6.54, p>0.05). n=10 per group.



а

Figure 5.4 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not display hearing loss but do have prepulse inhibition deficits, compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice.

a) Startle magnitude to auditory stimuli of 65 dB, 69 dB, 73 dB, 77 dB, 85 dB, 90 dB, 100 dB, 110 dB, 120 dB intensities did not differ between $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice ($F_{1,143}$ = 0.08, p> 0.05) suggesting disruption of Fxyd6 does not impact on hearing. n=10 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons.

b) Effect of ketamine treatment (10 or 25 mg/kg) on PPI in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice. Prepulse inhibition of the startle response was overall significantly lowered in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice ($F_{1,206}$ =6.15, p=0.01) and 10 mg/kg ketamine had less effect on $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice overall ($F_{1,206}$ =6.15, p=0.01). However, genotype and treatment individually did not have a significant effect at each prepulse level (p>0.05). n=10 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. Data shown as mean ±S.E.M.

$5.3.6Fxyd6^{-t}$ mouse sociability and social novelty.

Fxyd6^{+/+} and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice both demonstrated a strong preference for exploring the chamber containing a strange mouse, in comparison to the empty chamber ($F_{2,29}$ =48.36, *p*<0.001), demonstrating similar levels of mouse sociability (Figure 5.5a). The disruption of *Fxyd6* in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice did not appear to have an impact on levels of sociability, as observed by no differences in the duration of time spent exploring the chamber containing a mouse, in comparison to *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice ($F_{1,29}$ =0.00, *p*>0.05), and also there was no genotype*zone interaction ($F_{2,29}$ =0.12, *p*=0.884) (Figure 5.5a). *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=7, *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=6.

When a novel mouse was added to the arena in the social novelty aspect of this task (refer to 2.10.7), zones had a significant impact on duration ($F_{2,29}$ =22.95, p<0.001), Tukey's *post hoc* analysis reveals only *Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice display significantly more time investigating the novel mouse compared to the now familiar mouse (*Fxyd6*^{+/+} p=0.003, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} p<0.05) (Figure 5.5b). This suggests *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice may have deficits in social novelty. Time spent in each zone did not significantly differ between *Fxyd6*^{+/+} and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice (p>0.05). *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=7, *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=6.

5.3.7Fxyd6^{-/-} mouse sucrose preference

A sucrose consumption test was performed as a measure of anhedonia in mice (refer to 2.10.8). Genotype did not have an overall impact on % of sucrose consumption over 5 days ($F_{1,50}$ =2.40, p>0.05), there was a significant effect of day ($F_{4,50}$ =3.31, p=0.02) however this was not affected by genotype ($F_{4,50}$ =0.23, p>0.05) (Figure 5.6). The average % sucrose consumed over the 5 day period was also not significantly affect by genotype (p>0.05). *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=7, *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=6.



Figure 5.5 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice do not have sociability deficits however do not show social novelty.

a) $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice both displayed sociability, as observed by significantly more time spent interacting with the stranger side of the arena, compared to the empty side ($F_{2,29}$ =48.36, p<0.001). Genotype did not have an effect on levels of sociability ($F_{1,29}$ =0.00, p>0.05) ***p<0.001. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=6. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for multiple comparisons.

b) Only $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice displayed significant sociability, as observed by significantly more time spent interacting with a novel mouse (stranger side), in comparison to the now familiar mouse (familiar side).= ($Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice p=0.003, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice p>0.05). $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=6. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. ** p<0.01



Figure 5.6 Fxyd6^{-/-} mice also do not show deficits in a model to detect anhedonia.

Genotype did not have an overall impact on % of sucrose consumption during single days and in total over a 5 day period, suggesting that $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not suffer from anhedonia ($F_{1,50}$ =2.40, p>0.05), $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=6. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons.

5.3.8Fxyd6^{-/-} mouse performance in a delayed non-match to sample task

Results from the delayed non-match to sample task revealed that $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice have difficulty with working memory following a 5 second delay, as shown by significantly fewer correct trials (F_{1,12}=10.44, *p*=0.008, Figure 5.7a), inter trial delays were kept constant. There were no significant differences at intra-trial delays of 15 seconds (*p*>0.05) and 30 seconds (F_{1,12}=0.65, *p*>0.05). *Fxyd6*^{+/+} and *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice do not differ in perseverative responding as measured by two or more consecutive incorrect trials (F_{1,12}=2.31, *p*>0.05, Figure 5.7b) or the % of overall trials correct (F_{1,12}=3.17, *p*>0.05, Figure 5.7c). *Fxyd6*^{+/+} n=7, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} n=6.





Figure 5.7 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice have deficits in working memory.

a) In comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice have deficits in working memory when encountering a delay of 5 seconds ($F_{1,12}$ =10.44, p=0.008) but not 15 (p<0.05) and 30 seconds ($F_{1,12}$ =0.65, p=0.438). $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=6. Data analysed by Student's t-test with the exception of delay at 15 which was analysed by Mann-Whitney non-parametric test. **p<0.01

b) $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ do not have significantly increased perseverative response in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice (F_{1,12}=2.31, p>0.05). **p<0.01

c) Overall % trials correct does not differ between $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice. $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ n=7, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ n=6. Data analysed by Student's t-test . **p<0.01

5.4 Discussion

The effect of the homozygous disruption of *Fxyd6* on phenotype was investigated using a range of tests. These were no gross deficits however there is evidence for subtle phenotype alterations in particular tests.

5.4.1 Primary phenotype screen

The primary phenotype screen comprising of a battery of tests based on the SHIRPA screen (Rogers et al., 1997) was initially performed on Fxyd6^{-/-} mice in order to detect manifestation of abnormal behaviours such as spontaneous activity, aggressiveness, neuromuscular abnormalities, convulsions general condition of coat and eye reflexes. For the full list of criteria refer to (refer to 2.10.1). The screen is initiated by viewing undisturbed mouse behaviour in a clear observation arena. The screening is an imperative process that should be carried out as a first line of phenotyping for any novel mouse strain as such effects could impact on subsequent behaviours and confound interpretation of results in more specific tests. In this study, $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice undergo various behavioural tests where results could be misinterpreted due to deficits in motor control or muscle fatigue, or tremors or convulsions. The primary phenotyping screen did not indicate abnormal behaviours in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, and rotarod and grip strength aimed to detect poor motor performance, co-ordination and balance also did not differ between mouse genotypes. Therefore deficits in subsequent behavioural tests such as locomotor activity, social interaction and working memory are likely to be a true indication of a role for Fxyd6 in behaviour and cognition, rather than nonspecific confounds.

5.4.2Anxiety-related behaviours in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice

Mouse performance in the elevated plus maze was analysed in order to assess the effect of *Fxyd6* disruption on anxiety-related behaviours. The elevated plus maze uses anxiety-related conflict that arises between the mouse's natural preference for dark enclosed space, compared to the drive to explore a novel environment (Lister., 1987). Mice with high levels of anxiety will avoid the bright open arms of the maze. *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice did not show altered anxiety-related behaviours when compared to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice during the 5 minutes allowed to explore the elevated plus maze.

Anxiety levels in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice were further explored, along with locomotor activity, using the open field test. In order to analyse anxiety-related behaviours in the open field arena further, the arena was split into 3 zones during data analysis. The 'centre zone' indicates the amount of time the mouse spends in the centre of the arena, indicating increased exploratory behaviour in the mouse, while the outer zone represents the time spent in the rest of the arena. The outer zone was further split to analyse thigmotaxis. Similarly to the elevated plus maze, the open field test assesses anxiety arising from the mouse's urge to explore the open centre of the arena, compared to the anxietyinduced preference to stay close to the wall (thigmotaxis). In accordance with the plus maze, $Fxyd6^{-1}$ mice did not reveal an increased anxiety phenotype in the open field arena. Mice heterozygous for the deletion of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase a1-subunit also do not display increased anxiety-related behaviours (Moseley et al., 2007) Since molecular characterisation of Fxvd6^{+/+} mice revealed colocalisation between FXYD6 protein and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 1-subunit (refer Chapter 4), and functional studies link FXYD6 with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase subunit (Delprat et al., 2007a, Delprat et al., 2007b) this suggests that Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase modulation in the PFC or hippocampus is a key factor controlling anxiety.

The administration 3mg/kg amphetamine significantly of induced hyperlocomotion and as a result, distance travelled in both $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice was also increased. In comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice, $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice did not reveal any increased sensitivity to amphetamine. Amphetamine induced hyperlocomotion is an expected result and confirms the validity of the experiment (Ralph et al., 2001). Amphetamine increased anxiety levels in both genotypes; again the effect was not affected by genotype. Amphetamineinduced hyperlocomotion are a result of increased dopamine in the synapse in the mesolimbic system (Costall et al., 1987; Pijnenburg et al., 1976). The increase in dopamine results in the increased activation of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors, inducing hyperlocomotion (Sharp et al., 1987; Tenn et al., 2003; Mansbach et al., 1988; Pijnenburg et al., 1975 refer to 1.6.1), Administration of amphetamine in rodents is used to model hyperlocomotor activity in order to represent some of the positive symptoms of schizophrenia (refer to 1.3.1, Knable and Weinberger., 1997;Mansbach et al., 1988;Pijnenburg et al., 1976;Thornburg and Moore., 1973). In mice containing genetic mutations or lesions, amphetamine administration can reveal dopamine dysfunction or subtle abnormalities in locomotor activity or anxiety which open field test alone may not show. Hence this evidence implies that *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice do not have abnormalities in dopamine network. To my knowledge there is no known involvement between FXYD proteins and the dopamine network function, however mice heterozygous for deletion of α isoforms of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase show abnormally increased anxiety and locomotor activity in response to methamphetamine (Moseley et al., 2007).

Potential dysfunction of glutamatergic circuitry was explored in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice by administration of a low dose of ketamine (10 mg/kg) and a higher but subanaesthetic dose (25 mg/kg) (Ralph et al., 2001;Imre et al., 2006;Kamiyama et al., 2011). Initial analysis of duration spent in zones and velocity of $Fxvd6^{+/+}$ and $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice did not reveal any differences following administration of 10 mg/kg ketamine and 25 mg/kg ketamine, however due to the short half-life of Ketamine (13 minutes, (McLean et al., 1996;Maxwell et al., 2006)) data were reanalysed for the first 10 minutes after ketamine administration only. Both doses of ketamine were then found to induce hyperlocomotion in both genotypes; however the effect was not genotype- dependent. Despite treatment order and genotype being pseudorandom and balanced amongst groups, one group (Fxvd6^{-/-} mice receiving 10 mg/kg ketamine) displayed increased velocity baseline, in comparison to $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice. However, in this study it is unlikely this is a physiological response derived from the genetic disruption of Fxyd6, as it was not displayed in the $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice subsequently treated with 25 mg/kg ketamine or amphetamine, or $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice with treated 10 mg/kg ketamine, despite all groups being counterbalanced.

5.4.3 Sensorimotor gating in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice

Prior to testing sensorimotor gating, hearing in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice was tested to ensure the disruption of *Fxyd6* does not affect hearing, as FXYD6 is expressed in the inner ear (Delprat et al., 2007a;Delprat et al., 2007b). *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice do not have altered hearing. However they have overall deficits in prepulse inhibition, indicating deficits in sensorimotor gating. Sensorimotor gating is a complex

process involving multiple interactions with multiple neurotransmitters including dopamine, serotonin and glutamate (Ojima et al., 2004;Quednow et al., 2004;Egerton et al., 2008). Deficits in sensorimotor gating stems from problems in inhibition in the CNS and results in the inability to filter important sensory information from 'noise' and is associated with symptoms of schizophrenia. Deficits in PPI are often used as a rodent model of the sensorimotor gating deficits associated with schizophrenia (Geyer et al., 2001). Inhibition of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity by ouabain has been associated with inhibition of dopamine and serotonin uptake (Steffens M and Feuerstein TJ., 2004) and glutamate transport (Nanitsos et al., 2005;Rose et al., 2009). It is possible impairments in neurotransmission as a result of impaired Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity are responsible for the impaired sensorimotor gating observed in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice.

5.4.4 Social interaction and social novelty in Fxyd6^{-/-} mice

Social deficits are potentially associated with the negative symptoms of schizophrenia, as well as autism and related neurodevelopmental disorders (Lord et al., 2000; Aghevli et al., 2003; Wing and Gould., 1979). Mice are highly social animals and therefore make an excellent model to study deficits in sociability. Sociability testing in mice takes into account social approach of mice to a stranger mouse. A cylindrical wire cage containing the stranger mouse permits visual, olfactory and tactile interaction. In this study, sociability was defined as the tendency to approach and remain in the zone containing the stranger mouse. Disruption of *Fxyd6* did not cause deficits in sociability. However it appears to induce a trend towards reduced levels of social novelty- the preference to interact with a new stranger mouse, compared to the now familiar mouse, reached significance in $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice but not $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice. Despite this suggesting that $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice have reduced levels of social novelty, the levels did not significantly differ from $Fxyd6^{+/+}$ mice. An increase in 'n' numbers could determine whether this result is a true biological effect that reflects a lack of interest from *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice in the new mouse. Reduced social novelty could also reflect the inability to distinguish between the familiar and novel mouse which could be explored further by using the novel object recognition test, which explores recognition memory by assessing time spent exploring familiar and nonfamiliar objects. This test may provide further insight into novel object preference in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice.

5.4.5 Sucrose preference

Anhedonia, the inability to experience pleasure, has been associated with the negative symptoms of schizophrenia (refer to 1.3.2). Mice have a preference for sweet sucrose water over standard water. It has been suggested that the presence of anhedonia in mice can be detected by attenuated sucrose preference over water (Papp et al., 1991). *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice consumed similar amounts of sucrose water compared to normal water, not only revealing a lack of anhedonia but also showing they do not have deficits in taste, which may have existed due to the expression of FXYD6 in taste cells (Shindo et al., 2011).

5.4.6 Working memory

Impaired working memory is a well recognised cognitive deficit associated with 2011;Goldman-Rakic., schizophrenia (Chai et al., 1994;Kim et al., 2009; Manoach., 2003; Manoach et al., 2000; Pomarol-Clotet et al., 2010). Working memory differs from short term memory and spatial memory because it requires the retention and manipulation of short term memory in order to reach an internal goal (e.g. food reward). A T maze is used in this task, and mice are required to remember which arm they visited following a forced arm run (refer to 2.10.6), following an intra-trial delay, mice need to retain and manipulate this information to choose to enter the previously unvisited arm in return for a reward. Delays of varying times are introduced into the intra-trial delays of the working memory tasks and the ability to correctly enter an unvisited arm is used as an assessment (Aultman and Moghaddam., 2001). Male mice were solely used in 'working memory' tasks due to female mice requiring considerably longer training to reach testing stage (personal communication, Dr. Thomson). This gender difference could be due to behaviour being affected by a number of factors such as circadian rhythm, menstrual cycle, environmental factors such as stimulating housing toys, littermates etc. It is therefore important that during behavioural tasks, such as those designed to test working memory, influencing factors are kept constant.

 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice displayed deficits in working memory with delays of 5 seconds, however not at long delay periods of 15 and 30 seconds. The working memory task showed a non-significant trend to becoming increasingly more difficult for

wildtype mice as delays are increased, reducing the average % of trials correct, significant time-dependent deficits have been in similar working memory studies (Aultman and Moghaddam., 2001;Zoubovsky et al., 2011) and it is possible these were not observed in this study due to the low n numbers reducing power and adding variability (*Fxyd6*^{+/+} mice=7, *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice n=6) . Deficits in working memory in mice should reach a minimum of a 50% correct score by chance alone, it is possible *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice have deficits in working memory that are not apparent due to the low n numbers and variability in data, especially at the high delays of 15 and 30 seconds.

Hypofrontality (reduced glucose utilisation and blood flow in the prefrontal cortex) has been associated with deficits in working memory (Berman K et al., 1988;Carter et al., 1998;Glahn DC et al., 2005); it would therefore be interesting to carry out 2 deoxyglucose experiments in these mice to assess whether there is altered metabolism in the prefrontal cortex (Weinberger et al., 1986, Callicott et al., 2000., Manoach et al., 2000). The hippocampus has also been associated with deficits in working memory and memory consolidation (Lipska et al., 2002;Sato et al., 2004;Wyse et al., 2004) and it has been suggested that both the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus are required for different components of working memory (Yoon et al., 2008;Laroche et al., 2000). Hence, since *Fxyd6* is prominently expressed in the PFC and hippocampus, impaired working memory in these mice is consistent with altered function in these areas.

5.4.7Conclusion

This chapter presents a behavioural characterisation of *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice and provides evidence that the disruption of *Fxyd6* in mice models some of the aspects of schizophrenia.

 $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not exhibit altered sensitivity to ketamine or amphetamine, indicating no potential glutamatergic or dopaminergic circuitry dysfunction, respectively. However indication of deficits in neurotransmission in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice comes from subtle deficits in prepulse inhibition.

The targeted disruption of *Fxyd6* also results in prefrontal cortex and hippocampal- related behaviour deficits, such as deficits in working memory.

The genetic disruption of *Fxyd6* in mice results in phenotypes similar to a range of symptoms associated with schizophrenia. This is encouraging to further investigate $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ a potential mouse model of schizophrenia and associated psychiatric and cognitive disorders. It also provides further evidence for a role of FXYD6 dysfunction in the aetiology of schizophrenia.

Chapter 6. Molecular and phenotypic characterisation of *Map2k7*, and potential as a mouse model of schizophrenia -like deficits

6.1 Introduction

The symptoms of schizophrenia are diverse and do not appear to be the result of a single neurobiological factor, instead it is often thought to be a result of several subtle anomalies including aberrations in cell signalling. Various studies have implicated impairments in neuronal circuitry and neurotransmission in the pathology of schizophrenia (Sumiyoshi et al., 1996;Lisman et al., 2008); however, the pathological mechanisms that result in impaired cell signalling and the signalling cascades involved remain unclear.

MAP kinases belong to the family of serine/ threonine kinases and are important mediators of signal transduction (refer to 1.13); playing a major role in all eukaryotic cells' response to extracellular stimuli and regulating a wide range of cellular processes that may lead to functional and morphological alterations of neurons (Kyosseva et al., 1999;Pearson et al., 2001;Kyosseva, 2004). The role of MAP kinase signal transduction cascades, and in particular MAP kinase kinase 7 (*MAP2K7*), in major psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, is not well understood (refer to 1.13.3). However due to the abundant expression in the CNS and pivotal role in the regulation of signal transduction, synaptic plasticity and modification of gene expression in neurons (Kyosseva et al., 1999;Pearson et al., 2001;Kyosseva, 2004), it is not surprising various intermediates of MAP kinase cascades have been suggested to be involved in neurodevelopmental abnormalities of the brain in schizophrenia and psychiatric disorders (Kyosseva et al., 1999;Funk et al., 2011).

Recently, our lab found evidence of a role of *MAP2K7* as a susceptibility factor in schizophrenia. Not only was *MAP2K7* found to have attenuated expression in the PFC of *post mortem* schizophrenia brains, but a genetic association between *MAP2K7* and schizophrenia was found (Winchester et al., 2012). The MAP2K7 protein is primarily activated by cytokines in the immune system (e.g. TNF, IL-1), although it has also been shown to be activated by NMDA receptor activity in the CNS, a receptor often showing impaired activity in schizophrenia (Tournier et al., 2001;Centeno et al., 2006). Following activation, MAP2K7 is dually phosphorylated on a specific threonine and tyrosine residue of the

phosphorylation motif (refer to 1.13, (Tournier et al., 2001;Holland et al., 1997) prior to acting as an upstream JNK2 activator. JNK2 mediates signal transduction and regulates many cellular processes such as cell growth and proliferation, transcription and apoptosis (Tournier *et al.*, 2001;Holland *et al.*, 1997;Mayer *et al.*, 2005). JNK2 has also been shown to have decreased expression and phosphorylation in the anterior cingulate cortex (Funk et al., 2011) strengthening the hypothesis for a role of MAP2K7 and related pathways as a risk factor in schizophrenia.

Despite the genetic association implicating *MAP2K7* as a risk factor of schizophrenia, further biological evidence is required to ascertain a functional link between the gene and disease. Genetic association studies provide an indication of markers of disease; however they do not elucidate information on the causative variation or the exact biological mechanism underlying the risk factor. Animal models provide a unique way of analysing and understanding the functional role of genetic risk factors in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia (refer to 1.10). The heterozygous or homozygous disruption of a gene of interest allows investigation into signalling networks, interactions and potential regulatory and compensatory mechanisms, as well as the impact on behaviour. In addition to providing a model to investigate behaviours similar to those associated with schizophrenia, the neurochemical hypotheses of schizophrenia can be explored in the mice by investigating the expression of relevant markers such as the GABAergic interneuron marker parvalbumin or the expression of glutamate receptors.

A mouse heterozygous for *Map2k7* has been established (Wada et al., 2004). Heterozygous expression of *Map2k7* in these mice was confirmed using northern and southern blotting which revealed a clear reduction in *Map2k7* genomic mRNA and DNA (respectively) (Wada et al., 2004), however as of yet these mice have not been investigated for impairments in neural circuitry or behaviours associated with schizophrenia, such as cognitive deficits.

6.2 Aim and hypothesis

MAP2K7 is a putative risk factor in the susceptibility to schizophrenia; however biological evidence is still required to establish this link. Map kinases are

associated with the maintenance of signal transduction and it is hypothesised the heterozygous deletion of *Map2k7* will have implications in neurotransmission and memory consolidation. This chapter aims to elucidate information on the molecular and functional role of *Map2k7* by utilising *Map2k7* heterozygous mice (*Map2k7*^{+/-}) and investigating changes in schizophrenia-related proteins and behaviours, such as working memory.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Expression of Map2k7 in the mouse brain

Expression of Map2k7 in 20 µm coronal adult mouse brain sections was visualised using a 33P- labelled probe designed to target Map2k7 RNA (refer to 2.9). Qualitative assessment from comparison of total staining to non-specific staining revealed Map2k7 is expressed in the following brain regions: the prefrontal cortex, the granular cell layer of the olfactory bulb (GrO), the CA1 region of the hippocampus and the granule cell layer of the dentate gyrus (GrDG), and the cerebellar lobules of the cerebellum (Figure 6.1).

6.3.2Evidence for a trend towards reduced Map2k7RNA expression in Map2k7^{+/-} mice

To investigate the potential functional link between MAP2K7 and schizophrenia, mice containing one targeted disruption of *Map2k7* were utilised (refer to 2.3.2). The *in situ* probe used to detect mouse brain expression of *Map2k7* (section 6.3.1) was further utilised to investigate the effect of heterozygous targeted disruption of *Map2k7* on RNA levels. Despite a trend towards reduced expression, no significant overall attenuation of *Map2k7* mRNA expression was observed in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice (F_{1,38}= 2.88, *p*>0.05), neither were there decreases in the following regions: CA1 (T_{1,6}=0.04, *p*>0.05), CA3 (T_{1,6}= 4.25, *p*>0.05), cerebellum (T_{1,6}= 0.55, *p*>0.05), DG (T_{1,6}= 0.3, *p*>0.05), or olfactory bulb (GrO) (T_{1,6}= 0.1, *p*>0.05) (Figure 6.2a-i). *Map2k7^{+/+}* n=5, *Map2k7^{+/-}* n=3.

RTq-PCR primers designed to target *Map2k7* transcripts across two sites: exon 1a and 1b and exons 10 and 11 (refer to 2.8.1), were employed to investigate the impact of heterozygous genetic knockdown of *Map2k7 upon Map2k7* mRNA expression. Using a geometric mean from three housekeeping genes (18s ribosomal RNA, *B2M* and *GAPDH*) analysis of C_T values revealed *Map2k7* expression in *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice is reduced across exon 10/11 by 20% (Figure 6.3a) however this does not reach significance (ratio 1: 0.80, F_{1,5}=1.09, p>0.05). A modest reduction of *Map2k7* exon 1a and b mRNA expression of 32% was observed (Figure 6.3b). To further investigate *Map2k7* mRNA expression in *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice, the effect of genotype on overall *Map2k7* expression was analysed using ANOVA with multiple comparisons, which showed a near significant effect of genotype of *Map2k7* expression ($F_{1,11}=5.47$, *p*=0.06) n=3 per group.

6.3.3 Map2k7^{+/-} mice have increased Grin1 RNA expression

RTqPCR revealed that the heterozygous targeted disruption of *Map2k7* significantly increased glutamate receptor *Grin1* mRNA expression (ratio 1: 4.3, ($F_{1,5}$ =15.99, *p*=0.016, Figure 6.3e). However the disruption does not have a significant impact on *Pvalb* (ratio 1: 0.79, $F_{1,5}$ =0.71, *p*>0.05, Figure 6.3c) or *Fxyd6* mRNA expression (ratio 1: 1.09, $F_{1,5}$ =0.25, *p*>0.05, Figure 6.3d).

6.3.4Map2k7 reduced expression does not impact on GLUR2, NR2A and GAD 65/67 protein expression

The involvement of *MAP2K7* in the glutamatergic hypothesis of schizophrenia was explored by the western blotting technique. Antibodies designed to target glutamatergic receptor proteins GluR2 and NR2A and glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) 65/ 67 produced bands of correct size (GluR2 102 kDa, NR2A 170 kDa, GAD 65/67 produces a doublet band at 65 kDa and 67 kDa) in both *Map2k7*^{+/+} and *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice. Disruption of *Map2k7* did not impact on the expression of any of the proteins investigated (Figure 6.4). Despite attempts at the optimisation of two different MAP2K7 antibodies, neither was able to produce a clear band of correct size to confirm MAP2K7 protein knockdown.



Figure 6.1 Autoradiogram images showing *Map2k7* mRNA distribution in coronal mouse brain sections, as detected by *in situ* hybridisation.

Qualitative assessment suggests Map2k7 is expressed in a) the prefrontal cortex and in particular the granular cell layer of the olfactory bulb (GrO) (bregma 2.10 mm) b) (bregma 1.18 mm) c) pyramidal cell layer of the hippocampus (Py), granular layer of the dentate gyrus (GrDG) (bregma -1.22 mm) d) pyramidal cell layer of the hippocampus (Py), granular layer of the dentate gyrus (GrDG) (bregma -1.82), e) pyramidal cell layer of the hippocampus (Py), granular layer of the dentate gyrus (GrDG) (bregma -2.92 mm) f) cerebellar lobules of the cerebellum (bregma -6.00). Unlabelled= slides incubated with 'cold probe', indicates non specific labelling, total = slides incubated with 'hot probe' refer to 2.9.1. Scale bar = 2mm.















Autoradiogram images showing Map2k7 distribution in $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ coronal mouse brain sections in a) the prefrontal cortex and in particular the granular cell layer of the olfactory bulb (GrO) b) pyramidal cell layer (Py) and CA3 of the hippocampus, granular layer of the dentate gyrus (GrDG) c) cerebellar lobules of the cerebellum. Scale bar = 2mm.

Quantitation of autoradiographic film images reveals that *Map2k7* mRNA levels do not differ significantly in Map2k7^{+/+} and Map2k7^{+/-} mice in the following brain sections a) granular cell layer of the olfactory bulb (GrO) (T_{1,7}=0.18, p>0.05) b) pyramidal cell layer (Py) (T_{1,7}=0.46, p>0.05) c) CA3 of the hippocampus (T_{1,7}=4.19, p>0.05) d) granular layer of the dentate gyrus (GrDG) (F_{1,7}=0.92, p>0.05) e) cerebellar lobules of the cerebellum (T_{1,7}=0.62, p>0.05) f) total expression (T_{1,7}=2.32, p>0.05). Map2k7^{+/+} n=5, Map2k7^{+/-} n=3. Data analysed by Student's t-test.



Figure 6.3 Map2k7^{+/-} mice have increased GRIN1 mRNA expression.

Analysis of CT values revealed *Map2k7* heterozygous deletion results in a) a non-significant reduction of *Map2k7* exon 10/11 expression (ratio 0.80, $F_{1,5}$ =1.09, p=0.18) b) a modest reduction of *Map2k7* exon 1a and b mRNA expression (ratio 0.68, $T_{1,5}$ =2.17, p=0.05 c) no effect on parvalbumin (Pvalb) mRNA expression (ratio 1.79, $T_{1,5}$ =0.71, p>0.05) and d) *Fxyd6* mRNA expression (ratio 1: 1.09, $T_{1,5}$ =0.25, p>0.05) e) GRIN 1 expression (ratio 1: 4.3, $F_{1,5}$ =15.99, p=0.016). *p<0.05. n=3. Data analysed by Student's t-test.



Figure 6.4 Western blotting analysis reveals *Map2k7* heterozygous disruption does not impact on the protein expression of a) GluR2 ($F_{1,7}$ =2.61, p>0.05) b) NR2A ($F_{1,7}$ =1.82, p>0.05) c) FXYD6 ($F_{1,7}$ =0.29, p>0.05) d) ATP1a1 ($F_{1,7}$ =0.09, p>0.05) e)GAD 65/67 ($F_{1,7}$ =1.22, p>0.05). n=4

6.3.5 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ primary phenotype screen

 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice (n=9) were not distinguishable from $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice (n=7) in all parameters of the primary phenotype screen (Table 6.1). Neuromuscular function, as tested by hanging wire and motor coordination and balance, as tested by rotarod (refer to 2.10.1 & 2.10.2), were also unaffected by the heterozygous disruption of Map2k7 (p>0.05, Table 6.1).

6.3.6Map2k7^{+/-} mice do not differ from Map2k7^{+/+} in plus maze performance

In comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not appear to have increased levels of anxiety in the EPM (refer to 2.10.3). This was detected by no significant differences in zone duration (F_{1,63}=0.238 *p*> 0.05), zone entry frequency (F_{1, 63}=0.123, *p*> 0.05), distance travelled (T=3.84, *p*> 0.05) and mean velocity (T=3.29, *p*> 0.05) in the plus maze (Table 6.2) $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9.

Location	Phenotype	Genotype		Significance
		Map2k7 ^{+/+}	Map2k7 ^{+/-}	
In Arena	Body position	1 ± 0	1 ± 0	p >0.05
	Spontaneous activity	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Tremor	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Urination	0.5	0.7	p >0.05
	Defecation	1.4	1.2	p >0.05
	Bizarre behaviours	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Convulsions	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Palebral Closure	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Piloerection	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Gait	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Pelvic elevation	1 ± 0	1 ± 0	p >0.05
	Tail elevation	1 ± 0	1 ± 0	p >0.05
	Pinna reflex	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
Restrained	Cornea reflex	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Provoked biting	0 ± 0	0 ± 0	p >0.05
	Trunk curl	1 ± 0	1 ± 0	p >0.05
	Visual placing	1 ± 0	1 ± 0	p >0.05
	Hanging wire 1	55.7 ±4. 3	52.5- ± 5.2	p >0.05
	Hanging wire 2	49.7 ± 6.7	49.1 ± 5.3	p >0.05
	Hanging wire 3	59.4 ± 0.5	54.2 ± 5.7	p >0.05
	Hanging wire average	54.9 ± 3.3	52.0 ± 3.7	p >0.05
	Rotarod 1	96.7 ± 20.7	136.4 ± 17.6	p >0.05
	Rotarod 2	105.7 ± 17.8	122.8 ± 19.6	p >0.05
	Rotarod 3	132.1 ± 17.5	104.3 ± 17.2	p >0.05
	Rotarod average	111.5 ± 14.7	121.2 ± 12.6	p >0.05

Table 6.1 Summary of primary phenotype screen performed on mice heterozygous for the genetic disruption of Map2k7 ($Map2k7^{+/-}$) and their wildtype littermates $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice.

Heterozygous disruption of Map2k7 did not significantly alter mice phenotype in parameters tested in the primary phenotype screen. Data is presented at mean \pm SEM, $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n = 7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9. Data analysed by Student's t-test.

Duration (seconds)

Genotype	Centre	Closed arm	2/3 rd open arm	1/3 rd open arm	Significance
Map2k7 ^{+/+}	112.2 ± 33.3	132.1.7 ± 37.3	37.9 ± 22.5	17.12 ± 11.8	p >0.05, ns
Map2k7 ^{+/-}	118.2 ± 12.3	120.9 ± 15.6	44.8 ± 7.9	15.8 ± 6.2	p >0.05, ns

b

а

	Frequency				
Genotype	Centre	Closed arm	2/3 ^{ra} open arm	1/3 ^{ra} open arm	Significance
Map2k7 ^{+/+}	14.4 ± 2.2	9.9 ± 3.0	7.6 ± 2.9	1.6 ± 0.9	p >0.05, ns
Map2k7 ^{+/-}	23.9 ± 1.7	13.9 ± 1.6	12.9 ± 2.0	2.3 ± 0.8	p >0.05, ns

С

Genotype	Distance travelled (cm)	Mean velocity (cm/s)	Significance
Map2k7 ^{+/+}	961.0 ± 166.3	3.6 ± 0.3	p >0.05, ns
Map2k7 ^{+/-}	1302.6 ± 84.4	4.3 ± 0.3	p >0.05, ns

Table 6.2 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not display abnormal anxiety-related behaviours in the elevated plus maze, as indicated by no differences in performance in the following parameters

a) duration (seconds) (F_{1,63}=0.238 p> 0.05)

b) frequency of entering zones in the EPM ($F_{1, 63}$ =0.123, p> 0.05) and c) Distance travelled (T=3.84, p> 0.05) and mean velocity (T=3.29, p> 0.05) travelled in all zones. Closed zone (non-aversive), 2/3rd open arm (mildly aversive), 1/3rd open arm (aversive) refer to 2.10.3) Data is presented as mean ± SEM. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9. Duration and frequency analysed using ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. Distance and mean velocity analysed by Student's t-test.

6.3.7Map2k7^{+/-} mouse performance in open field with amphetamine challenge

 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not show anxiety-like behaviours or hyperlocomotor activity in the open field test in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice, however slightly altered sensitivity to amphetamine was observed as described below.

Overall, genotype did not significantly affect the duration of time spent in zones during the habituation stage ($F_{1,83}=2.8$, p>0.05) however it approached significance in the test stage ($F_{1,83}$ =2.8, p=0.06). There was an overall effect of genotype on duration of time spent in each zone ($F_{1,83}$ =4.07, p=0.02) and on further investigation, Tukey's post hoc analysis revealed $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice spent significantly decreased duration of time in the thigmotaxis zone under saline treatment (*p*=0.02) Figure 6.5a). *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice did not significantly differ from $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice in velocity in both the habituation stage (F_{1,179} = 1.15, p>0.05) or testing stage ($F_{1,359}$ =1.46, p>0.05) (Figure 6.5b). Administration of 3 mg/kg amphetamine significantly increases velocity in both genotypes ($F_{1,27}$ =1.24, p<0.001), however there is no significant interaction between amphetamine and genotype ($F_{1,27}=0.03$, p>0.05, Figure 6.5b). Similar results were observed with distance travelled during testing stage, $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not differ from each other ($F_{1,39}=0.32$, p>0.05, Figure 6.6a), although the administration of 3mg/kg of amphetamine significantly increases the overall distance travelled for both genotypes ($F_{1,39}$ =43.68, p<0.001 Figure 6.6a), the response was not influenced by genotype ($F_{1,39}=0.17$, p>0.05).

Comparing velocity to the mean baseline revealed an overall near significance effect of genotype ($F_{1,359}$ =3.84, p=0.05), and the effect of amphetamine was influenced by genotype ($F_{1,359*}$ =9.33, p=0.002, Figure 6.6b). Tukey's *post hoc* analysis revealed *Map2k7*^{+/+} mice exhibited significantly increased velocity at time points 35 (p= 0.003), 40 (p=0.04) and 45 minutes (p=0.02), in comparison to *Map2k7*^{+/-} following amphetamine treatment Figure 6.6b). *Map2k7*^{+/+} n=7, *Map2k7*^{+/-} n=9.


Figure 6.5 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not have altered locomotor activity however display decreased thigmotaxis in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice

a) Analysis of duration spent in centre, inner and outer zones of the open field arena reveal a significant interaction between genotype and zone duration ($F_{1,83}$ =2.8, p=0.06) with $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice spending less time in the thigmotaxis zone compared to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice during treatment with saline ($F_{1,119}$ =1.08, p=0.02). Administration of 3mg/kg of amphetamine did not affect duration spent in zones for both genotypes ($F_{1,83}$ =0.06, p>0.05.) n=10 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9. *p=0.02 $Map2k7^{+/+}$ vs $Map2k7^{+/-}$

b) Mean velocity in $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ are both increased following the administration of amphetamine after a 30 minute habituation period (F_{1,27}=1.24, p<0.001). $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not differ from their $Map2k7^{+/+}$ littermates in their response to amphetamine (F_{1,27}=0.03, p>0.05). n=10 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9. \downarrow represents time of treatment administration

а



Figure 6.6 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice reveal altered sensitivity to amphetamine

a) Analysis of distance travelled following the administration of amphetamine or saline (time point 30 min) did not reveal a significance difference between $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice (F_{1,39}=0.32, p>0.05). Administration of 3mg/kg of amphetamine significantly increases the overall distance travelled (F_{1,39}=43.68, p<0.001), however the effect of amphetamine was not influenced by genotype (F_{1,39}=0.17, p>0.05). Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9. *p<0.001 amphetamine (amp) vs saline

b) Mean velocity as a ratio of average baseline in $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ are both increased following the administration of amphetamine (3 mg/kg) after a 30 minute habituation period (F_{1,39}=1.59, p<0.001), there is a near-significant overall effect of genotype (F_{1,359}=3.84, p=0.05) and a significant overall interaction between genotype and amphetamine (F_{1,359}=9.33, p=0.002, Tukey's post hoc analysis revealed $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice exhibited significantly increased velocity at time points 35 (p= 0.003), 40 (p=0.04) and 45 minutes (p=0.02), in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ following amphetamine treatment. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9. *p<0.05, **p<0.01 significance observed between $Map2k7^{+/+}$ vs. $Map2k7^{+/-}$ with amphetamine (amp).

6.3.8Map2k7^{+/-} acoustic startle

Prior to conducting PPI, acoustic startle was examined to ensure $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not exhibit deficits in hearing which may affect PPI results (refer to 2.10.5). Age-matched $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice were tested for their startle responses to a range of auditory stimuli (65 dB, 69 dB, 73 dB, 77 dB, 85 dB, 90 dB, 100 dB, 110 dB, 120 dB). Overall, the heterozygous targeted disruption of Map2k7 did not significantly alter startle response in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice, compared to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice (F_{[1, 89} = 2.20, *p*>0.05) suggesting that the lack of Map2k7 does not affect hearing (Figure 6.7a). As predicted the size of auditory stimuli produces a decibel- dependent increase in startle amplitude (F_{8,89}=12.73, *p*<0.001) however is it not affected by genotype (F_{8,89}=0.76, *p*>0.05). N=5 per group.

6.3.9 Map2k7^{+/-} mouse sensorimotor gating

Overall PPI results reveal $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not significantly differ from $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice, as described below.

Map2k7^{+/-} mice do not have deficits in PPI, in comparison to *Map2k7*^{+/+} mice ($F_{1,95}$ =0.09, p>0.05). Ketamine and prepulse intensity both had an overall significant effect ($F_{1,95}$ =6.43, p=0.01 & $F_{2,95}$ =35.98, p<0.001 respectively) however effects were not influenced by genotype (genotype x treatment $F_{1,95}$ =0.05, p>0.05, genotype x prepulse interaction $F_{2,95}$ =1.16, p>0.05) (Figure 6.7b). *Post hoc* analysis did not identify which prepulse level were affected by ketamine (pp4 p= 0.54, pp8 p= 0.56, pp16 p=0.89). *Map2k7*^{+/+} n=7, *Map2k7*^{+/-} n=9.



Figure 6.7 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not display hearing loss or sensorimotor gating deficits in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice.

a) Startle magnitude to auditory stimuli of 65 dB, 69 dB, 73 dB, 77 dB, 85 dB, 90 dB, 100 dB, 110 dB, 120 dB intensities did not differ between $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice ($F_{[1, 89]}$ = 2.20, p>0.05) suggesting disruption of Map2k7 does not impact on hearing. n=5 per group. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons.

b) Overall, prepulse inhibition of the startle response did not significantly differ between $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice (F_{1,95}=0.09, p>0.05). Ketamine (25 mg/kg) and prepulse both had an overall significant effect (F_{1,95}=6.43, p=0.01 & F_{2,95}=35.98, p<0.001 respectively) however there was no significant interaction between genotype and treatment (F_{1,95}=0.05, p>0.05) or genotype x prepulse interaction (F_{2,95}=1.16, p>0.05). $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=7, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=9, data analysed using ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons.

6.3.10 Map $2k7^{+/-}$ mouse sociability and social novelty.

The heterozygous genetic disruption of Map2k7 does not significantly impact on levels of sociability. A preference for social novelty was not observed in either $Map2k7^{+/+}$ or $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice, as described below.

 $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice both exhibit sociability as observed by prolonged duration of time spent exploring the chamber containing a strange mouse, in comparison to the empty chamber (F_{2,29}=39.13, *p*<0.001). The heterozygous genetic disruption of Map2k7 does not significantly impact on levels of sociability (F_{1,29}=0.09, *p*>0.05) however there is a significant interaction between zone and genotype (F_{2,29}=3.33, *p*=0.05, Figure 6.8a).

Social novelty was investigated by assessing the duration of time spent investigating a novel mouse in this study (refer to 2.10.7), compared to the now familiar mouse. Genotype did not have a significant impact on duration ($F_{,29}$ =0.23, p>0.05), however zone did have an overall impact ($F_{2,29}$ =12.18, p<0.001), and there was an overall interaction between zone and genotype ($F_{2,29}$ =4.07, p=0.03, Figure 6.8b). Tukey's *post hoc* analysis revealed neither *Map2k7*^{+/+} or *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice spend a longer duration of time interacting with the stranger mouse, compared to the now familiar mouse, suggesting social novelty is not present in these mice (p>0.05, Figure 6.8b). *Map2k7*^{+/+} n=5, *Map2k7*^{+/-} n=5, data analysed using ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons.

6.3.11 Map $2k7^{+/-}$ mouse sucrose preference

Anhedonia in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice was investigated using the sucrose preference test (refer to 5.3.7), results suggest the heterozygous deletion of $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice does not cause significant levels of anhedonia. One $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mouse was removed from testing due to not displaying sucrose preference. $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice were not significantly different from $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice in levels of sucrose consumption over a 5 day period (F_{1,44}=1.23, *p*>0.05, Figure 6.9). There was a significant effect of day on the % of sucrose consumed (F_{4,44}=1.24, *p*=0.02) but not an impact of genotype on consumption of sucrose on individual days (F_{4,44}=0.49, *p*>0.05). $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=4.

The overall average % sucrose consumed over the 5 day period was also not significantly affect by genotype ($F_{1,8}$ =0.09, p>0.05, Figure 6.9). $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=4.



Figure 6.8 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not have deficits in sociability or suffer from anhedonia.

a) Levels of sociability; duration spent exploring and interacting with the stranger mouse in comparison to an empty chamber was used as an indication of mouse sociability levels. Both $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice showed levels of sociability ($F_{2,29}$ =39.13, p<0.001). Genotype did not have an overall effect on levels of sociability ($F_{1,29}$ =0.00, p>0.05), however there is a near significant interaction between zone and genotype ($F_{2,29}$ =3.33, p=0.05). ***p<0.001

b) Preference for social novelty; There was an overall interaction between zone and genotype ($F_{2,29}$ =4.07, p=0.03) however Tukey's *post hoc* analysis revealed that neither *Map2k7*^{+/+} or *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice spend a longer duration of time interacting with the stranger mouse, compared to the now familiar mouse, suggesting social novelty is not present in these mice (p>0.05). Genotype did not have an overall impact ($F_{,29}$ =0.00, p>0.05). *Map2k7*^{+/+} n=5, *Map2k7*^{+/-} n=5.



Figure 6.9 $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not suffer from anhedonia.

Genotype did not have an overall impact on % of sucrose consumption during single days and in total over a 5 day period, revealing $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not suffer from anhedonia (F_{1,44}=1.23, p>0.05), $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=4. Data analysed by ANOVA followed by Tukey's *post hoc* test for multiple comparisons.

6.3.12 Map2k7^{+/-} mouse performance in delayed non-match to sample

Results from the delayed non-match to sample T maze task (refer to 2.10.6) revealed that there was an overall effect of genotype on working memory ($F_{1,32}=7.24$, p=0.01). However *post hoc* analysis did not identify which delay the deficits occurred (Figure 6.10a) 5 seconds ($F_{1,10}=2.31$, p=0.22), 15 seconds ($F_{1,10}=0.82$, p=0.96 and 30 seconds ($F_{1,10}=1.522$, p=0.65). *Map2k7*^{+/+} n=5, *Map2k7*^{+/-} n=6.

Collapsing of the data in order to evaluate an average response, revealed that $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice exhibit a trend towards reduced working memory overall (F_{1,10}=4.73, *p*=0.05 Figure 6.10b). $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice also showed a significant increase in perseverative responding, in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice (F_{1,10}=13.29, *p*=0.005, Figure 6.10c) as measured by the number of 2 or more consecutive incorrect trials. $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=6.





a) In comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice had an overall deficit in working memory (F_{1,32}=7.24, p=0.01) however no significant differences were observed at individual time delays, 5 seconds (F_{1,10}=2.31, p>0.05), 15 (F_{1,10}=0.82, p>0.05) and 30 seconds (F_{1,10}=1.522, p>0.05). $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=6. Data analysed using ANOVA followed by Tukey's post hoc test for multiple comparisons

b) Overall % trials correct revealed $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice have a trend towards reduced working memory (T_{1,10}=4.73, p=0.05). $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=6, data analysed using Student's t'test. *p=0.05

c) $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice had significant increase in perseverative responding, in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice (T_{1,10}=13.29, p=0.005). $Map2k7^{+/+}$ n=5, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ n=6, data analysed using Student's t'test. **p<0.01

6.4 Discussion

6.4.1 Map2k7 is expressed in brain regions associated with schizophrenia

Qualitative assessment revealed *Map2k7* is expressed in regions of the mouse brain associated with schizophrenia; the prefrontal cortex, the granular cell layer of the olfactory bulb (GrO) and CA1 and dentate gyrus of the hippocampus. Altered prefrontal cortical function has been repeatedly implicated in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia. Decreased functioning and metabolism of the prefrontal cortex (hypofrontality) and dysfunction of prefrontal related tasks, such as working memory and decision making are associated with schizophrenia. The hippocampus, as part of the medial temporal lobe, is also a central region in the pathophysiology of schizophrenia, and is associated with tasks such as spatial working memory and learning. Connectivity networks between the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus are thought to be responsible for many areas of cognition and memory consolidation, in particular working memory (Laroche *et al.*, 2000;Yoon *et al.*, 2008). The expression of *Map2k7* in these brain regions suggests a potential role in the underlying mechanisms of cognition and memory.

Animal models of genetic risk factors are likely to aid our understanding of the pathogenesis of schizophrenia, for this reason I utilised a mouse model containing heterozygous deletion of *Map2k7* to elucidate information on the functional role of MAP2K7 in schizophrenia. Homozygous deletion of murine *Map2k7* results in embryonic lethality (Wada *et al.*, 2004), suggesting *Map2k7* has a vital role in neurodevelopment; however the stage of development at which lethality occurs is unknown.

6.4.2 Mice heterozygous for Map2k7 disruption exhibit a trend towards reduced Map2k7 mRNA

RTqPCR detected a modest significant reduction of Map2k7 RNA in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice, in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice. Primers designed to target exons 10/11 revealed a non-significant reduction of 20%, whilst primers designed to alternative splice exon 1a and b revealed a significant reduction of 32%. Exon b has been shown to have increased expression in subjects homozygous for

rs4804833; a $Map2k7^{+/-}$ SNP associated with schizophrenia (Winchester et al., 2012). It is important to use primers located at different loci to confirm that viral insertion disrupts the entire gene of interest and does not result in alternative transcripts.

In order to further investigate Map2k7 expression in $Map2k7^{*'}$ mice, RNA levels were quantified using *in situ* hybridisation technique. On average, a nonsignificant reduction of 12% Map2k7 expression was observed. It is possible compensatory up-regulation of transcription from the single Map2k7 allele has occurred. However, non-significance could also be due to the low 'n' number (n=3) used in this study, resulting in increased data variability and decreased statistical power. These findings are similar to those observed in other heterozygous mouse models that die early in development (Williamson et al., 2000;Graziotto et al., 2008), which suggest that if the homozygous knockout of a gene is embryonically lethal, the gene is likely to have an essential role in development and so compensatory up-regulation of related gene expressions will occur. The translation into protein was unable to be examined due to failed attempts at producing quantifiable protein results using western blotting, despite repeated attempts at optimisation of antibodies.

Wada et al., 2004 confirmed heterozygous expression of Map2k7 in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice using northern and southern blotting which revealed a clear reduction in Map2k7 genomic mRNA and DNA (respectively). These results combined with DNA and RNA analysis from this study suggest it is highly likely Map2k7 has reduced expression in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice and thus are suitable to be used as a tool for investigating the functional properties of Map2k7.

6.4.3A trend towards Map2k7 reduced expression increases Grin1 but not Pvalb and Fxyd6 RNA expression

RTqPCR interestingly revealed that the heterozygous targeted genetic disruption of *Map2k7* significantly increases *Grin1* expression in the frontal cortex of *Map2k7*^{+/-} mice. The *Grin1* gene encodes the NR1 (GluN1) subunit for the glutamatergic NMDA receptors (Sakurai *et al.*, 2000;Myers *et al.*, 1999). NMDA receptors play a crucial role in the glutamatergic excitatory neurotransmitter system and hypofunction of receptors are the basis of the glutamate hypothesis of schizophrenia. Emerging evidence suggests a genetic role of GRIN1 in schizophrenia. A genetic association has been found between GRIN1 and schizophrenia (Georgi et al., 2007;Galehdari, 2009;Qin et al., 2005) and mice expressing 5% of normal levels of the Grin1 subunit display behavioural abnormalities reflective of those associated with schizophrenia symptoms, such as elevated motor activity and stereotypy and deficiencies in social and sexual interactions, which were ameliorated by treatment with antipsychotics haloperidol or clozapine (Mohn et al., 1999). It is possible that the up-regulation of GRIN1 expression is a compensatory mechanism employed to continue the normal functioning of synaptic transmission, following reduced expression of Map2k7. Interestingly, the NR1 and NR2B subunit of the NMDA receptor have been shown to have increased expression in *post mortem* schizophrenia brains (Grimwood et al., 1999;Clinton et al., 2006;Kristiansen et al., 2006;Dracheva et al., 2001), suggesting up-regulation of NMDA receptor subunits may be a feature of the neurobiology of schizophrenia. However, in order to fully confirm an association between Map2k7 and Grin1, sample numbers would need to be increased as the significant interaction observed in this study was derived from an n of 3.

6.4.4The modest reduction of Map2k7 does not impact on GLUR2, NR2A, GAD 65/67, FXYD6 and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase protein expression

To investigate further the effect of heterozygous knockout of Map2k7 on neurotransmission, GLUR2, NR2A and GAD 65/67 protein expression levels were investigated using the western blotting technique. The role of the NMDA glutamate receptor subunit NR2A (GluN2A) in the PFC in schizophrenia is not well characterised, however decreased expression of NR2A in parvalbumin neurons has been observed in the PFC of schizophrenia brains (Bitanihirwe et al., 2009). Nonetheless, NR2A protein expression was not altered in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice compared to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice, suggesting there is no compensatory regulation of the expression of these receptors, despite the increased expression of the NMDA receptor subunit *Grin1* as observed with RTqPCR (refer to 6.3.3). Furthermore, GLUR2 (GluA2), the key subunit of heteromeric glutamate AMPA receptors has altered expression in schizophrenia brains (Eastwood et al., 1995;Eastwood et al., 1997), but is not altered in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice, suggesting signalling of these receptors is not altered by impairments in Map2k7 expression.

GABAergic neurotransmission is also dysregulated in schizophrenia, glutamicacid-decarboxylase (GAD), the enzyme which catalyses the synthesis of GABA from glutamate, has been found to be decreased in schizophrenia, however *Map2k7* disruption does not have a significant impact in expression in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice. It'd be interesting to carry out further analyses such as studies of expression of other related genes to further investigate whether Map2k7 has an impact on GABAergic circuitry.

It is widely accepted that schizophrenia derives from the effects of multiple genes. Epistatic static interactions between *MAP2K7* and *FXYD6* in schizophrenia were investigated in a north European population (refer to Chapter 3), however interactions were not found be a risk factor. Lack of interaction between *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* was further confirmed by no change in RNA or protein expression of FXYD6 and the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump, which it co-localises with and modulates in *Map2k7* mice.

6.4.5 Primary phenotype screen

The homozygous knockout of *Map2k7* results in embryonic lethality, which would suggest a role in neurodevelopment, however no abnormal neurological behaviours, such as spontaneous activity, aggressiveness, neuromuscular abnormalities, convulsions and general condition of coat and eye reflexes were detected in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice compared to $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice.

From these results it was concluded that any phenotypes generated from subsequent behavioural tests designed to detect more complex behaviours, such as anxiety and sensorimotor gating, are more likely to be a true reflection of phenotype and not a result of poor motor skills or poor health.

6.4.6 Anxiety-related behaviours in Map $2k7^{+/-}$ mice

Anxiety-related behaviours can be measured in a mouse model by using the innate natural tendency to explore a novel environment, compared to their conflicting preference for dark enclosed space (Lister., 1987). The elevated plus

maze and the open field apparatus exploit this conflict to indicate changes in levels of anxiety between transgenic or knockout mice and their wildtype controls. Mice with high levels of anxiety will avoid the bright open arms of the EPM and the centre of the open field arena, and spend more time in the dark arms or the corners and walls of the open field arena (thigmotaxis). $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not show altered anxiety-related behaviours when compared to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice during the 5 minutes allowed to explore the EPM. However, in the open field arena, after 30 minutes (during the 'test stage'), $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice appeared to spend less time in the thigmotaxis zone compared to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice. This could possibly indicate disinhibited behaviours, which are thought to be a symptom of 'disorganised schizophrenia' and are also present following drug abuse (Gawin., 1991;Fillmore *et al.*, 2003).

Impairments to the dopaminergic circuitry were explored in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice using administration of 3 mg/kg amphetamine. Surprisingly, administration of 3 mg/kg amphetamine did not produce an overall effect on duration spent in 3 zones were introduced during open field analysis to fully assess zones. anxiety-related behaviours. Centre zone represents the duration of time the mouse spent in the centre of the arena, indicating exploratory behaviour; the outer zone represents the time spent in the rest of the arena. The outer zone was further split to analyse thigmotaxis. Amphetamine resulted in hyperlocomotor activity in both $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice, a result commonly observed in mice (Ralph et al., 2001), validating the experimental approach. Amphetamine increases hyperlocomotor activity by increasing synaptic dopamine levels in the mesolimbic system (Costall et al., 1987; Pijnenburg et al., 1976), this can occur through a number of different mechanisms (refer to 1.10.1). The excess levels of dopamine result in the increased activation of dopamine D1 and D2 receptors, inducing hyperlocomotion (Sharp et al., 1987; Tenn et al., 2003; Mansbach et al., 1988; Pijnenburg et al., 1975).

In order to investigate fully the effect of amphetamine on velocity, the mean baseline for each individual mouse was taken across time points 5-30 minutes and velocity following amphetamine administration (35-90 minutes) was calculated. There was a significant overall effect of genotype and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice exhibited significantly increased velocity at time points 35, 40 and 45

minutes, in comparison to $Map2k7^{*/*}$ mice. Although this could suggest $Map2k7^{*/*}$ mice are more sensitive to amphetamine, implying a potential role of Map2k7 in the dopaminergic signalling circuitry, further testing such as sensitivity to amphetamine in sensorimotor gating (Cilia *et al.*, 2005) or response to administration of antipsychotic drugs such as clozapine and haloperidol, which are antagonists at the dopamine receptor, would be required to confirm this (Swerdlow and Geyer., 1993).

6.4.7Sensorimotor gating in Map $2k7^{+/-}$ mice

Sensorimotor gating is a complex process involving multiple interactions with multiple neurotransmitters including dopamine, serotonin and glutamate (Ojima et al., 2004; Quednow et al., 2004; Egerton et al., 2008). Deficits in sensorimotor gating are a key symptom of schizophrenia and stem from impairments in inhibition in a number of regions in CNS. Imaging, electrophysiological investigations and animal studies have provided evidence for the role of a number of brain regions, such as the hippocampus (Swerdlow et al., 1995;Adler., 1982; Siegel et al., 1984) nucleus accumbens (Swerdlow et al., 1990; Wan et al., 1995) and the striatum (Kodsi and Swerdlow., 1994;Kretschmer and Koch., 1997), in the underlying mechanisms of impaired sensorimotor gating. These impairments result in the oversensitivity to sensory information and the inability to filter important sensory information from 'noise'. $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not have deficits in hearing or sensorimotor gating, suggesting Map2k7 does not play a role in the physiology of hearing or filtering of sensory inputs. The administration of ketamine attenuates sensorimotor gating in both $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice. However ketamine did not induce a significant difference between the genotypes. Ketamine exerts its action via inhibition of the NMDA receptor and is therefore used to explore impairments in glutamatergic signalling despite the up-regulation of the Grin1 subunit in the PFC. These results suggests $Map2k^{+/-}$ mice do not have alterations in glutamatergic signalling. However it is difficult to conclude whether or not Map2k7 is implicated in glutamatergic pathways due to the up-regulation of Grin1 expression, which may be contributing to normal glutamatergic transmission.

6.4.8 Social interaction and social novelty in Map $2k7^{+/-}$ mice

Testing of mouse social behaviours has become a well-established method to study deficits in social interaction and social novelty in models of schizophrenia and autism (Lord et al., 2000;Aghevli et al., 2003;Wing and Gould, 1979). Various behaviours such as social communication, social novelty (social recognition), aggression and juvenile play can be investigated following analysis of behaviours between two mice. These mice could be familiar with one another, related, strangers or differ in sex. Social interaction can be assessed by the duration of time a mouse will spend investigating and interacting with a non-familiar mouse (termed stranger mouse) in an arena containing a cylindrical wire cage which permits visual, olfactory and tactile interaction.

In this study, sociability was defined as the tendency to spend a longer duration of time in the zone containing the stranger mouse, in comparison to the empty zone. Both $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice displayed sociability, however disruption of Map2k7 did not induce deficits in sociability. Preference for social novelty is interpreted to have occurred when the test mouse spends more time investigating a novel mouse, in comparison to a familiar mouse. In this study, mice were familiarised to the first stranger mouse during sociability testing, a novel mouse was then entered into the 'empty' zone to test preference for social novelty. Interestingly, neither $Map2k7^{+/+}$ or $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice displayed a preference for social novelty. The genetic background of the $Map2k7^{+/+}$ and $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice is C57BL/6 and in our laboratories has been backcrossed onto the substrain C57BL/6J rcchsd strain. Studies have shown substrains of C57BL/6 do not differ in social interaction levels from one another (Matsuo et al., 2010), furthermore both strains have previously shown a preference for social novelty (refer to Chapter 5 (Matsuo et al., 2010; Moy et al., 2004). In Moy et al., (2004) study, 'n' numbers are substantially larger compared to those used in this study (n=20, n=5, respectively), and thus statistical power may not be high enough to have detected social novelty reliably in the present experiments.

6.4.9 Anhedonia

The inability to experience pleasure (anhedonia) is associated with the negative symptoms of schizophrenia (refer to 1.3.2, (Strauss and Gold., 2012;Dowd and

Barch., 2010;Pizzagalli., 2010). Mice have a natural preference for sweet sucrose water over standard water, anhedonia can be detected between wildtype and knockout/transgenic mice by a reduction in the ratio of sucrose water to standard water consumption (Papp et al., 1991). A heterozygous mouse was removed from this study as it did not show any preference for sucrose water over standard water during the 5 days. It could be argued that this is a phenotype of *Map2k7* heterozygous deletion, however the rest of the group (n=4) all showed sucrose preference. Analysis of sucrose consumption as a ratio of total fluid intake revealed $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice do not suffer from anhedonia as tested in this model.

6.4.10 Working memory

Working memory can be assessed using a T maze-based 'delayed non-match to sample' task (refer to 2.10.6). The task requires the retention and manipulation of short term memory in order to perform executive functions (Aultman and Moghaddam., 2001). Working memory requires synchrony between the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus (Sigurdsson et al., 2010; Yoon et al., 2008) and from the expression pattern of Map2k7 in these regions, it was hypothesised Map2k7^{+/-} mice may present impairments in working memory. Collapsing the data revealed that $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice have a working memory impairment in comparison to $Map2k7^{+/+}$ mice and on further investigation it was found these impairments derived from increased perseverative errors. In this study, perseverative errors were defined as a mouse not correcting its behaviour following an incorrect trial, leading to at least two consecutive incorrect trials in a row. An increase in perseverative errors has been postulated to be a result of impairments in dopamine in the PFC (Yawata et al., 2012; Pezze et al., 2006; Zahrt et al., 1997) . Moreover, hypofunction of the dopamine D1 receptor has been associated with cognitive deficits and working memory impairments in schizophrenia (Castner et al., 2000; Abi-Dargham et al., 2002; Granon et al., 2000), effects which are not responsive to treatment with typical antipsychotic drugs (Masahiko & Michio., 1997). However, studies have shown that short term treatment using D1 agonists can improve cognitive deficits (Castner et al., 2000; Cai and Arnsten., 1997). It may therefore be of interest to investigate the role of D_1 receptors in the perseverative responding of $Map2k^{+/-}$ mice using D₁ agonists, particularly considering the trend towards sensitivity to amphetamine, which suggests a potential altered dopaminergic circuitry in these mice.

Due to the modest impairment in working memory, it is difficult to conclude whether $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice have impairments in the manipulation and retention of short term memory and executive functioning. Unusually, during this task there was not an overall affect of duration of retention delay during this task. In working memory tasks, as retention delays are increased, mice would be expected to have decreased correct trials; however this was not observed in both genotypes. This could be concealed from variability in performance stemming from low 'n' numbers. Another possibility for the lack of clear deficits associated with increasing delays could be gender, however male mice only were used in the 'working memory' task due to female mice presenting difficult in reaching criteria (personal correspondence), this could be due to a number of factors affecting learning behaviour, such as circadian rhythm, menstrual cycle, environmental factors such as stimulating housing toys, littermates etc. It is therefore important that during working memory testing, and similar tasks, environmental factors such as housing conditions and handler are kept constant.

6.5 Conclusion

The molecular and phenotypic characterisation of $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice revealed Map2k7 is expressed in brain regions associated with schizophrenia. The heterozygous deletion of Map2k7 results in alteration of glutamate receptor *Grin1* expression, a receptor reported to have altered expression in schizophrenia. Similarly, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice display some phenotypes similar to those reported in schizophrenia, such as working memory deficits, increased perseverative responding, and sensitivity to amphetamine.

As $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not exhibit deficits in PPI, social behaviours or neurochemical deficits in GABAergic markers, the functional role of MAP2K7 as a risk factor in schizophrenia still remains tenuous, however these results do suggest a putative role of MAP2K7 in impairments in glutamatergic neurotransmission and a potential rodent model of cognitive impairments. The overall aims of this PhD study were to investigate the genetic and functional roles of two genes recently associated with schizophrenia: *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7*. A genetic association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a Northern European population was not confirmed in this study, or a role of epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* in the risk of schizophrenia. Despite this, the molecular and phenotypic characterisations of two strains of mice, one homozygous for disrupted *Fxyd6* and one heterozygous for *Map2k7*, reveals an interesting insight into the roles of these genes in the neuronal circuitry associated with schizophrenia and related psychiatric disorders. Furthermore, the phenotypes of these mice could provide potential rodent models for looking at certain aspects of cognition.

7.1 FXYD6 as a risk factor in schizophrenia

This study did not find an allelic or haplotypic association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a north European population. A proportion of the samples analysed derived from a subset of samples from a previous study, in which a genetic association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia was found (Choudhury et al., 2006; Choudhury et al., 2007). It is well known that difficulty can arise when attempting to confirm a positive association between a gene and a disorder and the lack of replication could be due to a number of reasons such as the generation of false-positive results in the Choudhury studies or factors such as low sample size and statistical power, or the potential presence of rare but highly penetrant alleles. For these reasons, despite not confirming an association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia, a role of *FXYD6* in susceptibility to schizophrenia was not discarded and instead further explored using a mouse model homozygous for disrupted *Fxyd6*.

Until now, the molecular role of FXYD6 was unknown. This study not only utilised the *in situ* hybridisation technique to provide further evidence of the expression of *Fxyd6* in the schizophrenia-related brain regions, the PFC and the hippocampus, but also found expression of both *Fxyd6* and $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$ in the hippocampus; a region involved in synaptic plasticity and learning and memory. In addition, this study confirms for the first time that, like other members of the

FXYD family, FXYD6 is a tissue-specific modulator of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump. This is particularly interesting as alterations to the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump activity have been associated with psychiatric disorders whilst mice lacking the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α 2 and α 3 subunits both exhibit increased anxiety-related behaviour and impaired learning and memory where as alpha1 isoform mice showed increased locomotor in response to methamphetamine (Moseley et al., 2007).

The role of FXYD6 in neurochemical pathways associated with schizophrenia was also explored, however no evidence of a role of FXYD6 in glutamatergic signalling was found at the molecular level, as observed by no change in glutamatergic receptor expression. However increased expression of GABAergic interneuron marker, and parvalbumin expression in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice suggests that FXYD6 might interact with GABAergic neuronal activity. To investigate neurotransmission pathways further in $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice, amphetamine and ketamine were both used to explore impairments in the dopaminergic and glutamatergic pathways (respectively) and their effects on locomotor activity. $Fxyd6^{-/-}$ mice do not exhibit altered sensitivity to ketamine or amphetamine, despite this, subtle deficits observed in prepulse inhibition suggests potential deficits in neurotransmission may be present.

Due to the expression of *Fxyd6* in the PFC and the expression of both *Fxyd6* and $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$ in the hippocampus, as observed by *in situ* hybridisation, it was hypothesised that memory and learning may be disrupted in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice. This was explored by looking at impairments in working memory. Working memory is a key symptom associated with the cognitive deficits of schizophrenia (Goldman-Rakic., 1994;Manoach., 2003), and an important treatment target in schizophrenia, as an effective treatment is yet to be discovered. The *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice displayed deficits in working memory at delays of 5 seconds, this is encouraging to further investigate *Fxyd6*^{-/-} a potential mouse model of cognitive disorders and provides further evidence for a role of FXYD6 dysfunction in the aetiology of schizophrenia.

7.2 MAP2K7 as a risk factor in schizophrenia.

A recent genetic association study and an expression study have both implicated *MAP2K7* as a risk factors in the susceptibility to schizophrenia (Winchester et al., 2012); however this study reveals *MAP2K7* does not interact with *FXYD6* to increase the risk to susceptibility in a north European population.

The brain expression of Map2k7 was previously unknown, however this study utilised the *in situ* hybridisation technique to show expression in regions associated with schizophrenia, including the PFC and the hippocampus. The role of MAP2K7 in the susceptibility to schizophrenia was explored using mice heterozygous for the disruption of Map2k7. The homozygous disruption of Map2k7 is embryonically lethal. RTqPCR and *in situ* hybridisation techniques were used to assess the effect of heterozygous disruption of Map2k7 RNA and protein levels. A modest but significant reduction was observed in the RTqPCR data; however this was not observed using *in situ* hybridisation. This could be due RTqPCR being a more sensitive technique, compared to *in situ* hybridisation. Wada et al., 2004 have confirmed heterozygous expression of Map2k7 in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice using northern and southern blotting which revealed a clear reduction in Ma2pk7 genomic mRNA and DNA (respectively). These results combined with analysis from this study suggest it is highly likely Map2k7 has reduced expression in $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice.

These mice were also used to confirm the lack of interaction between *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* which was evidenced by no change in RNA or protein expression of FXYD6 and the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump in *Map2k7^{+/-}* mice compared to Mapk7^{+/+} mice.

The heterozygous deletion of Map2k7 results in alteration of glutamate receptor *Grin1* RNA expression, a receptor reported to have altered expression in schizophrenia. Furthermore, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice display increased perseverative responding in the working memory task and sensitivity to amphetamine, suggesting alterations in dopaminergic circuitry. Despite this, $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice did not exhibit deficits in PPI, social behaviours or neurochemical deficits in GABAergic markers, and so the functional role of *MAP2K7* as a risk factor in schizophrenia still remains unclear.

7.3 Future work

The data generated from this study are very thought-provoking, and if more time and funding were available several interesting follow-up studies could be carried out.

Despite this study providing molecular and behaviour characterisations of *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7*, their roles in susceptibility to schizophrenia still remain ambiguous. It would be interesting to investigate hypofrontality in both mouse strains. Hypofrontality has been associated with deficits in working memory and is observed in schizophrenia brain (Berman et al., 1988;Carter et al., 1998;Glahn et al., 2005). As both strains of mice exhibit impairments in components of the working memory task it would be interesting to carry out 2 deoxyglucose experiments to assess whether there is altered metabolism in the prefrontal cortex (Weinberger et al., 1986, Callicott et al., 2000, Manoach et al., 2000). Further behaviour tasks aimed to investigate learning and memory in these strains would also be interesting in order to investigate fully their roles as models of cognition. Executive memory could be investigated using attentional set-shifting task, or spatial learning could be assed using the Morris water maze.

Following the increased expression of *Pvalb* in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice, it would be interesting to investigate the role of FXYD6 in GABAergic neurotransmission activity further. Initially, it would also be interesting to investigate further the regions where FXYD6 and parvalbumin are both expressed to see if colocalisation occurs at cellular level. RTqPCR, *in situ* hybridisation and western blot techniques could also be used to investigate the expression of GABA receptors in *Fxyd6*^{-/-} mice. It would also be appealing to investigate serotonin and related neurotransmisson pathways in these mice in a similar manner, in order to elucidate reason for the subtle alterations observed in PPI. The levels of brain-expressed FXYD7 would also be fascinating to investigate to assess if expression is up-regulated in order to compensate for reduced modulation of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase pump by FXYD6.

It would be interesting to investigate further the glutamatergic signalling system in the $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice. This could be done by investigating the expression of further NMDA receptor subunits, and by exploring the effects of PCP and/or ketamine on processes such as locomotor activity. Furthermore, using western blotting technique, it would be beneficial to investigate the effect of heterozygous *Map2k7* disruption of the expression of the downstream target, JNK2 and related members of the MAPK cascade.

These studies would further investigate the functional roles of both *Fxyd6* and *Map2k7* genes in the neuropathology of schizophrenia and provide further evidence to determine if they would be a suitable model of schizophrenia-related symptoms

7.4 Conclusions

These studies provide an invaluable insight into the molecular functions of FXYD6 and MAP2K7, and their potential roles in schizophrenia.

A genetic association between *FXYD6* and schizophrenia in a Northern European population was not confirmed in this study, or a role of epistatic interactions between *FXYD6* and *MAP2K7* in the risk of schizophrenia. Despite this, this study reveals *Fxyd6* is expressed in regions of the brain associated with schizophrenia and the targeted disruption of *Fxyd6* results in prefrontal cortex and hippocampal- related behaviour deficits, such as deficits in working memory. FXYD6 may also have a potential role in GABAergic signalling, as observed by increased *Pvalb* expression in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice. FXYD6 does not appear to have a role in glutamatergic signalling as evidenced by the unaltered expression of glutamate receptors and normal response to ketamine in the open field task. However indication of deficits in neurotransmission in *Fxyd6^{-/-}* mice comes from subtle deficits in prepulse inhibition.

I have also shown for the first time that FXYD6 modulates brain $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ as activity in the frontal cortex.

The molecular and phenotypic characterisation of $Map2k7^{+/-}$ mice revealed Map2k7 is also expressed in brain regions associated with schizophrenia and display some phenotypes similar to those reported in schizophrenia, such as working memory deficits, increased perseverative responding, and sensitivity to amphetamine.

The heterozygous deletion of *Map2k7* also results in alteration of glutamate receptor *Grin1* expression, suggesting a potential role in glutamatergic signalling however a role in GABAergic neurotransmission was not found.

The functional roles of FXYD6 and MAP2K7 as risk factors in schizophrenia still remains equivocal, however these results provide evidence of a putative role for both genes in some areas of the underlying neuronal activity associated with schizophrenia and associated psychiatric disorders. Furthermore, results from this study suggest both strains of mice are potential rodent models of cognitive impairments.

Chapter 8. Reference List

Abekawa T, Ito K, Nakagawa S, Koyama T (2007) Prenatal exposure to an NMDA receptor antagonist, MK-801 reduces density of parvalbumin-immunoreactive GABAergic neurons in the medial prefrontal cortex and enhances phencyclidine-induced hyperlocomotion but not behavioral sensitization to methamphetamine in postpubertal rats. Psychopharmacology 192:303-316.

Abi-Dargham A, Mawlawi O, Lombardo I, Gil R, Martinez D, Huang Y, Hwang DR, Keilp J, Kochan L, Van Heertum R (2002) Prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors and working memory in schizophrenia. The Journal of Neuroscience 22:3708-3719.

Abi-Dargham A, Rodenhiser J, Printz D, Zea-Ponce Y, Gil R, Kegeles LS, Weiss R, Cooper TB, Mann JJ, Van Heertum RL (2000) Increased baseline occupancy of D_2 receptors by dopamine in schizophrenia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 97:8104-8109.

Addington J, Addington D (2002) Cognitive functioning in first-episode schizophrenia. Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience 27:188-197.

Adler CM, Malhotra AK, Elman I, Goldberg T, Egan M, Pickar D, Breier A (1999) Comparison of ketamine-induced thought disorder in healthy volunteers and thought disorder in schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 156:1646-1649.

Adler LE (1982) Neurophysiological evidence for a defect in neuronal mechanisms involved in sensory gating in schizophrenia. Biological Psychiatry 17: 639-654.

Aghevli MA, Blanchard JJ, Horan WP (2003) The expression and experience of emotion in schizophrenia: a study of social interactions. Psychiatry research 119:261-270.

Aleman A, Kahn RS, Selten JP (2003) Sex differences in the risk of schizophrenia: evidence from meta-analysis. Archives of General Psychiatry 60:565-571.

Allen NC, Bagade S, McQueen MB, Ioannidis JPA, Kavvoura FK, Khoury MJ, Tanzi RE, Bertram L (2008) Systematic meta-analyses and field synopsis of genetic association studies in schizophrenia: the SzGene database. Nature Genetics 40:827-834.

Allen RM, Young SJ (1978) Phencyclidine-induced psychosis. The American Journal of Psychiatry 135: 1081-1084.

American Psychiatric Association (2000) Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association.

Andersen JP, Vilsen B, Maclennan DH (1992) Functional Consequences of Alterations to Gly310, Gly770, and Gly801 Located in the Transmembrane Domain of the Ca²⁺ Atpase of Sarcoplasmic-Reticulum. Journal of Biological Chemistry 267:2767-2774. Andreasen NC (2000) Schizophrenia: the fundamental questions. Brain Research Reviews 31:106-112.

Andreasson S, Engstram A, Alleback P, Rydberg U (1987) Cannabis and schizophrenia A longitudinal study of swedish conscripts. The Lancet 330:1483-1486.

Angrist B, Peselov E, Rubinstein M, Wolkin A, Rotrosen J (1985) Amphetamine response and relapse risk after depot neuroleptic discontinuation. Psychopharmacology 85:277-283.

Angrist B, Rotrosen J, Gershon S (1980) Differential effects of amphetamine and neuroleptics on negative Vs. positive symptoms in schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology 72:17-19.

Angrist BM, Gershon S (1970) The phenomenology of experimentally induced amphetamine psychosis: Preliminary observations. Biological Psychiatry 2: 95-107.

Arendt M, Rosenberg R, Foldager L, Perto G, Munk-Jorgensen P (2005) Cannabisinduced psychosis and subsequent schizophrenia-spectrum disorders: follow-up study of 535 incident cases. The British Journal of Psychiatry 187:510-515.

Arimochi, J., Ohashi-Kobayashi, A., & Maeda, M. (2007). Interaction of Mat-8 (FXYD-3) with Na+/K+-ATPase in colorectal cancer cells. *Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, *30*(4), 648-654.

Arnold SE, Trojanowski JQ, Gur RE, Blackwell P, Han LY, Choi C (1998) Absence of neurodegeneration and neural injury in the cerebral cortex in a sample of elderly patients with schizophrenia. Archives of General Psychiatry 55:225-232.

Arnt J (1995) Differential effects of classical and newer antipsychotics on the hypermotility induced by two dose levels of amphetamine. European Journal of Pharmacology 283:55-62.

Arseneault L, Cannon M, Poulton R, Murray R, Caspi A, Moffitt TE (2002) Cannabis use in adolescence and risk for adult psychosis: longitudinal prospective study. Bmj 325:1212-1213.

Arystarkhova E, Wetzel RK, Sweadner KJ (2002) Distribution and oligomeric association of splice forms of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase regulatory γ subunit in rat kidney. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 282:F393-F407.

Aultman JM, Moghaddam B (2001) Distinct contributions of glutamate and dopamine receptors to temporal aspects of rodent working memory using a clinically relevant task. Psychopharmacology 153:353-364.

Bakker CB, Amini FB (1961) Observations on the psychotomimetic effects of Sernyl. Comprehensive Psychiatry 2: 269-280.

Balding DJ (2006) A tutorial on statistical methods for population association studies. Nature Reviews Genetics 7:781-791.

Bannerman DM (2008) NMDA receptor subunit NR2A is required for rapidly acquired spatial working memory but not incremental spatial reference memory. J Neurosci 28:3623-3630.

Beasley CL, Zhang ZJ, Patten I, Reynolds GP (2002) Selective deficits in prefrontal cortical GABAergic neurons in schizophrenia defined by the presence of calcium-binding proteins. Biol Psychiatry 52:708-715.

Beasley CL, Reynolds GP (1997) Parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons are reduced in the prefrontal cortex of schizophrenics. Schizophr Res 24:349-355.

Becker A, Grecksch G, Bernstein HG, Hollt V, Bogerts B (1999) Social behaviour in rats lesioned with ibotenic acid in the hippocampus: quantitative and qualitative analysis. Psychopharmacology 144:333-338.

Becker KG (2004) The common variants/multiple disease hypothesis of common complex genetic disorders. Medical Hypotheses 62: 309-317.

Beguin P, Crambert G, Guennoun S, Garty H, Horisberger JD, Geering K (2001) CHIF, a member of the FXYD protein family, is a regulator of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase distinct from the gamma-subunit. Embo Journal 20:3993-4002.

Beguin P, Crambert G, Monnet-Tschudi F, Uldry M, Horisberger JD, Garty H, Geering K (2002) FXYD7 is a brain-specific regulator of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase alpha 1-beta isozymes. Science's STKE 21:3264.

Beguin P, Wang X, Firsov D, Puoti A, Claeys D, Horisberger JD, Geering K (1997) The gamma subunit is a specific component of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase and modulates its transport function. The EMBO journal 16:4250-4260.

Bell DS (1965) Comparison of amphetamine psychosis and schizophrenia. The British Journal of Psychiatry 111:701-707.

Beneyto M, Kristiansen LV, Oni-Orisan A, McCullumsmith RE, Meador-Woodruff JH (2007) Abnormal glutamate receptor expression in the medial temporal lobe in schizophrenia and mood disorders. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:1888-1902.

Bennetto L, Pennington BF, Rogers SJ (1996) Intact and impaired memory functions in autism. Child development 67:1816-1835.

Berman K, Illowsky B, Weinberger D (1988) Physiologic Dysfunction of Dorsolateral Prefrontal Cortex in Schizophrenia. 43: 616-622.

Bibert S, Aebischer D, Desgranges F, Roy S, Schaer D, Kharoubi-Hess S, Horisberger JD, Geering K (2009) A link between FXYD3 (Mat-8)-mediated Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase regulation and differentiation of Caco-2 intestinal epithelial cells. Molecular biology of the cell 20:1132-1140.

Bibert S, Roy S, Schaer D, Horisberger JD, Geering K (2008) Phosphorylation of phospholemman (FXYD1) by protein kinases A and C modulates distinct Na^+K^+ ATPase isozymes. Journal of Biological Chemistry 283:476-486.

Birrell JM, Brown VJ (2000) Medial frontal cortex mediates perceptual attentional set shifting in the rat. J Neurosci 20:4320-4324.

Bitanihirwe BKY, Lim MP, Kelley JF, Kaneko T, Woo TUW (2009) Glutamatergic deficits and parvalbumin-containing inhibitory neurons in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. BMC Psychiatry 9:71-82.

Bolonna, A. A., Kerwin, R. W., Munro, J., Arranz, M. J., & Makoff, A. J. (2001). Polymorphisms in the genes for mGluR types 7 and 8: association studies with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia research, 47: 99-103.

Blanco G, Mercer RW (1998) Isozymes of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase: heterogeneity in structure, diversity in function. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 275:633-650.

Blasi JM, Ceña V, González-García C, Marsal J SC (1988) Ouabain induces acetylcholine release from pure cholinergic synaptosomes independently of extracellular calcium concentration. pp 1035-1041.

Bouwknecht JA, Paylor R (2002) Behavioral and physiological mouse assays for anxiety: a survey in nine mouse strains. Behavioural Brain Research 136:489-501.

Bradford MM (1976) Rapid and Sensitive Method for Quantitation of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing Principle of Protein-Dye Binding. Analytical Biochemistry 72: 248-254.

Braff DL, Geyer MA (1990) Sensorimotor gating and schizophrenia: human and animal model studies. Archives of General Psychiatry 47:181-188.

Braff DL, Geyer MA, Swerdlow NR (2001) Human studies of prepulse inhibition of startle: normal subjects, patient groups, and pharmacological studies. Psychopharmacology 156:234-258.

Braver TS, Cohen JD, Nystrom LE, Jonides J, Smith EE, Noll DC (1997) A Parametric Study of Prefrontal Cortex Involvement in Human Working Memory. NeuroImage 5:49-62.

Breier A (1995) Serotonin, schizophrenia and antipsychotic drug action. Schizophr Res 14:187-202.

Breier A, Su TP, Saunders R, Carson RE, Kolachana BS, De Bartolomeis A, Weinberger DR, Weisenfeld N, Malhotra AK, Eckelman WC (1997) Schizophrenia is associated with elevated amphetamine-induced synaptic dopamine concentrations: evidence from a novel positron emission tomography method. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 94:2569-2574.

Bunney BS, Walter JR, Roth RH, Aghajanian GK (1973) Dopaminergic neurons: effect of antipsychotic drugs and amphetamine on single cell activity. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 185:560-571.

Burnet PWJ, Eastwood SL, Harrison PJ (1996) 5-HT $_{1A}$ and 5-HT $_{2A}$ receptor mRNAs and binding site densities are differentially altered in schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 15:442-455.

Burt DR, Creese I, Snyder SH (1976) Properties of [3H] haloperidol and [3H] dopamine binding associated with dopamine receptors in calf brain membranes. Molecular Pharmacology 12:800-812.

Cai JX, Arnsten AFT (1997) Dose-dependent effects of the dopamine D_1 receptor agonists A77636 or SKF81297 on spatial working memory in aged monkeys. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 283:183-189.

Callicott, Joseph H., Alessandro Bertolino, Venkata S. Mattay, Frederick JP Langheim, Jeffrey Duyn, Richard Coppola, Terry E. Goldberg, and Daniel R. Weinberger (2000) Physiological dysfunction of the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia revisited. Cerebral Cortex 10: 1078-1092.

Cannon TD, Mednicr SA, Parnas J, Schulsinger F, Praestholm J, Vestergaard A (1993) Developmental brain abnormalities in the offspring of schizophrenic mothers: I. Contributions of genetic and perinatal factors. Archives of General Psychiatry 50:551.

Cardno AG, Gottesman II (2000) Twin studies of schizophrenia: From bow and arrow concordances to Star Wars Mx and functional genomics. American journal of medical genetics 97:12-17.

Cardon LR, Bell JI (2001) Association study designs for complex diseases. Nature Reviews Genetics 2: 91-99.

Carlen M, Meletis K, Siegle JH, Cardin JA, Futai K, Vierling-Claassen D, Ruehlmann C, Jones SR, Deisseroth K, Sheng M (2011) A critical role for NMDA receptors in parvalbumin interneurons for gamma rhythm induction and behavior. Molecular Psychiatry 17: 537-548.

Carlson CS, Eberle MA, Rieder MJ, Yi Q, Kruglyak L, Nickerson DA (2004) Selecting a maximally informative set of single-nucleotide polymorphisms for association analyses using linkage disequilibrium. Am J Hum Genet 74:106-120.

Carter C, Perlstein W, Ganguli R, Brar J, Mintun M, Cohen J (1998) Functional Hypofrontality and Working Memory Dysfunction in Schizophrenia. pp 1285-1287.

Casanova MF, Carosella NW, Gold JM, Kleinman JE, Weinberger DR, Powers RE (1993) A topographical study of senile plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in the hippocampi of patients with Alzheimer's disease and cognitively impaired patients with schizophrenia. Psychiatry research 49:41-62.

Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Cannon M, McClay J, Murray R, Harrington HL, Taylor A, Arseneault L, Williams B, Braithwaite A (2005) Moderation of the effect of adolescent-onset cannabis use on adult psychosis by a functional polymorphism in the catechol-O-methyltransferase gene: longitudinal evidence of a gene X environment interaction. Biol Psychiatry 57:1117-1127.

Castner SA, Williams GV, Goldman-Rakic PS (2000) Reversal of antipsychoticinduced working memory deficits by short-term dopamine D1 receptor stimulation. Science 287:2020-2022.

Centeno C, Repici M, Chatton JY, Riederer BM, Bonny C, Nicod P, Price M, Clarke PGH, Papa S, Franzoso G (2006) Role of the JNK pathway in NMDA-mediated excitotoxicity of cortical neurons. Cell Death & Differentiation 14:240-253.

Chai XJ, Whitfield-Gabrieli S, Shinn AK, Gabrieli JDE, Casta AN, McCarthy JM, Cohen BM, (2011) Abnormal medial prefrontal cortex resting-state connectivity in bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 36:2009-2017.

Chakravarti A (1999) Population genetics:making sense out of sequence. Nature Genetics 21:56-60.

Choudhury K, McQuillin A, Puri V, Pimm J, Datta S, Thirumalai S, Krasucki R, Lawrence J, Bass NJ, Quested D, Crombie C, Fraser G, Walker N, Nadeem H, Johnson S, Curtis D, St Clair D, Gurling HMD (2007) A genetic association study of chromosome 11q22-24 in two different samples implicates the FXYD6 gene, encoding phosphohippolin, in susceptibility to schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 80:664-672.

Choudhury K, McQuillin A, Puri V, Thirumalai S, Lawrence J, Krasucki R, Datta SR, Bass NJ, Pimm J, Curtis D, Gurling HMD (2006) A genetic association study implicates the chromosome 11q23.3 gene FXYD6 in susceptibility to schizophrenia. American Journal of Medical Genetics Part B-Neuropsychiatric Genetics 141:804-804.

Chourbaji, S., M. A. Vogt, F. Fumagalli, R. Sohr, A. Frasca, C. Brandwein, H. Hörtnagl, M. A. Riva, Rolf Sprengel, and P. Gass. (2008). AMPA receptor subunit 1 (GluR-A) knockout mice model the glutamate hypothesis of depression. The FASEB Journal 22: 3129-3134.

Clea Warburton E, Joseph MH, Feldon J, Weiner I, Gray JA (1994) Antagonism of amphetamine-induced disruption of latent inhibition in rats by haloperidol and ondansetron: implications for a possible antipsychotic action of ondansetron. Psychopharmacology 114:657-664.

Clement-Cormier YC, Kebabian JW, Petzold GL, Greengard P (1974) Dopaminesensitive adenylate cyclase in mammalian brain: a possible site of action of antipsychotic drugs. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 71:1113-1117.

Clinton SM, Haroutunian V, MeadorGÇÉWoodruff JH (2006) Upregulation of NMDA receptor subunit and postsynaptic density protein expression in the thalamus of elderly patients with schizophrenia. Journal of Neurochemistry 98:1114-1125.

Cloninger CR (1997) Multilocus genetics of schizophrenia. Current Opinion in Psychiatry 10:5-10.

Cobb MH (1999) MAP kinase pathways. Progress in Biophysics & Molecular Biology 71:479-500.

Cobb MH, Goldsmith EJ (1995) How MAP kinases are regulated. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270:14843-14846.

Cochran SM, Kennedy M, McKerchar CE, Steward LJ, Pratt JA, Morris BJ (2003) Induction of metabolic hypofunction and neurochemical deficits after chronic intermittent exposure to phencyclidine: differential modulation by antipsychotic drugs. Neuropsychopharmacology 28:265-275. Collins JH, Leszyk J (1987) "gamma Subunit" of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase, a small, amphiphilic protein with a unique amino acid sequence. Biochemistry 26:8665-8668.

Contet C, Rawlins JN, Deacon RMJ (2001) A comparison of 12952/SvHsd and C57BL/6JOlaHsd mice on a test battery assessing sensorimotor, affective and cognitive behaviours: implications for the study of genetically modified mice. Behavioural Brain Research 124:33-46.

Cordell HJ, Clayton DG (2005) Genetic epidemiology 3 - Genetic association studies. Lancet 366: 1121-1131.

Cornelius F, Mahmmoud YA (2003) Functional modulation of the sodium pump: The regulatory proteins "fixit". News in Physiological Sciences 18:119-124.

Costall B, Domeney AM, Naylor RJ, Tyers MB (1987) Effects of the 5-HT₃ receptor antagonist, GR38032F, on raised dopaminergic activity in the mesolimbic system of the rat and marmoset brain. British Journal of Pharmacology 92:881-894.

Crambert G, Beguin P, Uldry M, Monnetgcetschugi F, Horisberger JD, Garty H, Geering K (2003) FXYD7, the First Brain and Isoform Specific Regulator of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 986:444-448.

Crambert G, Fuzesi M, Garty H, Karlish S, Geering K (2002) Phospholemman (FXYD1) associates with Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase and regulates its transport properties. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99:11476-11481.

Crambert G, Geering K (2003) FXYD proteins: new tissue-specific regulators of the ubiquitous $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$. Science's STKE 2003:re1.

Crambert G, Li C, Claeys D, Geering K (2005) FXYD3 (Mat-8), a new regulator of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Molecular biology of the cell 16:2363-2371.

Creese, DR Burt, H Snyder (1976) Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs 191: 481-483

Cross AJ, Crow TJ, Owen F (1981) 3 H-flupenthixol binding in post-mortem brains of schizophrenics: Evidence for a selective increase in dopamine D2 receptors. Psychopharmacology 74:122-124.

Dalman C, Tomas HV, David AS, Gentz J, Lewis G, Alleback P (2001) Signs of asphyxia at birth and risk of schizophrenia. The British Journal of Psychiatry 179:403-408.

Daniel DG, Goldberg TE, Gibbons RD, Weinberger DR (1991) Lack of a bimodal distribution of ventricular size in schizophrenia: a Gaussian mixture analysis of 1056 cases and controls. Biol Psychiatry 30:887-903.

Dowd EC, Barch DM (2010) Anhedonia and emotional experience in schizophrenia: neural and behavioral indicators. Biol Psychiatry 67: 902-911.

Dawson N, Morris BJ, Pratt JA (2011) Subanaesthetic Ketamine Treatment Alters Prefrontal Cortex Connectivity With Thalamus and Ascending Subcortical Systems. Schizophrenia Bulletin 32: 12018-12027 Dawson N, Thompson RJ, McVie A, Thomson DM, Morris BJ, Pratt JA (2010) Modafinil reverses phencyclidine-induced deficits in cognitive flexibility, cerebral metabolism, and functional brain connectivity. Schizophrenia Bulletin 38, 457-474

Degenhardt L, Hall W, Lynskey M (2003) Testing hypotheses about the relationship between cannabis use and psychosis. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 71:37-48.

Degreef G, Ashtari M, Bogerts B, Bilder RM, Jody DN, Alvir JMJ, Lieberman JA (1992) Volumes of ventricular system subdivisions measured from magnetic resonance images in first-episode schizophrenic patients. Archives of General Psychiatry 49:531-537.

Delprat B, Bibert S, Geering K (2006) FXYD proteins: novel regulators of Na^+K^+ ATPase. M S-Medecine Sciences 22:633-638.

Delprat B, Puel JL, Geering K (2007a) Dynamic expression of FXYD6 in the inner ear suggests a role of the protein in endolymph homeostasis and neuronal activity. Developmental Dynamics 236:2534-2540.

Delprat B, Schaert D, Roy S, Wang J, Puel JL, Geering K (2007b) FXYD6 is a novel regulator of $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ expressed in the inner ear. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282:7450-7456.

Dempster EL, Pidsley R, Schalkwyk LC, Owens S, Georgiades A, Kane F, Kalidindi S, Picchioni M, Kravariti E, Toulopoulou T (2011) Disease-associated epigenetic changes in monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Human Molecular Genetics 20:4786-4796.

Denenberg VH (1969) Open-field behaviour in the rat: What does it mean?. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 159:852-859.

Devon, R. S., S. Anderson, P. W. Teague, W. J. Muir, V. Murray, A. J. Pelosi, D. H. Blackwood, and D. J. Porteous. (2001). The genomic organisation of the metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 5 gene, and its association with schizophrenia. Molecular psychiatry 6: 311-314.

Dowd EC, Barch DM (2010) Anhedonia and emotional experience in schizophrenia: neural and behavioral indicators. Biol Psychiatry 67:902-911.

Dracheva S, Marras SAE, Elhakem SL, Kramer FR, Davis KL, Haroutunian V (2001) N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor expression in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex of elderly patients with schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 158:1400-1410.

Dracheva S, Elhakem SL, McGurk SR, Davis KL, Haroutunian V (2004) GAD67 and GAD65 mRNA and protein expression in cerebrocortical regions of elderly patients with schizophrenia. J Neurosci Res 76:581-592.

Eakle KA, Kabalin MA, Wang SG, Farley RA (1994) The influence of beta subunit structure on the stability of $Na^{\dagger}K^{\dagger}$ ATPase complexes and interaction with K+. Journal of Biological Chemistry 269:6550-6557.

Eastwood SL, Burnet PWJ, Harrison PJ (1997) GluR2 glutamate receptor subunit flip and flop isoforms are decreased in the hippocampal formation in schizophrenia: a reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) study. Molecular Brain Research 44:92-98.

Eastwood SL, McDonald B, Burnet PWJ, Beckwith JP, Kerwin RW, Harrison PJ (1995) Decreased expression of mRNAs encoding non-NMDA glutamate receptors GluRl and GluR2 in medial temporal lobe neurons in schizophrenia. Molecular Brain Research 29:211-223.

Egerton A (2008) Subchronic and chronic PCP treatment produces temporally distinct deficits in attentional set shifting and prepulse inhibition in rats. Psychopharmacology 198:37-49.

Ekelund J, Hennah W, Hiekkalinna T, Parker A, Meyer J, Lonnqvist J, Peltonen L (2004) Replication of 1q42 linkage in Finnish schizophrenia pedigrees. Molecular Psychiatry 9: 1037-1041.

Ellenbroek, B. A., & Cools, A. R. (1995). Maternal separation reduces latent inhibition in the conditioned taste aversion paradigm. Neuroscience Research Communications, 17: 27-34

El-Mallakh RS, Adnan ElGÇÉMasri M, Huff MOM, Li XP, Decker S, Levy RS (2003) Intracerebroventricular administration of ouabain as a model of mania in rats. Bipolar disorders 5:362-365.

El-Mallakh RS, Wyatt RJ (1995) The Na⁺ K⁺ Atpase Hypothesis for Bipolar Illness. Biol Psychiatry 37:235-244.

English J, Pearson G, Wilsbacher J, Swantek J, Karandikar M, Xu S, Cobb MH (1999) New insights into the control of MAP kinase pathways. Experimental Cell Research 253:255.

English JA, Pennington K, Dunn MJ, Cotter DR The Neuroproteomics of Schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 69:163-172.

Erecinska M, Cherian S, Silver IA (2004) Energy metabolism in mammalian brain during development. Progress in neurobiology 73:397-445.

Esmann M (1988) ATPase and phosphatase activity of $Na^+K^+ATPase$: Molar and specific activity, protein determination. Methods in enzymology 156:105-115.

Evans MJ, Kaufman MH (1981) Establishment in culture of pluripotential cells from mouse embryos. Nature 292:154-156.

Falkai P, Honer WG, David S, Bogerts B, Majtenyi C, Bayer TA (1999) No evidence for astrogliosis in brains of schizophrenic patients. A post-mortem study. Neuropathology and applied neurobiology 25:48-53.

Farde L, Wiesel FA, Nordstram AL, Sedvall G (1989) D1-and D2-dopamine receptor occupancy during treatment with conventional and atypical neuroleptics. Psychopharmacology 99:28-31.

Farid M, Martinez ZA, Geyer MA, Swerdlow NR (2000) Regulation of sensorimotor gating of the startle reflex by serotonin 2A receptors: ontogeny and strain differences. Neuropsychopharmacology 23: 623-632.

Ferra, A., Morris, B. J., Pratt, J. A., & Cochran, S. M. (2007). Transcriptome Analysis of Laser-microdissected Rat Brain Regions Relevant to Cognition and Psychiatric Disorders (Doctoral dissertation, University of Glasgow).

Fillmore MT, Rush CR, Marczinski CA (2003) Effects of d-amphetamine on behavioral control in stimulant abusers: the role of prepotent response tendencies. Drug and Alcohol Dependence 71:143-152.

Fioravanti M, Carlone O, Vitale B, Cinti ME, Clare L (2005) A meta-analysis of cognitive deficits in adults with a diagnosis of schizophrenia. Neuropsychology review 15:73-95.

Fleckenstein AE, Volz TJ, Riddle EL, Gibb JW, Hanson GR (2007) New insights into the mechanism of action of amphetamines. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 47:681-698.

Forbush III B, Kaplan JH, Hoffman JF (1978) Characterization of a new photoaffinity derivative of ouabain: labeling of the large polypeptide and of a proteolipid component of the (sodium-potassium ion)-dependent ATPase. Biochemistry 17:3667-3676.

Fuller W, Eaton P, Bell JR, Shattock MJ (2004) Ischemia-induced phosphorylation of phospholemman directly activates rat cardiac Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. The FASEB journal 18:197-199.

Funk AJ, McCullumsmith RE, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH (2011) Abnormal Activity of the MAPK-and cAMP-Associated Signaling Pathways in Frontal Cortical Areas in Postmortem Brain in Schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:896-905.

Gabriel SB, Schaffner SF, Nguyen H, Moore JM, Roy J, Blumenstiel B, Higgins J, Defelice M, Lochner A, Faggart M, Liu-Cordero SN, Rotimi C, Adeyemo A, Cooper R, Ward R, Lander ES, Daly MJ, Altshuler D (2002b) The structure of haplotype blocks in the human genome. Science 296: 2225-2229.

Gaffan D (1985) Hippocampus: Memory, Habit and Voluntary Movement. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B, Biological Sciences 308:87-99.

Galehdari H (2009) Association Between the G1001C Polymorphism in the GRIN1 Gene Promoter and Schizophrenia in the Iranian Population. Journal of Molecular Neuroscience 38:178-181.

Gambill JD, Kornetsky C (1976) Effects of chronic d-amphetamine on social behavior of the rat: implications for an animal model of paranoid schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology 50:215-223.

Garty H, Karlish SJD (2006) Role of FXYD proteins in ion transport. Annual Review of Physiology 68:431-459.
Garty H, Lindzen M, Scanzano R, Aizman R, Fuzesi M, Goldshleger R, Farman N, Blostein R, Karlish SJD (2002) A specific functional interaction between CHIF and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase: implication for regulation by FXYD proteins. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 283:F607-F615.

Gawin FH (1991) Cocaine addiction: psychology and neurophysiology. Science 251:1580-1586.

Geering K (2006) FXYD proteins: new regulators of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 290:F241-F250.

Geering K, Beguin P, Garty H, Karlish S, Fuzesi M, Horisberger JD, Crambert G (2003) FXYD Proteins: New Tissue and Isoform Specific Regulators of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 986:388-394.

Geering K, Meyer DI, Paccolat MP, Kraehenbuhl JP, Rossier BC (1985) Membrane insertion of alpha-and beta-subunits of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 260:5154-5160.

Georgi A, Jamra RA, Klein K, Villela AW, Schumacher J, Becker T, Paul T, Schmael C, Hafels S, Klopp N, Illig T, Propping P, Cichon S, Nathen MM, Schulze TG, Rietschel M (2007) Possible association between genetic variants at the GRIN1 gene and schizophrenia with lifetime history of depressive symptoms in a German sample. Psychiatric Genetics 17: 308-310

Geyer MA, Braff DL (1987) Startle habituation and sensorimotor gating in schizophrenia and related animal models. Schizophrenia Bulletin 13:643-668.

Geyer MA, Krebs-Thomson K, Braff DL, Swerdlow NR (2001) Pharmacological studies of prepulse inhibition models of sensorimotor gating deficits in schizophrenia: a decade in review. Psychopharmacology 156:117-154.

Geyer, M. A., Wilkinson, L. S., Humby, T., & Robbins, T. W. (1993). Isolation rearing of rats produces a deficit in prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle similar to that in schizophrenia. Biological psychiatry, 34: 361-372.

Giedd JN, Jeffries NO, Blumenthal J, Castellanos FX, Vaituzis AC, Fernandez T, Hamburger SD, Liu H, Nelson J, Bedwell J (1999) Childhood-onset schizophrenia: progressive brain changes during adolescence. Biol Psychiatry 46:892-898.

Glahn DC, Ragland JD, Abramoff A, Barrett J, Laird AR, Bearden CE, Velligan DI. (2005) Beyond hypofrontality: a quantitative meta-analysis of functional neuroimaging studies of working memory in schizophrenia 25: 60-69.

Gold S, Arndt S, Nopoulos P, OGÇÖLeary DS, Andreasen NC (1999) Longitudinal study of cognitive function in first-episode and recent-onset schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 156:1342-1348.

Goldman AL, Pezawas L, Mattay VS, Fischl B, Verchinski BA, Zoltick B, Weinberger DR, Meyer-Lindenberg A (2008) Heritability of brain morphology related to schizophrenia: a large-scale automated magnetic resonance imaging segmentation study. Biol Psychiatry 63: 475-483. Goldman-Rakic PS (1994) Working memory dysfunction in schizophrenia. The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences; The Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences.

Goldschmidt I, Grahammer F, Warth R, Schulz-Baldes A, Garty H, Greger R, Bleich M (2004) Kidney and colon electrolyte transport in CHIF knockout mice. Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry 14:113-120.

Goldstein I, Levy T, Galili D, Ovadia H, Yirmiya R, Rosen H, Lichtstein D (2006) Involvement of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase and endogenous digitalis-like compounds in depressive disorders. Biol Psychiatry 60:491-499.

Gong YG, Wu CN, Xing QH, Zhao XZ, Zhu J, He L (2009) A two-method metaanalysis of Neuregulin 1 (NRG1) association and heterogeneity in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 111: 109-114.

Gottesman II, McGuffin P, Farmer AE (1987) Clinical genetics as clues to the real genetics of schizophrenia (a decade of modest gains while playing for time. Schizophrenia Bulletin 13:23-47.

Gottesman II, Shields J (1982) Schizophrenia, the epigenetic puzzle. CUP Archive.

Granon S, Passetti F, Thomas KL, Dalley JW, Everitt BJ, Robbins TW (2000) Enhanced and impaired attentional performance after infusion of D1 dopaminergic receptor agents into rat prefrontal cortex. Journal of Neuroscience 20:1208-1215.

Gray, L., V, M., Scarr, E., Dean, B., & Hannan, A. J. (2009). Clozapine reverses schizophrenia-related behaviours in the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 knockout mouse: association with N-methyl-D-aspartic acid receptor up-regulation. The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology, 12: 45-60

Graziotto JJ, Inglehearn CF, Pack MA, Pierce EA (2008) Decreased Levels of the RNA Splicing Factor Prpf3 in Mice and Zebrafish Do Not Cause Photoreceptor Degeneration. Investigative Ophthalmology & Visual Science 49:3830-3838.

Grimwood S, Slater P, Deakin JFW, Hutson PH (1999) NR_{2B}-containing NMDA receptors are up-regulated in temporal cortex in schizophrenia. Neuroreport 10:461-465.

Guo SW, Thompson EA (1992) Performing the exact test of Hardy-Weinberg proportion for multiple alleles. Biometrics 361-372.

Gupta, D. S., McCullumsmith, R. E., Beneyto, M., Haroutunian, V., Davis, K. L., & Meador-Woodruff, J. H. (2005). Metabotropic glutamate receptor protein expression in the prefrontal cortex and striatum in schizophrenia. Synapse, 57: 123-131.

Gutierrez R (2003) The GABAergic phenotype of the glutamatergic granule cells of the dentate gyrus. Progress in neurobiology 71:337-358.

Gutierrez R (2009) The Dual Glutamatergic/GABAergic Phenotype of Hippocampal Granule Cells. Co-Existence and Co-Release of Classical Neurotransmitters1-21.

Hall, F. S., Humby, T., Wilkinson, L. S., & Robbins, T. W. (1997). The effects of isolation-rearing of rats on behavioural responses to food and environmental novelty. Physiology & behaviour, 62: 281-290.

Hall, F. S., Wilkinson, L. S., Humby, T., & Robbins, T. W. (1999). Maternal deprivation of neonatal rats produces enduring changes in dopamine function. Synapse, 32: 37-43.

Hardy GH (1908) Mendelian proportions in a mixed population. Science 28:49-50.

Harris D, Batki SL (2000) Stimulant Psychosis: Symptom Profile and Acute Clinical Course. The American Journal on Addictions 9:28-37.

Harrison PJ (1999) The neuropathology of schizophrenia - A critical review of the data and their interpretation. Brain 122:593-624.

Harvey PD, Rabinowitz J, Eerdekens M, Davidson M (2005) Treatment of cognitive impairment in early psychosis: a comparison of risperidone and haloperidol in a large long-term trial. American Journal of Psychiatry 162:1888-1895.

Hashimoto T, Nishino N, Nakai H, Tanaka C (1991) Increase in serotonin 5-HT 1A receptors in prefrontal and temporal cortices of brains from patients with chronic schizophrenia. Life Sciences 48:355-363.

Hashimoto T, Volk DW, Eggan SM, Mirnics K, Pierri JN, Sun Z, Sampson AR, Lewis DA (2003) Gene expression deficits in a subclass of GABA neurons in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. The Journal of Neuroscience 23:6315-6326.

Hattersley AT, McCarthy MI (2005) Genetic Epidemiology 5 - What makes a good genetic association study? Lancet 366:1315-1323.

Henquet C, Rosa A, Delespaul P, Papiol S, Faêanís L, Van Os J, MyinGÇÉGermeys I (2009) COMT Val158Met moderation of cannabisGÇÉinduced psychosis: a momentary assessment study of switching onGÇÖhallucinations in the flow of daily life. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 119:156-160.

Hess EJ, Stefan Bracha H, Kleinman JE, Creese I (1987) Dopamine receptor subtype imbalance in schizophrenia. Life Sciences 40:1487-1497.

Ho BC, Andreasen NC, Nopoulos P, Arndt S, Magnotta V, Flaum M (2003) Progressive structural brain abnormalities and their relationship to clinical outcome: a longitudinal magnetic resonance imaging study early in schizophrenia. Archives of General Psychiatry 60:585.

Holland PM, Suzanne M, Campbell JS, Noselli S, Cooper JA (1997) MKK7 Is A Stress-activated Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Kinase Functionally Related to hemipterous. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:24994-24998. Howes OD, Kapur S (2009) The dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia: version III:the final common pathway. Schizophrenia Bulletin 35:549-562.

Hultman CM, Sparén P, Takei N, Murray RM, Cnattingius S, Geddes J (1999) PapersPrenatal and perinatal risk factors for schizophrenia, affective psychosis, and reactive psychosis of early onset: case-control study Prenatal and perinatal risk factors for early onset schizophrenia, affective psychosis, and reactive psychosis. Bmj 318:421-426.

Hurd YL, Suzuki M, Sedvall GC (2001) D1 and D2 dopamine receptor mRNA expression in whole hemisphere sections of the human brain. Journal of chemical neuroanatomy 22:127-137.

Imre G, Fokkema DS, Boer JAD, Ter Horst GJ (2006) Dose-response characteristics of ketamine effect on locomotion, cognitive function and central neuronal activity. Brain Research Bulletin 69:338-345.

Ino Y (2002) Dysadherin, a cancer-associated cell membrane glycoprotein, downregulates E-cadherin and promotes metastasis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 99, 365-370.

Iorio LC, Barnett A, Leitz FH, Houser VP, Korduba CA (1983) SCH 23390, a potential benzazepine antipsychotic with unique interactions on dopaminergic systems. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 226:462-468.

Irifune M, Shimizu T, Nomoto M (1991) Ketamine-induced hyperlocomotion associated with alteration of presynaptic components of dopamine neurons in the nucleus accumbens of mice. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 40:399-407.

Ito Y, Nakamura Y, Takahashi N, Saito S, Aleksic B, Iwata N, Inada T, Ozaki N (2008) A genetic association study of the FXYD domain containing ion transport regulator 6 (FXYD6) gene, encoding phosphohippolin, in susceptibility to schizophrenia in a Japanese population. Neuroscience Letters 438:70-75.

Iwata Y, Yamada K, Iwayama Y, Anitha A, Thanseem I, Toyota T, Hattori E, Ohnishi T, Maekawa M, Nakamura K, Suzuki K, Matsuzaki H, Tsuchiya KJ, Suda S, Sugihara G, Takebayashi K, Yamamoto S, Iwata K, Mori N, Yoshikawa T (2010) Failure to confirm genetic association of the FXYD6 gene with schizophrenia: the Japanese population and meta-analysis. Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet 153B:1221-1227.

Jaisser F, Canessa CM, Horisberger JD, Rossier BC (1992) Primary sequence and functional expression of a novel ouabain-resistant Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. The beta subunit modulates potassium activation of the Na, K-pump. Journal of Biological Chemistry 267:16895-16903.

James PF, Grupp IL, Grupp G, Woo AL, Askew GR, Croyle ML, Walsh RA, Lingrel JB (1999) Identification of a specific role for the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase α_2 isoform as a regulator of calcium in the heart. Molecular cell 3:555-563.

Japha K, Koch M (1999) Picrotoxin in the medial prefrontal cortex impairs sensorimotor gating in rats: reversal by haloperidol. Psychopharmacology 144: 347-354

Jeste DV, Lohr JB (1989) Hippocampal pathologic findings in schizophrenia: a morphometric study. Archives of General Psychiatry 46:1019.

Jewell EA, Lingrel JB (1991) Comparison of the substrate dependence properties of the rat Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase alpha 1, alpha 2, and alpha 3 isoforms expressed in HeLa cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 266:16925-16930.

Jia P, Wang L, Meltzer HY, Zhao Z (2010) Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia: a pathway analysis of GWAS data. Schizophr Res 122:38-42.

Johnson GL, Lapadat R (2002) Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases. Science's STKE 298:1911.

Johnstone EC, Crow TJ, Macmillan JF, Owens DG, Bydder GM, Steiner RE (1986) A magnetic resonance study of early schizophrenia. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry 49: 136-139.

Jorgensen PL, Andersen JP (1988) Structural basis for E 1, E 2 conformational transitions in Na⁺ K⁺ pump and Ca²⁺ pump proteins. Journal of Membrane Biology 103:95-120.

Jorgensen PL, Håkansson KO, Karlish SJD (2003) Structure and mechanism of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase: functional sites and their interactions. Annual Review of Physiology 65:817-849.

Jurewicz I, Owen RJ, O'Donovan MC, Owen MJ (2001) Searching for susceptibility genes in schizophrenia. European Neuropsychopharmacology 11:395-398.

Kadowaki K, Sugimoto K, Yamaguchi F, Song T, Watanabe Y, Singh K, Tokuda M (2004) Phosphohippolin expression in the rat central nervous system. Molecular Brain Research 125:105-112.

Kamiyama H, Matsumoto M, Otani S, Kimura SI, Shimamura KI, Ishikawa S, Yanagawa Y, Togashi H (2011) Mechanisms underlying ketamine-induced synaptic depression in rat hippocampus-medial prefrontal cortex pathway. Neuroscience 177:159-169.

Kapur s, Seeman P (2002) NMDA receptor antagonists ketamine and PCP have direct effects on the dopamine D_2 and serotonin 5-HT₂receptors; implications for models of schizophrenia. pp 837-844.

Kayed H (2006) FXYD3 is overexpressed in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and influences pancreatic cancer cell growth. International journal of cancer, 118: 43-54.

Kendler, K. S., Sheth, K., Gardner, C. O., & Prescott, C. A. (2002). Childhood parental loss and risk for first-onset of major depression and alcohol dependence: the time-decay of risk and sex differences. Psychological medicine, 32: 1187-1194.

Kim DI, Manoach DS, Mathalon DH, Turner JA, Mannell M, Brown GG, Ford JM, Gollub RL, White T, Wible C (2009) Dysregulation of working memory and defaultGÇÉmode networks in schizophrenia using independent component analysis, an fBIRN and MCIC study. Human Brain Mapping 30:3795-3811.

Kinney JW, Davis CN, Tabarean I, Conti B, Bartfai T, Behrens MM (2006) A specific role for NR2A-containing NMDA receptors in the maintenance of parvalbumin and GAD67 immunoreactivity in cultured interneurons. The Journal of Neuroscience 26:1604-1615.

Knable MB, Weinberger DR (1997) Dopamine, the prefrontal cortex and schizophrenia. Journal of Psychopharmacology 11:123-131.

Kodsi MH, Swerdlow NR (1994) Quinolinic acid lesions of the ventral striatum reduce sensorimotor gating of acoustic startle in rats. Brain Research 643:59-65.

Korotkova T, Fuchs EC, Ponomarenko A, Von Engelhardt J, Monyer H (2010) NMDA receptor ablation on parvalbumin-positive interneurons impairs hippocampal synchrony, spatial representations, and working memory. Neuron 68:557-569.

Kretschmer BD, Koch M (1997) Role of the strychnine-insensitive glycine binding site in the nucleus accumbens and anterodorsal striatum in sensorimotor gating: a behavioral and microdialysis study. Psychopharmacology 130:131-138.

Kristiansen LV, Beneyto M, Haroutunian V, Meador-Woodruff JH (2006) Changes in NMDA receptor subunits and interacting PSD proteins in dorsolateral prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex indicate abnormal regional expression in schizophrenia. Molecular Psychiatry 11:737-747.

Kruger HS, Brockmann MD, Salamon J, Ittri, , rald, Hanganu-Opat, Ileana L. (2012) Neonatal hippocampal lesion alters the functional maturation of the prefrontal cortex and the early cognitive development in pre-juvenile rats. Neurobiology of Learning and Memory 97:470-481.

Kurup RK, Kurup PA (2003) Schizoid neurochemical pathology-induced membrane Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase inhibition in relation to neurological disorders. International Journal of Neuroscience 113:1705-1717.

Kurup RKA, Devi D, Augustine J, Kurup PA (2001) Alteration in glycoconjugate metabolism in CNS disorders - Role of isoprenoid pathway. Neuroscience Research Communications 28:95-106.

Kyosseva SV (2004) Mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling. Disorders of Synaptic Plasticity and Schizophrenia 59:201-220.

Kyosseva SV, Elbein AD, Griffin WST, Mrak RE, Lyon M, Karson CN (1999) Mitogenactivated protein kinases in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 46:689-696.

Lahti AC, Weiler MA, Tamara Michaelidis BA, Parwani A, Tamminga CA (2001) Effects of ketamine in normal and schizophrenic volunteers. Neuropsychopharmacology 25:455-467.

Lander ES, Linton LM, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Zody MC, Baldwin J, Devon K, Dewar K, Doyle M, FitzHugh W, Funke R, Gage D, Harris K, Heaford A, Howland J, Kann L, Lehoczky J, Levine R, McEwan P, McKernan K, Meldrim J, Mesirov JP, Miranda C, Morris W, Naylor J, Raymond C, Rosetti M, Santos R, Sheridan A, Sougnez C, Stange-Thomann N, Stojanovic N, Subramanian A, Wyman D, Rogers J, Sulston J, Ainscough R, Beck S, Bentley D, Burton J, Clee C, Carter N, Coulson A, Deadman

R, Deloukas P, Dunham A, Dunham I, Durbin R, French L, Grafham D, Gregory S, Hubbard T, Humphray S, Hunt A, Jones M, Lloyd C, McMurray A, Matthews L, Mercer S, Milne S, Mullikin JC, Mungall A, Plumb R, Ross M, Shownkeen R, Sims S, Waterston RH, Wilson RK, Hillier LW, McPherson JD, Marra MA, Mardis ER, Fulton LA, Chinwalla AT, Pepin KH, Gish WR, Chissoe SL, Wendl MC, Delehaunty KD, Miner TL, Delehaunty A, Kramer JB, Cook LL, Fulton RS, Johnson DL, Minx PJ, Clifton SW, Hawkins T, Branscomb E, Predki P, Richardson P, Wenning S, Slezak T, Doggett N, Cheng JF, Olsen A, Lucas S, Elkin C, Uberbacher E, Frazier M, Gibbs RA, Muzny DM, Scherer SE, Bouck JB, Sodergren EJ, Worley KC, Rives CM, Gorrell JH, Metzker ML, Naylor SL, Kucherlapati RS, Nelson DL, Weinstock GM, Sakaki Y, Fujiyama A, Hattori M, Yada T, Toyoda A, Itoh T, Kawagoe C, Watanabe H, Totoki Y, Taylor T, Weissenbach J, Heilig R, Saurin W, Artiguenave F, Brottier P, Bruls T, Pelletier E, Robert C, Wincker P, Rosenthal A, Platzer M, Nyakatura G, Taudien S, Rump A, Yang HM, Yu J, Wang J, Huang GY, Gu J, Hood L, Rowen L, Madan A, Qin SZ, Davis RW, Federspiel NA, Abola AP, Proctor MJ, Myers RM, Schmutz J, Dickson M, Grimwood J, Cox DR, Olson MV, Kaul R, Raymond C, Shimizu N, Kawasaki K, Minoshima S, Evans GA, Athanasiou M, Schultz R, Roe BA, Chen F, Pan HQ, Ramser J, Lehrach H, Reinhardt R, McCombie WR, de la Bastide M, Dedhia N, Blocker H, Hornischer K, Nordsiek G, Agarwala R, Aravind L, Bailey JA, Bateman A, Batzoglou S, Birney E, Bork P, Brown DG, Burge CB, Cerutti L, Chen HC, Church D, Clamp M, Copley RR, Doerks T, Eddy S, Eichler EE, Furey TS, Galagan J, Gilbert JGR, Harmon C, Hayashizaki Y, Haussler D, Hermjakob H, Hokamp K, Jang WH, Johnson LS, Jones TA, Kasif S, Kaspryzk A, Kennedy S, Kent WJ, Kitts P, Koonin EV, Korf I, Kulp D, Lancet D, Lowe TM, McLysaght A, Mikkelsen T, Moran JV, Mulder N, Pollara VJ, Ponting CP, Schuler G, Schultz J, Slater G, Smit AFA, Stupka E, Szustakowki J, Thierry-Mieg D, Thierry-Mieg J, Wagner L, Wallis J, Wheeler R, Williams A, Wolf YI, Wolfe KH, Yang SP, Yeh RF, Collins F, Guyer MS, Peterson J, Felsenfeld A, Wetterstrand KA, Patrinos A, Morgan MJ (2001a) Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 409: 860-921.

Morgan, C., Kirkbride, J., Leff, J., Craig, T., Hutchinson, G., McKenzie, K.. & Fearon, P. (2007). Parental separation, loss and psychosis in different ethnic groups: a case-control study. Psychological medicine, 3: 495-504.

Laroche S, Davis S, Jay TrsM (2000) Plasticity at hippocampal to prefrontal cortex synapses: Dual roles in working memory and consolidation. Hippocampus 10:438-446.

Laruelle M (1998) Imaging dopamine transmission in schizophrenia. A review and meta-analysis. The quarterly journal of nuclear medicine: official publication of the Italian Association of Nuclear Medicine (AIMN) and the International Association of Radiopharmacology (IAR) 42:211-221.

Lawrie SM, Abukmeil SS (1998) Brain abnormality in schizophrenia. A systematic and quantitative review of volumetric magnetic resonance imaging studies. The British Journal of Psychiatry 172:110-120.

Lawrie SM, Whalley H, Kestelman JN, Abukmeil SS, Byrne M, Hodges A, Rimmington JE, Best JJK, Owens DGC, Johnstone EC (1999) Magnetic resonance imaging of brain in people at high risk of developing schizophrenia. The Lancet 353:30-33. Lein ES, Hawrylycz MJ, Ao N, Ayres M, Bensinger A, Bernard A, Boe AF, Boguski MS, Brockway KS, Byrnes EJ (2006) Genome-wide atlas of gene expression in the adult mouse brain. Nature 445:168-176.

Leucht S, Pitschel-Walz G, Abraham D, Kissling W (1999) Efficacy and extrapyramidal side-effects of the new antipsychotics olanzapine, quetiapine, risperidone, and sertindole compared to conventional antipsychotics and placebo. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Schizophr Res 35:51-68.

Levi G, Roberts PJ, Raiteri M (1976) Release and exchange of neurotransmitters in synaptosomes: effects of the ionophore A23187 and of ouabain. Neurochemical Research 1:409-416.

Lewis CM, et al. (2003) Genome Scan Meta-Analysis of Schizophrenia and Bipolar Disorder, Part II: Schizophrenia. pp 34-48.

Lewis DA, Hashimoto T, Volk DW (2005) Cortical inhibitory neurons and schizophrenia. Nature Rev Neurosci 6:312-324.

Lewis DA, Pierri JN, Volk DW, Melchitzky DS, Woo TUW (1999) Altered GABA neurotransmission and prefrontal cortical dysfunction in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 46:616-626.

Lewis R, Kapur S, Jones C, DaSilva J, Brown GM, Wilson AA, Houle S, Zipursky RB (1999b) Serotonin 5-HT2 receptors in schizophrenia: a PET study using [18F] setoperone in neuroleptic-naive patients and normal subjects. American Journal of Psychiatry 156:72-78.

Leysen JE, Janssen PM, Megens AA, Schotte A (1994) Risperidone: a novel antipsychotic with balanced serotonin-dopamine antagonism, receptor occupancy profile, and pharmacologic activity. The Journal of clinical psychiatry 55:5-12.

Li C, Grosdidier A, Crambert G, Horisberger JD, Michielin O, Geering K+ (2004) Structural and Functional Interaction Sites between $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$ and FXYD Proteins. Journal of Biological Chemistry 279:38895-38902.

Li D, Collier DA, He L (2006) Meta-analysis shows strong positive association of the neuregulin 1 (NRG1) gene with schizophrenia. Human Molecular Genetics 15: 1995-2002.

Li MY, Li C (2008) Assessing Departure from Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium in the Presence of Disease Association. Genetic Epidemiology 32: 589-599.

Lidow MS, Goldman-Rakic PS, Gallager DW, Rakic P (1991) Distribution of dopaminergic receptors in the primate cerebral cortex: Quantitative autoradiographic analysis using raclopride, rispiperone and SCH23390. Neuroscience 40:657-671.

Lifshitz Y, Lindzen M, Garty H, Karlish SJD (2006) Functional interactions of phospholemman (PLM)(FXYD1) with $Na^+ K^+ ATPase$. Journal of Biological Chemistry 281:15790-15799.

Lingrel J, Moseley A, Dostanic I, Cougnon M, He S, James P, Woo A, O'Connor K, Neumann J (2003) Functional Roles of the \acute{a} Isoforms of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 986:354-359.

Lingrel JB (1992) Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase: isoform structure, function, and expression. Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes 24:263-270.

Lingrel JB, Williams MT, Vorhees CV, Moseley AE (2007) $Na^+K^+ATPase$ and the role of alpha isoforms in behavior. Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes 39:385-389.

Lipska B, Weinberger D, Swerdlow N, Geyer M, Braff D, Jaskiw G (1995) Neonatal excitotoxic hippocampal damage in rats causes post-pubertal changes in prepulse inhibition of startle and its disruption by apomorphine. Psychopharmacology 122:35-43.

Lipska BK (2004) Using animal models to test a neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia. J Psychiatry Neurosci 29:282-286.

Lisman JE, Coyle JT, Green RW, Javitt DC, Benes FM, Heckers S, Grace AA (2008) Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. Trends in Neurosciences 31:234-242.

Lister RG (1987) The use of a plus-maze to measure anxiety in the mouse. Psychopharmacology 92:180-185.

Looney SW, El-Mallakh RS (1997) Meta-analysis of erythrocyte Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity in bipolar illness. Depression and anxiety 5:53-65.

Lopez-Figueroa AL, Norton CS, Lopez-Figueroa MO, Armellini-Dodel D, Burke S, Akil H, Lopez JF, Watson SJ (2004) Serotonin 5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B}, and 5-HT_{2A} receptor mRNA expression in subjects with major depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 55:225-233.

Lord C, Risi S, Lambrecht L, Cook EH, Leventhal BL, DiLavore PC, Pickles A, Rutter M (2000) The Autism Diagnostic Observation Schedule Generic: A Standard Measure of Social and Communication Deficits Associated with the Spectrum of Autism. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders 30:205-223.

Lotta T, Vidgren J, Tilgmann C, Ulmanen I, Melen K, Julkunen I, Taskinen J (1995) Kinetics of human soluble and membrane-bound catechol Omethyltransferase: a revised mechanism and description of the thermolabile variant of the enzyme. Biochemistry 34: 4202-4210.

Lubarski I (2005) Interaction with the Na, K-ATPase and tissue distribution of FXYD5 (related to ion channel). Journal of Biological Chemistry, 280: 37717-37724.

Lubarski I, Asher C, Garty H (2011) FXYD5 (dysadherin) regulates the paracellular permeability in cultured kidney collecting duct cells. American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology 301:F1270-F1280.

Lupfert C, Grell E, Pintschovius V, Apell HJ, Cornelius F, Clarke RJ (2001) Rate limitation of the $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ pump cycle. Biophysical journal 81:2069-2081.

Mahmmoud YA, Vorum H, Cornelius F (2000) Identification of a phospholemmanlike protein from shark rectal glands. Journal of Biological Chemistry 275:35969-35977.

Malhotra AK, Pinals DA, Adler CM, Elman I, Clifton A, Pickar D, Breier A (1997) Ketamine-induced exacerbation of psychotic symptoms and cognitive impairment in neuroleptic-free schizophrenics. Neuropsychopharmacology 17:141-150.

Mangalore R, Knapp M (2007) Cost of schizophrenia in England. The journal of mental health policy and economics 10:23-41.

Manoach DS (2003) Prefrontal cortex dysfunction during working memory performance in schizophrenia: reconciling discrepant findings. Schizophr Res 60:285-298.

Manoach DS, Gollub RL, Benson ES, Searl MM, Goff DC, Halpern E, Saper CB, Rauch SL (2000) Schizophrenic subjects show aberrant fMRI activation of dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and basal ganglia during working memory performance 48: 99-109.

Mansbach RS, Geyer MA, Braff DL (1988) Dopaminergic stimulation disrupts sensorimotor gating in the rat. Psychopharmacology 94:507-514.

Marek GJ, Aghajanian GK (1996) LSD and the phenethylamine hallucinogen DOI are potent partial agonists at $5-HT_{2A}$ receptors on interneurons in rat piriform cortex. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 278:1373-1382.

Martin-Vasallo P, Dackowski W, Emanuel JR, Levenson R (1989) Identification of a putative isoform of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase beta subunit. Primary structure and tissue-specific expression. Journal of Biological Chemistry 264:4613-4618.

Matrisciano F, Tueting P, Dalal I, Kadriu B, Grayson DR, Davis JM, Nicoletti F, Guidotti A (2012) Epigenetic modifications of GABAergic interneurons are associated with the schizophrenia-like phenotype induced by prenatal stress in mice 1-11. Neuropharmacology.

Matsuo N, Takao K, Nakanishi K, Yamasaki N, Tanda K, Miyakawa T (2010) Behavioral profiles of three C57BL/6 substrains. Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience 4: 29-41

Maxwell CR, Ehrlichman RS, Liang Y, Trief D, Kanes SJ, Karp J, Siegel SJ (2006) Ketamine Produces Lasting Disruptions in Encoding of Sensory Stimuli. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 316:315-324.

Mayer C, Bierhoff H, Grummt I (2005) The nucleolus as a stress sensor: JNK2 inactivates the transcription factor TIF-IA and down-regulates rRNA synthesis. Genes & Development 19:933-941.

McClellan JM, Susser E, King MC (2007) Schizophrenia: a common disease caused by multiple rare alleles. British Journal of Psychiatry 190:194-199.

McGrail KM, Phillips JM, Sweadner KJ (1991) Immunofluorescent localization of three Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase isozymes in the rat central nervous system: both neurons

and glia can express more than one $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ ase. The Journal of Neuroscience 11:381-391.

McGrath J, Saha S, Welham J, El Saadi O, MacCauley C, Chant D (2004) A systematic review of the incidence of schizophrenia: the distribution of rates and the influence of sex, urbanicity, migrant status and methodology. BMC medicine 2:13-35.

McGrath JJ, Hearle J, Jenner L, Plant K, Drummond A, Barkla JM (1999) The fertility and fecundity of patients with psychoses. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 99:441-446.

McLean R, Baker A, Walker S, Mazer C, Wong B, Harrington E (1996) Ketamine concentrations during cardiopulmonary bypass. Canadian Journal of Anesthesia / Journal canadien d'anesthesie 43:580-584.

McMillen BA (1983) CNS stimulants: two distinct mechanisms of action for amphetamine-like drugs. Trends Pharmacol Sci 4:429-432.

McNeil TF, Cantor-Graae E, Weinberger DR (2000) Relationship of obstetric complications and differences in size of brain structures in monozygotic twin pairs discordant for schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 157:203-212.

Meador-Woodruff JH, Damask SP, Wang J, Haroutunian V, Davis KL, Watson SJ (1996) Dopamine receptor mRNA expression in human striatum and neocortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 15:17-29.

Meller E, Bohmaker K, Goldstein M, Friedhoff AJ (1985) Inactivation of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors by N-ethoxycarbonyl-2-ethoxy-1, 2-dihydroquinoline in vivo: selective protection by neuroleptics. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 233:656-662.

Melton DW (1994) Gene targeting in the mouse. BioEssays 16:633-638.

Meltzer HY (1989) Clinical studies on the mechanism of action of clozapine: the dopamine-serotonin hypothesis of schizophrenia. Psychopharmacology 99:18-27.

Meltzer HY (1992) The importance of serotonin-dopamine interactions in the action of clozapine. The British journal of psychiatry 17: 22-29.

Meltzer HY, McGurk SR (1999) The effects of clozapine, risperidone, and olanzapine on cognitive function in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Bulletin 25:233-255.

Mercer RW, Biemesderfer D, Bliss Jr DP, Collins JH, Forbush B (1993) Molecular cloning and immunological characterization of the gamma polypeptide, a small protein associated with the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. The Journal of cell biology 121:579-586.

Millar JK, Christie S, Anderson S, Lawson D, Loh DHW, Devon RS, Arveiler B, Muir WJ, Blackwood DHR, Porteous DJ (2001) Genomic structure and localisation within a linkage hotspot of Disrupted In Schizophrenia 1, a gene disrupted by a translocation segregating with schizophrenia. Molecular Psychiatry 6: 173-178.

Miller TJ, Davis PB (2008) FXYD5 modulates Na+ absorption and is increased in cystic fibrosis airway epithelia. American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology 294:L654-L664.

Mintorovitch J, Yang GY, Shimizu H, Kucharczyk J, Chan PH, Weinstein PR (1994) Diffusion-Weighted Magnetic Resonance Imaging of Acute Focal Cerebral Ischemia: Comparison of Signal Intensity with Changes in Brain Water and Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase Activity. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism 14:332-336.

Mirnics K, Middleton FA, Marquez A, Lewis DA, Levitt P (2000) Molecular characterization of schizophrenia viewed by microarray analysis of gene expression in prefrontal cortex. Neuron 28:53-67.

Mitchell KJ, Porteous DJ (2011) Rethinking the genetic architecture of schizophrenia. Psychological Medicine 41:19-32.

Moghaddam, B., & Adams, B. W. (1998). Reversal of phencyclidine effects by a group II metabotropic glutamate receptor agonist in rats. Science, 281: 1349-1352.

Mohamed S, Paulsen JS, O'Leary D, Arndt S, Andreasen N (1999) Generalized cognitive deficits in schizophrenia: a study of first-episode patients. Archives of General Psychiatry 56:749-754.

Mohn AR, Gainetdinov RR, Caron MG, Koller BH (1999) Mice with reduced NMDA receptor expression display behaviors related to schizophrenia. Cell 98:427-436.

Moore JH (2003) The Ubiquitous Nature of Epistasis in Determining Susceptibility to Common Human Diseases. Human Heredity 56:73-82.

Morris BJ, Cochran SM, Pratt JA (2005) PCP: from pharmacology to modelling schizophrenia. Current Opinion in Pharmacology 5:101-106.

Moshitzky S (2012) Intracellular Trafficking of FXYD1 (Phospholemman) and FXYD7 Proteins in Xenopus Oocytes and Mammalian Cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 287: 21130-21141.

Mortensen PB, Pedersen CB, Westergaard T, Wohlfahrt J, Ewald H, Mors O, Andersen PK, Melbye M (1999) Effects of family history and place and season of birth on the risk of schizophrenia. New England Journal of Medicine 340:603-608.

Moseley AE, Lieske SP, Wetzel RK, James PF, He S, Shelly DA, Paul RJ, Boivin GP, Witte DP, Ramirez JM (2003) The Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase \dot{a} isoform is expressed in neurons, and its absence disrupts neuronal activity in newborn mice. Journal of Biological Chemistry 278:5317-5324.

Moseley AE, Williams MT, Schaefer TL, Bohanan CS, Neumann JC, Behbehani MM, Vorhees CV, Lingrel JB (2007) Deficiency in $Na^+ K^+$ ATPase alpha isoform genes alters spatial learning, motor activity, and anxiety in mice. Journal of Neuroscience 27:616-626.

Moy SS, Nadler JJ, Perez A, Barbaro RP, Johns JM, Magnuson TR, Piven J, Crawley JN (2004) Sociability and preference for social novelty in five inbred strains: an approach to assess autistic-like behavior in mice. Genes, Brain and Behavior 3:287-302.

Moy SS, Perez A, Koller BH, Duncan GE (2006) Amphetamine-induced disruption of prepulse inhibition in mice with reduced NMDA receptor function. Brain Research 1089:186-194.

Myers SJ, Dingledine R, Borges K (1999) Genetic regulation of gluta, ate receptor ion channels. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 39:221-241.

Nagy A (2000) Cre recombinase: the universal reagent for genome tailoring. Genesis 26:99-109.

Nanitsos EK, Acosta GB, Saihara Y, Stanton D, Liao LP, Shin JW, Rae C, Balcar VJ (2004) Effects of glutamate transport substrates and glutamate receptor ligands on the activity of Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase in brain tissue in vitro. Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology 31:762-769.

Nanitsos EK, Nguyen KTD, St'astny F, Balcar VJ (2005) Glutamatergic hypothesis of schizophrenia: involvement of Na⁺ K⁺ dependent glutamate transport. Journal of Biomedical Science 12:975-984.

Nicoll RA, Schmitz D (2005) Synaptic plasticity at hippocampal mossy fibre synapses. Nature Reviews Neuroscience 6:863-876.

Nimgaonkar VL, Ward SE, Agarde H, Weston N, Ganguli R (1997) Fertility in schizophrenia: results from a contemporary US cohort. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 95:364-369.

Noguchi S, Higashi K, Kawamura M (1990) A possible role of the beta-subunit of $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ as in facilitating correct assembly of the alpha-subunit into the membrane. Journal of Biological Chemistry 265:15991-15995.

Nuechterlein KH, Barch DM, Gold JM, Goldberg TE, Green MF, Heaton RK (2004) Identification of separable cognitive factors in schizophrenia. Schizophr Research 72:29-39.

Ojima T, Ito C, Sakurai E, Sakurai E, Watanabe T, Yanai K (2004) Effects of serotoninGÇôdopamine antagonists on prepulse inhibition and neurotransmitter contents in the rat cortex. Neuroscience Letters 366:130-134.

Okubo Y, Suhara T, Suzuki K, Kobayashi K, Inoue O, Terasaki O, Someya Y, Sassa T, Sudo Y, Matsushima E (1997) Decreased prefrontal dopamine D1 receptors in schizophrenia revealed by PET. Nature 385, 634 - 636

Olton DS, Paras BC (1979) Spatial memory and hippocampal function. Neuropsychologia 17:669-682.

Orlowski J, Lingrel JB (1988) Tissue-specific and developmental regulation of rat Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase catalytic alpha isoform and beta subunit mRNAs. Journal of Biological Chemistry 263:10436-10442.

Owen MJ CN (2010) SUggestion of roles for both common and rare risk variants in genome-wide studies of schizophrenia. Archives of General Psychiatry 67:667-673.

Papp M, Willner P, Muscat R (1991) An animal model of anhedonia: attenuation of sucrose consumption and place preference conditioning by chronic unpredictable mild stress. Psychopharmacology 104:255-259.

Paulus MP, Dulawa SC, Ralph RJ, Geyer MA (1999) Behavioral organization is independent of locomotor activity in 129 and C57 mouse strains. Brain Research 835:27-36.

Pearson G, Robinson F, Beers Gibson T, Xu B, Karandikar M, Berman K, Cobb MH (2001) Mitogen-Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Pathways: Regulation and Physiological Functions. Endocrine Reviews 22:153-183.

Pedemonte CH, Kaplan JH (1990) Chemical modification as an approach to elucidation of sodium pump structure-function relations. American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology 258:C1-C23.

Pellerin L, Magistretti PJ (1997) Glutamate Uptake Stimulates $Na^+K^+ATPase$ Activity in Astrocytes via Activation of a Distinct Subunit Highly Sensitive to Ouabain. Journal of Neurochemistry 69:2132-2137.

Perry W, Minassian A, Feifel D, Braff DL (2001) Sensorimotor gating deficits in bipolar disorder patients with acute psychotic mania. Biol Psychiatry 50:418-424.

Perry W, Minassian A, Lopez B, Maron L, Lincoln A (2007) Sensorimotor gating deficits in adults with autism. Biol Psychiatry 61:482-486.

Petronijevic, Mic'ic' DV, D, Paunovic' VR. (2003) Substrate kinetics of erythrocyte membrane $Na^+ K^+ ATP$ and lipid peroxides in schizophrenia. pp 431-440.

Pezze MA, Dalley JW, Robbins TW (2006) Differential Roles of Dopamine D1 and D2 Receptors in the Nucleus Accumbens in Attentional Performance on the Five-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:273-283.

Pijnenburg AJJ, Honig WMM, Rossum JM (1975) Inhibition of-amphetamineinduced locomotor activity by injection of haloperidol into the nucleus accumbens of the rat. Psychopharmacology 41:87-95.

Pijnenburg AJJ, Honig WMM, Van Der Heyden JAM, Van Rossum JM (1976) Effects of chemical stimulation of the mesolimbic dopamine system upon locomotor activity. European Journal of Pharmacology 35:45-58.

Pizzagalli DA (2010) The anhedonia paradox in schizophrenia: Insights from affective neuroscience. Biol Psychiatry 67:899-901.

Pomarol-Clotet E, Canales-Rodriguez EJ, Salvador R, Sarr S, Gomar JJ, Vila F, Ortiz-Gil J, Iturria-Medina Y, Capdevila A, McKenna PJ (2010) Medial prefrontal cortex pathology in schizophrenia as revealed by convergent findings from multimodal imaging. Molecular Psychiatry 15:823-830.

Powell SB, Zhou XJ, Geyer MA (2009) Prepulse inhibition and genetic mouse models of schizophrenia. Behavioural Brain Research 204:282-294.

Pritchard JK (2001) Are rare variants responsible for susceptibility to complex diseases? American Journal of Human Genetics 69: 124-137.

Pritchard, J. K., & Rosenberg, N. A. (1999). Use of unlinked genetic markers to detect population stratification in association studies. The American Journal of Human Genetics, 65, 220-228.

Pu HX, Scanzano R, Blostein R (2002) Distinct regulatory effects of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase gamma subunit. Journal of Biological Chemistry 277:20270.

Purcell SM, Wray NR, Stone JL, Visscher PM, O'Donovan MC, Sullivan PF, Sklar P, Ruderfer DM, McQuillin A, Morris DW (2009) Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Nature 460:748-752.

Qin S, Zhao X, Pan Y, Liu J, Feng G, Fu J, Bao J, Zhang Z, He L (2005) An association study of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR1 subunit gene (GRIN1) and NR2B subunit gene (GRIN2B) in schizophrenia with universal DNA microarray. Eur J Hum Genet 13:807-814.

Quednow BB, Kuhn KU, Hoenig K, Maier W, Wagner M (2004) Prepulse Inhibition and Habituation of Acoustic Startle Response in Male MDMA (`Ecstasy') Users, Cannabis Users, and Healthy Controls. Neuropsychopharmacology 29:982-990.

Ralph RJ, Paulus MP, Geyer MA (2001) Strain-Specific Effects of Amphetamine on Prepulse Inhibition and Patterns of Locomotor Behavior in Mice. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 298:148-155.

Rantakallio P, Jones P, Moring J, Von Wendt L (1997) Association between central nervous system infections during childhood and adult onset schizophrenia and other psychoses: a 28-year follow-up. International journal of epidemiology 26:837-843.

Redon R, Ishikawa S, Fitch KR, Feuk L, Perry GH, Andrews TD, Fiegler H, Shapero MH, Carson AR, Chen W (2006) Global variation in copy number in the human genome. Nature 444:444-454.

Renkawek K, Renier WO, Pont J, Vogels OJM, Gabreels FJM (1992) Neonatal Status Convulsivus, Spongiform Encephalopathy, and Low Activity of Na^+K^+ ATPase in the Brain. Epilepsia 33:58-64.

Riegel RE, Valvassori SS, Elias G, Reus GZ, Steckert AV, de Souza B, Petronilho F, Gavioli EC, Dal Pizzol F, Quevedo J (2009) Animal model of mania induced by ouabain: Evidence of oxidative stress in submitochondrial particles of the rat brain. Neurochemistry International 55:491-495.

Riley B, Kendler KS (2006) Molecular genetic studies of schizophrenia. European journal of human genetics 14:669-680.

Risch N (1990) Linkage strategies for genetically complex traits. I. Multilocus models. Am J Hum Genet 46:222-228.

Roberts GW, Cloter N, Lofthouse R, Bogerts B (1986) Gliosis in schizophrenia: a survey. Biological Psychiatry 21: 1043-1050

Robinson MJ, Cobb MH (1997) Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Current opinion in cell biology 9:180-186. Rodgers RJ, Boullier E, Chatzimichalaki P, Cooper GD, Shorten A (2002) Contrasting phenotypes of C57BL/6JOlaHsd, 129S2/SvHsd and 129/SvEv mice in two exploration-based tests of anxiety-related behaviour. Physiology & amp; Behavior 77:301-310.

Rogers DC, Fisher EMC, Brown SDM, Peters J, Hunter AJ, Martin JE (1997) Behavioral and functional analysis of mouse phenotype: SHIRPA, a proposed protocol for comprehensive phenotype assessment. Mammalian Genome 8:711-713.

Rose EM, Koo JCP, Antflick JE, Ahmed SM, Angers S, Hampson DR (2009) Glutamate Transporter Coupling to $Na^+K^+ATPase$. Journal of Neuroscience 29:8143-8155.

Ruzicka WB, Zhubi A, Veldic M, Grayson DR, Costa E, Guidotti A (2007) Selective epigenetic alteration of layer I GABAergic neurons isolated from prefrontal cortex of schizophrenia patients using laser-assisted microdissection. Molecular Psychiatry 12:385-397.

Sachs NA, Sawa A, Holmes SE, Ross CA, Delisi LE, Margolis RL (2005) A frameshift mutation in Disrupted in Schizophrenia 1 in an American family with schizophrenia and schizoaffective disorder. Molecular Psychiatry 10: 758-764.

Sakurai K, Toru M, Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Arinami T (2000) Mutation analysis of the N-methyl-d-aspartate receptor NR1 subunit gene (GRIN1) in schizophrenia. Neuroscience Letters 296:168-170.

Sams-Dodd F (1996) Phencyclidine-induced stereotyped behaviour and social isolation in rats: a possible animal model of schizophrenia. Behavioural pharmacology 7:3-23

Sarkar PK (2002) A quick assay for Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase specific activity. Zeitschrift Fur Naturforschung C-a Journal of Biosciences 57:562-564.

Sasaki T, Wada T, Kishimoto H, Irie-Sasaki J, Matsumoto G, Goto T, Yao ZB, Wakeham A, Mak TW, Suzuki A, Cho SK, Zumiga-Pflucker JC, Oliveira-dos-Santos AJ, Katada T, Nishina H, Penninger JM (2001) The stress kinase mitogenactivated protein kinase kinase (MKK)7 is a negative regulator of antigen receptor and growth factor receptor-induced proliferation in hematopoietic cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine 194: 757-768.

Sato T, Tanaka Ki, Ohnishi Y, Teramoto T, Irifune M, Nishikawa T (2004) Effects of steroid hormones on Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase activity inhibition-induced amnesia on the step-through passive avoidance task in gonadectomized mice. Pharmacological Research 49:151-159.

Sebat J, Lakshmi B, Troge J, Alexander J, Young J, Lundin P, Massa H, Walker M, Chi M (2004) Large-scale copy number polymorphism in the human genome. Science 305:525-528.

Seeman P (1987) Dopamine receptors and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. Synapse 1:133-152.

Seeman P, Lee T (1975) Antipsychotic drugs: direct correlation between clinical potency and presynaptic action on dopamine neurons. Science 188:1217.

Seeman P, Niznik HB, Guan HC, Booth G, Ulpian C (1989) Link between D1 and D2 dopamine receptors is reduced in schizophrenia and Huntington diseased brain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 86:10156.

Segall L, Daly SE, Blostein R (2001) Mechanistic basis for kinetic differences between the rat $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, and $\alpha 3$ isoforms of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276:31535.

Sharp T, Zetterstrőm T, Ljungberg T, Ungerstedt U (1987) A direct comparison of amphetamine-induced behaviours and regional brain dopamine release in the rat using intracerebral dialysis. Brain Research 401:322-330.

Shenton ME, Kikinis R, Jolesz FA, Pollak SD, LeMay M, Wible CG, Hokama H, Martin J, Metcalf D, Coleman M (1992) Abnormalities of the left temporal lobe and thought disorder in schizophrenia. New England Journal of Medicine 327:604-612.

Shihabuddin L, Buchsbaum MS, Hazlett EA, Haznedar MM, Harvey PD, Newman A, Schnur DB, Spiegel-Cohen J, Wei T, Machac J (1998) Dorsal striatal size, shape, and metabolic rate in never-medicated and previously medicated schizophrenics performing a verbal learning task. Archives of General Psychiatry 55:235-243.

Shindo Y, Morishita K, Kotake E, Miura H, Carninci P, Kawai J, Hayashizaki Y, Hino A, Kanda T, Kusakabe Y (2011) FXYD6, a Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase regulator, is expressed in type II taste cells. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 75:1061-1066.

Shustin L, Wald H, Popovtzer MM (1998) Role of down-regulated CHIF mRNA in the pathophysiology of hyperkalemia of acute tubular necrosis. American journal of kidney diseases 32:600-604.

Siegel C, Waldo M, Mizner G, Adler LE, Freedman R (1984) Deficits in sensory gating in schizophrenic patients and their relatives: evidence obtained with auditory evoked responses. Archives of General Psychiatry 41:607-612.

Sigmundsson T, Suckling J, Maier M, Williams SCR, Bullmore ET, Greenwood KE, Fukuda R, Ron MA, Toone BK (2001) Structural abnormalities in frontal, temporal, and limbic regions and interconnecting white matter tracts in schizophrenic patients with prominent negative symptoms. American Journal of Psychiatry 158:234-243.

Sigurdsson T, Stark KL, Karayiorgou M, Gogos JA, Gordon JA (2010) Impaired hippocampal-prefrontal synchrony in a genetic mouse model of schizophrenia. Nature 464:763-767.

Simpson E, .Linder C, Sargent E, Davisson M, .Mobraaten L, .Sharp J (1997) Genetic variation among 129 substrains and its importance for targeted mutagenesis in mice 16: 19-27.

Solé X, Guino E, Iniesta R, Moreno V (2006) SNPStats: a web tool for the analysis of association studies. Bioinformatics 22:1928-1929.

Spitzer R, Endicott J (1978) Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia– Lifetime Version. Anxiety Disorders, New York State Pyschiatric Institute, New York.

Stansberg C, Ersland KM, van d, V, Steen VM (2011) Gene expression in the rat brain: high similarity but unique differences between frontomedial-, temporaland occipital cortex. BMC Neurosci 12:15-29.

Stefansson H (2002) Neuregulin 1 and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 71:877-892.

Stefansson H, Ophoff RA, Steinberg S, Andreassen OA, Cichon S, Rujescu D, Werge T, Pietil+ñinen OPH, Mors O, Mortensen PB (2009) Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia. Nature 460:744-747.

Stefansson H, Rujescu D, Cichon S, Pietil+ñinen OPH, Ingason A, Steinberg S, Fossdal R, Sigurdsson E, Sigmundsson T, Buizer-Voskamp JE (2008) Large recurrent microdeletions associated with schizophrenia. Nature 455:232-236.

Stefansson H, Sarginson J, Kong A, Yates P, Steinthorsdottir V, Gudfinnsson E, Gunnarsdottir S, Walker N, Petursson H, Crombie C (2003) Association of neuregulin 1 with schizophrenia confirmed in a Scottish population. The American Journal of Human Genetics 72:83-87.

Steffens M, Feuerstein TJ. (2004) Receptor-independent depression of DA and 5-HT uptake by cannabinoids in rat neocortex--involvement of $Na^+K^+ATPase$. Neurochemistry international, 44 :529-538.

Stevens JR (1982) The neuropathology of schizophrenia. Psychological Medicine 12:695-700.

Straub RE, Jiang Y, MacLean CJ, Ma Y, Webb BT, Myakishev MV, Harris-Kerr C, Wormley B, Sadek H, Kadambi B (2002) Genetic Variation in the 6p22. 3 Gene DTNBP1, the Human Ortholog of the Mouse Dysbindin Gene, Is Associated with Schizophrenia. The American Journal of Human Genetics 71:337-348.

Strauss GP, Gold JM (2012) A new perspective on anhedonia in schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 169:364-373.

Sumiyoshi T, Stockmeier CA, Overholser JC, Dilley GE, Meltzer HY (1996) Serotonin1A receptors are increased in postmortem prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. Brain Research 708:209-214.

Sweadner KJ, Rael E (2000) The FXYD gene family of small ion transport regulators or channels: cDNA sequence, protein signature sequence, and expression. Genomics 68:41-56.

Swerdlow NR, Braff DL, Geyer MA, Lipska BK, Weinberger DR, Jaskiw GE (1995) Increased sensitivity to the sensorimotor gating-disruptive effects of apomorphine after lesions of medial prefrontal cortex or ventral hippocampus in adult rats. Psychopharmacology 122:27-34. Swerdlow NR, Braff DL, Masten VL, Geyer MA (1990) Schizophrenic-like sensorimotor gating abnormalities in rats following dopamine infusion into the nucleus accumbens. Psychopharmacology 101:414-420.

Szeszko PR, Goldberg E, Gunduz-Bruce H, Ashtari M, Robinson D, Malhotra AK, Lencz T, Bates J, Crandall DT, Kane JM (2003) Smaller anterior hippocampal formation volume in antipsychotic-naive patients with first-episode schizophrenia. American Journal of Psychiatry 160:2190-2197.

Tenn CC, Fletcher PJ, Kapur S (2003) Amphetamine-sensitized animals show a sensorimotor gating and neurochemical abnormality similar to that of schizophrenia. pp 103-114.

The International HapMap Consortium (2003) The International HapMap Project. Nature 426: 789-796.

The International SNP Map Working Group (2001) A map of human genome sequence variation containing 1.42 million single nucleotide polymorphisms. Nature 409: 928-933.

Therien AG, Goldshleger R, Karlish SJD, Blostein R (1997) Tissue-specific distribution and modulatory role of the gamma subunit of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 272:32628-32634.

Therien AG, Karlish SJD, Blostein R (1999) Expression and functional role of the gamma subunit of the Na⁺ K⁺ ATPase in mammalian cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274:12252-12256.

Thomann PA, Wüstenberg T, Santos VD, Bachmann S, Essig M, Schröder J (2009) Neurological soft signs and brain morphology in first-episode schizophrenia. Psychological Medicine 39: 371-379.

Thomas Noga J, Bartley AJ, Jones DW, Fuller Torrey E, Weinberger DR (1996) Cortical gyral anatomy and gross brain dimensions in monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 22:27-40.

Thornburg JE, Moore KE (1973) The relative importance of dopaminergic and noradrenergic neuronal systems for the stimulation of locomotor activity induced by amphetamine and other drugs. Neuropharmacology 12:853-866.

Titeler M, Lyon RA, Glennon RA (1988) Radioligand binding evidence implicates the brain 5-HT 2 receptor as a site of action for LSD and phenylisopropylamine hallucinogens. Psychopharmacology 94:213-216.

Tournier C, Dong C, Turner TK, Jones SN, Flavell RA, Davis RJ (2001) MKK7 is an essential component of the JNK signal transduction pathway activated by proinflammatory cytokines. Genes & Development 15:1419-1426.

Traynelis, Stephen F., Lonnie P. Wollmuth, Chris J. McBain, Frank S. Menniti, Katie M. Vance, Kevin K. Ogden, Kasper B. Hansen, Hongjie Yuan, Scott J. Myers, and Ray Dingledine. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. Pharmacological Reviews 62: 405-496. Trichard C, Paillre-Martinot ML, Attar-Levy D, Blin J, Feline A, Martinot JL (1998) No serotonin 5-HT 2A receptor density abnormality in the cortex of schizophrenic patients studied with PET. Schizophr Res 31:13-17.

Urayama O, Shutt H, Sweadner KJ (1989) Identification of three isozyme proteins of the catalytic subunit of the $Na^+K^+ATPase$ in rat brain. Journal of Biological Chemistry 264:8271-8280.

Veldic M, Kadriu B, Maloku E, Agis-Balboa RC, Guidotti A, Davis JM, Costa E (2007) Epigenetic mechanisms expressed in basal ganglia GABAergic neurons differentiate schizophrenia from bipolar disorder. Schizophr Res 91:51-61.

Vita A, De Peri L, Silenzi C, Dieci M (2006) Brain morphology in first-episode schizophrenia: a meta-analysis of quantitative magnetic resonance imaging studies. Schizophr Res 82:75-88.

Volk, D., Eggan, S., & Lewis, D. (2010). Alterations in metabotropic glutamate receptor 1α and regulator of G protein signaling 4 in the prefrontal cortex in schizophrenia. The American journal of psychiatry, 167: 1489-1498.

Wada T, Joza N, Cheng Hy, Sasaki T, Kozieradzki I, Bachmaier K, Katada T, Schreiber M, Wagner EF, Nishina H, Penninger JM (2004) MKK7 couples stress signalling to G2/M cell-cycle progression and cellular senescence. Nat Cell Biol 6:215-226.

Wall JD, Pritchard JK (2003) Haplotype blocks and linkage disequilibrium in the human genome. Nature Reviews Genetics 4: 587-597.

Wan FJ, Geyer MA, Swerdlow NR (1995) Presynaptic dopamine-glutamate interactions in the nucleus accumbens regulate sensorimotor gating. Psychopharmacology 120:433-441.

Weinberg W (1908) Über den Nachweis der Vererbung beim Menschen. Ahresh. Wuertt. Ver. vaterl. Natkd, 64: 369-382.

Weinberger, D. R., & Kleinman, J. E. (1986). Observations on the brain in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Update: American Psychiatric Association Annual Review5: 42-67.

Westerink BHC, Damsma G, Vries JB (1989) Effect of ouabain applied by intrastriatal microdialysis on the in vivo release of dopamine, acetylcholine, and amino acids in the brain of conscious rats. Journal of Neurochemistry 52:705-712.

Wiedholz, L. M., W. Anthony Owens, R. E. Horton, M. Feyder, R. M. Karlsson, K. Hefner, R. Sprengel, T. Celikel, L. C. Daws, and A. Holmes (2007). Mice lacking the AMPA GluR1 receptor exhibit striatal hyperdopaminergia and 'schizophrenia-related' behaviors. Molecular psychiatry 13: 631-640.

Wilkinson, L. S., Killcross, S. S., Humby, T., & Hall, F. S. (1994). Social isolation in the rat produces developmentally specific deficits in prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response without disrupting latent inhibition. Neuropsychopharmacology 10: 61-72.

Wilkinson LS, Mittleman G, Torres E, Humby T, Hall FS, Robbins TW (1993) Enhancement of amphetamine-induced locomotor activity and dopamine release in nucleus accumbens following excitotoxic lesions of the hippocampus. Behavioural Brain Research 55:143-150.

Williamson DJ, Banik-Maiti S, DeGregori J, Ruley HE (2000) hnRNP C is required for postimplantation mouse development but Is dispensable for cell viability. Mol Cell Biol 20:4094-4105.

Winchester CL, Ohzeki H, Vouyiouklis DA, Thompson R, Penninger JM, Yamagami K, Norrie JD, Hunter R, Pratt JA, Morris BJ (2012) Converging evidence that sequence variations in the novel candidate gene MAP2K7 (MKK7) are functionally associated with schizophrenia. Human Molecular Genetics 21: 4910-4921

Wing L, Gould J (1979) Severe impairments of social interaction and associated abnormalities in children: Epidemiology and classification. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders 9:11-29.

Wittke-Thompson JK, Pluzhnikov A, Cox NJ (2005) Rational Inferences about Departures from Hardy-Weinberg Equilibrium 76:967-986.

Woo TU, Whitehead RE, Melchitzky DS, Lewis DA (1998) A subclass of prefrontal gamma aminobutyric acid axon terminals are selectively altered in schizophrenia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 95:5341-5346.

Woolley DW, Shaw E (1954) A biochemical and pharmacological suggestion about certain mental disorders. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 40:228-231.

World Health Organization (1992) The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders.

Wyse ATS, Bavaresco CS, Reis EA, Zugno AI, Tagliari B+, Calcagnotto T, Netto CA (2004) Training in inhibitory avoidance causes a reduction of $Na^+K^+ATPase$ activity in rat hippocampus. Physiology Behavior 80:475-479.

Yamaguchi F, Yamaguchi K, Tai Y, Sugimoto K, Tokuda M (2001) Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel phospholemman-like protein from rat hippocampus. Molecular Brain Research 86:189-192.

Yawata S, Yamaguchi T, Danjo T, Hikida T, Nakanishi S (2012) Pathway-specific control of reward learning and its flexibility via selective dopamine receptors in the nucleus accumbens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109:12764-12769.

Yoon T, Okada J, Jung MW, Kim JJ (2008) Prefrontal cortex and hippocampus subserve different components of working memory in rats. Learning & Memory 15:97-105.

Zahrt J, Taylor JR, Mathew RG, Arnsten AFT (1997) Supranormal Stimulation of D1 Dopamine Receptors in the Rodent Prefrontal Cortex Impairs Spatial Working Memory Performance. The Journal of Neuroscience 17:8528-8535.

Zhan H, Tada T, Nakazato F, Tanaka Y, Hongo K (2004) Spatial learning transiently disturbed by intraventricular administration of ouabain. Neurological Research 26:35-40.

Zhang J, Forkstam C, .Engel J, .Svensson L (2000) Role of dopamine in prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle 149: 181-188.

Zhang J, Che RL, Li XW, Tang W, Zhao Q, Tang RQ, Wang Y, Zhang Z, Ji J, Yang FP, Shi YY, Ji WD, Zhou GQ, Feng GY, He L, He G (2010) No association between the FXYD6 gene and schizophrenia in the Chinese Han population. Journal of Psychiatric Research 44:409-412.

Zhang ZJ, Reynolds GP (2002) A selective decrease in the relative density of parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons in the hippocampus in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 55:1-10.

Zhong N, Zhang R, Qiu C, Yan H, Valenzuela RK, Zhang H, Kang W, Lu S, Guo T, Ma J (2011) A novel replicated association between FXYD6 gene and schizophrenia. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 405:118-121.

Zoubovsky SP, Pogorelov VM, Taniguchi Y, Kim SH, Yoon P, Nwulia E, Sawa A, Pletnikov MV, Kamiya A (2011) Working memory deficits in neuronal nitric oxide synthase knockout mice: Potential impairments in prefrontal cortex mediated cognitive function. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 408:707-712.